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Oshkosh is an innovation company. This has been true throughout 
our 100+ year history and is especially evident today as we 
celebrate significant new programs that expand our business 
into new and adjacent markets. The USPS selected Oshkosh for 
the multi-billion-dollar NGDV program in February 2021. The NGDV 
is a purpose-built right-hand-drive vehicle designed specifically 
for mail and package delivery. These vehicles will replace the 
existing fleet of delivery vehicles, many of which have been in 
service for more than 30 years. The Oshkosh NGDV will provide a 
modern fleet of both zero emission battery electric vehicles 
(EV) and fuel-efficient low-emission internal combustion engine 
(ICE) vehicles, with the option of producing any combination of 
models. Both options are cleaner, safer, more efficient and have 
a lower total cost of ownership. The NGDV is a revolutionary upgrade 
from the legacy mail trucks it replaces and we’re honored to supply 
the USPS with a purpose-built vehicle that carriers can depend 
on to do their jobs sustainably, safely and efficiently.

Through our innovation and technology, we are committed to 
improving the lives of end users across our portfolio and to 
serving everyday heroes performing critical work in communities 

Innovation 
with intent

President & CEO John Pfeifer (second from left) with NGDV prototype and engineers: Aaron Trickey, Kai Schubart and Rachel Kolb
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across the globe. Oshkosh’s nearly 15,000 team members are 
motivated by the critical work of troops, firefighters, people working 
at heights, environmental services, mail carriers and many others. 

When the unprecedented challenges brought about by the pandemic 
in 2020 evolved into new challenges in 2021 that disrupted supply 
chains in nearly every industry, we put our resilience and innovation 
to work. We broadened our supply chain, shifted production to 
facilities with greater workforce availability and even incorporated 
design changes to continue serving our customers.

We are energized by our Innovate. Serve. Advance. strategy that 
creates a roadmap to achieving accretive growth. Foundational to 
our strategy is a People First culture and an unwavering commitment 
to team members, customers and communities. We are proud to do 
business the right way and are honored to receive industry awards 
recognizing our efforts and accomplishments that are making a 
difference. We are also focused on reducing our impact on climate 
change by reducing our energy consumption and greenhouse gas 
emissions as we maximize the efficiency of our operations.

We are making investments in the development of energy-efficient 
technology across all our product categories. You can read more 
about our environmental, social and governance highlights in our 
Sustainability Report (not incorporated here by reference).

We concluded fiscal 2021 with optimism as we delivered double-
digit growth in revenue, operating income and EPS while securing 
record backlogs—despite challenges in 2021 that disrupted supply 
chains in nearly every industry. We completed the acquisition of 
Pratt Miller and made strategic investments in companies such as 
Microvast (a lithium-ion battery innovator) and Carnegie Foundry 
to enhance our electrification and autonomy capabilities. We will 
continue to make investments in our team members and technology 
to strategically position the company for long-term growth.

With favorable end markets, a healthy balance sheet, our vibrant 
People First culture and strong customer relationships, we will 
continue to innovate with intent and enhance shareholder value.

Oshkosh enters last 
mile delivery market 
with electric vehicle

Oshkosh was chosen to provide the USPS 
Next Generation Delivery Vehicle (NGDV). 
We will transform North America’s largest 
fleet of last mile delivery vehicles over 
the next 10 years.
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Leveraging our integrated strengths

Market leader Operational  synergies Innovation & 
technology

Strong financial 
performance

Diverse end markets

$

Our market leadership is bolstered by our ability to leverage expertise and capabilities across diverse end markets. 

With innovation in our DNA, the technologies we develop for one market can be adapted for other markets. We 

leverage operational and supply chain learnings across our businesses to be more efficient. We actively engage 

with customers to bring innovative solutions to solve their most difficult challenges. Collectively, we believe 

these advantages help position us to deliver strong performance and greater success for the long-term.

JLG DaVinci® All-Electric Scissor Lift
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A portfolio of leading brands

Mobile elevating work 
platforms, telehandlers & 
low-level access solutions 

Custom fire apparatusPurpose-built vehicles,
technology solutions
and mobility systems 

Towing & recovery 
vehicles

Aircraft rescue &
firefighting vehicles

Integrated communication 
& broadcast vehicles 

Concrete mixers Field service vehicles & 
truck-mounted cranes

Oshkosh Materials Lab

Pierce Volterra™ Electric Custom Pumper

Engineering and product 
development

Refuse collection 
vehicles & concrete mixers
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OUR STRATEGY

Innovate. Serve. Advance.

Innovate.

We innovate customer solutions by 
combining leading technology and 
operational strength to empower 
and protect the everyday hero.

Serve.

We serve and support those who rely 
on us with a relentless focus 

throughout the product lifecycle.

Advance.

We advance by expanding into new 
markets and geographies to make 
a difference around the world.

We make a difference in the lives of those who build, serve and protect 
communities around the world by enabling a People First culture.
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Our strategy in action

Our innovation is fueled by our purpose: making a difference in people’s lives. 
This empowers us, each and every day, to make a positive impact on those 
everyday heroes who rely on Oshkosh products and technology to do their 
critical work. Because of this commitment, innovation is woven into the very 
fabric of our organization, from our people, to our operations, to our strategy.

We are focused on innovation that advances the markets we serve. With our 
customers and communities in mind, we are developing advanced technology 
in the areas of electrification, autonomy, active safety, intelligent products, 
advanced analytics and digital manufacturing.

Oshkosh Product Training Specialist working with U.S. Army soldiers
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Electrification
Designing electric vehicles that reduce emissions, lower 
total cost of ownership and increase performance

Our deep experience 
developing Electric Vehicles

Oshkosh has a long history of developing and manufacturing 
electric vehicles (EV) and equipment, starting with the 
engineering and delivery of our first electric boom lift in 1994. 
Since then, we have designed and developed innovative electric 
drive systems and vehicles for defense, construction, fire 
& emergency, refuse collection, concrete mixers and other 
applications across diverse end markets. We have a talented 
and experienced electrification team, positioning us to compete 
effectively for new EV opportunities. Our recent award of the 
USPS Next Generation Delivery Vehicle enters Oshkosh into the 
attractive and growing last mile delivery EV market.

USPS Next Generation 
Delivery Vehicle

The USPS selected Oshkosh Defense for the multi-billion-dollar 
NGDV program in February 2021. Oshkosh’s winning solution 
will provide a modern fleet of both zero emission EV and 
fuel-efficient low-emission internal combustion engine (ICE) 
vehicles. The purpose-built Oshkosh NGDV provides maximum 
productivity and maximum safety for mail carriers with features 
like a walk-in cargo area, large windshield, 360-degree camera, 
collision sensors and telematics to provide real-time insight on 
vehicle operation. Our solution allows for conversion from an ICE 
to EV configuration, a critical innovation as the infrastructure 
to support a fully electric fleet becomes more prevalent.

Oshkosh Defense USPS Next Generation Delivery Vehicle (NGDV)
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Pierce and Oshkosh Airport Products 
Volterra™ Platform of EVs

The Pierce Volterra zero emission custom pumper and Striker 
Volterra ARFF vehicles feature patented Oshkosh electric 
technologies. The Volterra platform is designed to operate 
fully using electric power only with the ability to use a backup 
internal combustion engine for additional power for sustained 
or long-term pumping operations. Our electric vehicles provide 
the environmental benefits fire departments request, without 
compromising on the operational performance, functionality, 
safety attributes, customization, or the traditional configurations 
and styling customers expect from a fire apparatus.

McNeilus electric refuse 
collection vehicle

McNeilus is leading the way in the environmental industry with 
its patented electric power takeoff (e-PTO) hydraulic refuse 
collection body. McNeilus’s patented e-PTO body reduces 
energy consumption, enabling the completion of a full day’s 
(10 hour) route on a single charge. This zero emission vehicle 
is on the ground and working in Boise, Idaho, for our customer, 
Republic Services.

Oshkosh S-Series electric front 
discharge concrete mixer

Our fully electric front discharge concrete mixer prototype 
vehicle is powered by a commercial duty lithium-ion battery 
with a 10-year minimum lifespan. The vehicle provides energy 
savings, dramatically reduces greenhouse gas emissions and 
vehicle noise, and lowers total cost of ownership. It performs 
similarly to a conventional chassis, enabling fleetwide operational 
savings and environmentally friendly performance.

JLG DaVinci® all-electric scissor lift

The revolutionary all-electric DaVinci AE1932 scissor lift is 
powered by a single lithium-ion battery and produces zero 
emissions. Its zero hydraulics design is environmentally friendly, 
reduces required maintenance and lowers total cost of ownership. 
This 19-ft scissor lift is purpose-built for applications where 
stringent environmental regulations must be met. Every 
component on the DaVinci scissor lift is fully optimized to 
reduce energy consumption by up to 70% as compared to a 
traditional scissor lift. 

McNeilus Electric Refuse Collection Vehicle JLG DaVinci® All-Electric Scissor Lift

Pierce and Oshkosh Airport Products 
Volterra™ Platform of Electric Vehicles Oshkosh S-Series Electric Front Discharge Concrete Mixer

2021 ANNUAL REPORT 77



Autonomy and 
Active Safety
Developing integrated systems 
to help keep operators safe, 
increase productivity and 
optimize total cost 
of ownership

Autonomous vehicle 
technology

We are leaders in autonomy, providing safer and more efficient 
vehicles to those who perform some of the most important jobs 
in the world. We have been developing autonomous technologies 
for more than 20 years, using groundbreaking and innovative 
ways to develop and test our systems. In fact, we were an 
original participant in the 2004, 2005 and 2007 DARPA Grand 
Challenges where we successfully demonstrated the capabilities 
of our autonomous systems. Our spirit of perseverance and 
passion for innovation drive our continued development of 
autonomous systems using technologies such as LIDAR, RADAR 
and GPS along with advanced machine learning algorithms.   

Developing active safety systems for the markets we serve
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Partnership with industry 
and the U.S. Military

We are working with Robotic Research and DCS Corporation 
on autonomous technology for the Army’s Expedient Leader-
Follower program (ExLF). This technology can help protect 
soldiers in at-risk vehicles in contested environments. Our team 
also worked with the Marine Corps Warfighting Lab (MCWL) to 
develop the Expeditionary Modular Autonomous Vehicle (EMAV) 
and is leveraging that platform for the current phase of the U.S. 
Army’s Robotic Combat Vehicle-Light (RCV-L) program.    

Integrated  
safety systems

The safety of everyday heroes who use our vehicles and
equipment for difficult and dangerous jobs is our priority. 
We are developing integrated safety systems that help 
operators improve their environmental and situational 
awareness with “see and be seen” technology, radar, vision 
and sensing systems, as well as 360-degree cameras and 
collision monitoring systems. We leverage systems that 
provide realtime vehicle-to-vehicle alerts for consumer 
platforms to make nearby drivers aware of emergency 
vehicles in their vicinity.

 Expedient Leader—Follower (ExLF) autonomy program

LIDAR technology used to identify and classify objects for autonomous operation
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Intelligent 
Products
Using data science and 
telematics to monitor vehicle 
health, improve utilization, 
lower costs and simplify 
fleet management

Our advanced 
telematics systems

We are collaborating with customers and partners to create
systems that collect raw data from connected products 
around the world. Using data science and machine learning 
algorithms, our team of data scientists is helping to turn raw 
data into actionable insights that owners and operators can 
use to monitor and maintain vehicle health, improve utilization 
and efficiency as well as optimize total cost of ownership.  

ClearSky® Telematics
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Helping Sunbelt Rentals 
better manage their fleet

Our JLG team partnered with Sunbelt Rentals to tailor a ClearSky® 
telematics solution that provides insight for better fleet 
management. Data from Sunbelt Rentals’ equipment is 
collected and analyzed with our ClearSky telematics solution. 
This data helped increase utilization and uptime, enhanced 
fleet location tracking, improved equipment productivity and 
allowed Sunbelt Rentals to proactively manage the health of 
their fleet. With the growth of electric equipment, along with 
feedback from Sunbelt Rentals and other customers, our 
JLG team enhanced the Mobile Control Application with the 
Advanced Battery Monitoring System feature. This solution 
provides the opportunity to improve battery life by up to 40% 
and avoid up to 70% of charger replacements.

Condition Based Maintenance 
ensures vehicles are mission ready 

Oshkosh is partnering with the U.S. Military to develop an
innovative approach to vehicle service using both predictive 
and prognostic capabilities known as Condition Based 
Maintenance (CBM). Combining telematics, machine learning 
and advanced analytics, we can proactively foresee potential 
critical failures, mitigate major system overhauls and defer 
maintenance. This can lower lifecycle costs, increase vehicle 
availability and help give soldiers confidence that their vehicle 
is ready for the mission.

Condition Based Maintenance Dashboard 
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Advanced 
Analytics
Leveraging data to predict 
outcomes and improve 
business decisions

Using Advanced Analytics 
to reduce complexity

Many of our products are highly sophisticated and customized to 
meet the demands of our customers’ difficult jobs. Customers 
love our design flexibility, but also want to understand the 
cost and timeline impacts of a decision. We’re leveraging 
advanced analytics to predict labor hours and material costs 
based on unique product configurations. This allows us to 
optimize product configurations, ensuring customers get the 
capabilities they need with shorter lead times, while allowing 
us to reduce manufacturing complexity and optimize 
profitability accordingly.

Oshkosh’s team of credentialed data scientists use industry leading tools to develop solutions
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Digital 
Manufacturing
Connecting people, processes 
and equipment with real-time 
data to enhance productivity

Leveraging technology to develop 
the workforce of the future

Advancements in technology have brought incredible and 
valuable tools to manufacturing. Our Digital Manufacturing 
team focuses on applying these advancements to our 
operations, allowing us to reach new highs in agility and 
efficiency. One way we leverage augmented reality (AR) 
technology at Oshkosh is with team member training. Like 
many companies, we see an incoming workforce with new 
expectations for learning and engagement opportunities. 
AR technology allows the knowledge and best practices 
from our most experienced team members to be provided 
on demand in an engaging way. This facilitates the use of 
technology for team members to learn and develop skills, 
and also results in a safer work environment.

Augmented reality technology enhances manufacturing work instructions
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Access Equipment

OVERVIEW

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation 

Twelve months ended September 30

in Millions FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

Access Equipment segment 
operating income (GAAP) $502.6 $198.6 $249.1

Restructuring-related costs –  15.1  11.5

Adjusted Access Equipment segment 
operating income (non-GAAP) $502.6 $213.7 $260.6

$2,515

$4,080

Adjusted Operating 
Income Margin

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

FINANCIALS
Revenue in Millions

$3,072

8.5%
12.3%

8.5%

JLG Agricultural Telehandler Jerr-Dan Rotator

JLG Self-Leveling Boom Lift

We are an innovation leader, designing, manufacturing and delivering access and material handling equipment for customers across 
the globe. Our investments in transformational and sustainable technologies, combined with a focus on lifecycle support, provide 
our customers with equipment that elevates safety, productivity, training and service. We drive success through customer inspired
innovation and expansion into new product categories and channels (e.g., low-level access, agriculture), the growth and replacement 
of aged rental fleets, and through opportunities in emerging markets. Our DaVinci® all-electric scissor lift is revolutionizing the industry 
with a battery that lasts the life of the machine and eliminates hydraulic fluids, making it ideal for next generation work environments.
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Defense

OVERVIEW

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation 

Twelve months ended September 30

in Millions FY2019* FY2020* FY2021

Defense segment 
operating income (GAAP) $207.8 $188.1 $197.8

Arbitration settlement –  (0.9)  –

Acquisition costs – – 1.0

Adjusted Defense segment 
operating income (non-GAAP) $207.8 $187.2 $198.8

FINANCIALS*
Revenue in Millions

$2,312$2,098

Adjusted Operating 
Income Margin

*Results have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal 
vehicle business from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

$2,526

7.9%8.1%9.9%

Pratt Miller Robotic Combat Vehicle Light (RCV-L)Oshkosh Defense JLTV with Weapons System

Oshkosh Defense Medium Caliber Weapons System (MCWS)

We are a global leader in the design, production and sustainment of best-in-class, purpose-built vehicles and mobility systems 
for our military and government customers. As a pioneer of combat-ready solutions, we develop and apply emerging technologies
that advance troop safety and mission success. Setting the industry standard for sustaining fleet readiness, we work to ensure 
every vehicle is supported worldwide throughout its entire lifecycle. We are leveraging our innovation, strategic acquisitions and
partnerships, to capture adjacent market opportunities and drive future growth. Our entry into the last mile delivery market with
both battery electric and fuel efficient, low-emission internal combustion engine vehicles provides an example of how we are
evolving our capabilities to meet the demands of our customers.
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GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation 

Twelve months ended September 30

in Millions FY2019* FY2020* FY2021

Fire & Emergency segment 
operating income (GAAP) $172.0 $146.5 $174.2

Restructuring-related costs  – 1.4  –

Adjusted Fire & Emergency segment 
operating income (non-GAAP) $172.0 $147.9 $174.2

Fire & Emergency

Adjusted Operating 
Income Margin

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

FINANCIALS*
Revenue in Millions

$1,107 $1,227$1,211

14.2%14.2% 13.4%

*Results have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal 
vehicle business from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

Firefighter readying Pierce Custom Pumper Oshkosh Striker Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting Vehicle (ARFF)

Pierce Volterra™ Electric Custom Pumper

OVERVIEW
We lead the North American fire truck industry and believe strong municipal markets support long-term growth. We tailor each custom 
Pierce and Oshkosh Airport Products vehicle to meet stringent customer requirements and provide exactly the right solution as part 
of our simplification efforts. We are contributing to a greener future with our innovative new Volterra platform of electric fire trucks. 
In 2021, we introduced North America’s first frontline duty electric fire truck in Madison, Wisconsin, and expect to be ramping up 
EV shipments to other cities in the future. We are expanding manufacturing capacity in Wisconsin and will continue to invest in our 
people and in new technologies to foster success and drive growth.
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GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation 

Twelve months ended September 30

in Millions FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

Commercial segment 
operating income (GAAP) $66.8 $81.2 $71.0

Restructuring-related costs –  5.6 –

Insurance recovery –  (12.3) –

Gain on sale of a business – (3.1) –

Adjusted Commercial segment 
operating income (non-GAAP) $66.8 $71.4 $71.0

Adjusted Operating 
Income Margin

Commercial

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

FINANCIALS
Revenue in Millions

$958 $938$1,022

7.6%6.5% 7.5%

McNeilus Rear Discharge Concrete MixerMcNeilus Rear Loading Refuse Collection Vehicle

McNeilus Side Loading Refuse Collection Vehicle

OVERVIEW
We are North America’s leader in Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCV) and concrete mixer trucks. We set the standard for reliability, 
durability, service and customer-focused innovation. We’re committed to pioneering innovations like our recently debuted fully 
electric front discharge concrete mixer prototype and our patented electric power take-off system for RCVs to advance the 
industry and enhance customer value. Our simplification methodology continues to drive operational excellence with a new 
assembly line in Minnesota incorporating next generation Industry 4.0 technologies including autonomous robotics, connected 
tooling and cloud systems among other enhancements. This technology positions us to capitalize on strong market dynamics as 
elevated fleet ages and infrastructure investments point to solid ongoing demand.
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FY2019 FY2019FY2020 FY2020FY2021 FY2021

FREE CASH FLOW*
in Millions

$238

$1,124

$409

$548.2

$746.4

$425.6

*Non-GAAP results. See below for reconciliation to GAAP results

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

ADJUSTED EARNINGS 
PER SHARE* 

$4.94 $5.75

$8.31

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

NET SALES
in Millions

$6,857
$7,737$8,382

FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

ADJUSTED OPERATING INCOME*
in Millions

$496 $557

$797

Oshkosh Corporation financial highlights

3-YEAR CUMULATIVE CASH 
RETURNED TO SHAREHOLDERS
in Millions

Twelve months ended September 30

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation (in Millions) FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

Net cash flows provided by operating activities  $568.3  $327.3  $1,221.6 
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net  (144.5)  (109.9)  (103.2)
Proceeds from (Additions to) sale of equipment held for rental, net   (14.6)  20.9  5.9 
Free cash flow  $409.2  $238.3  $1,124.3 

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation (in Millions) FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

Consolidated operating income (GAAP)  $797.0  $488.7  $544.7 
Restructuring-related costs  -    23.2  11.5 
Arbitration settlement  -    (0.9)  -
Insurance recoveries  -    (12.3) -
Gain on sale of a business -  (3.1) -
Acquisition costs  -   - 1.0
Adjusted consolidated operating income (non-GAAP)  $797.0  $495.6  $557.2 

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliation FY2019 FY2020 FY2021

Earnings per share-diluted (GAAP)  $8.21  $4.72  $6.83 
Restructuring-related costs, net of tax  -    0.26  0.17 
Arbitration settlement, net of tax  -    (0.05)   -
Insurance recoveries, net of tax  -    (0.21)   -
Gain on sale of a business, net of tax  -    (0.04)   -
Debt extinguishment costs, net of tax  -    0.10  - 
Acquisition costs, net of tax  -  - 0.01
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets  -    0.16  (0.17)
Repatriation tax 0.10 - -
Benefit from tax loss carryback to prior years -  -    (1.09   )
Adjusted earnings per share-diluted (non-GAAP)  $8.31  $4.94  $5.75

FY2021 SALES BY SEGMENT

12%
COMMERCIAL

16%
FIRE & EMERGENCY

32%
DEFENSE

40%
ACCESS EQUIPMENT

Repurchases Dividends
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As used herein, the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refers to Oshkosh Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. 
“Oshkosh” refers to Oshkosh Corporation, not including JLG Industries, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (JLG), 
Oshkosh Defense, LLC (Oshkosh Defense) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Pratt & Miller Engineering & Fabrications, LLC 
(Pratt Miller), Pierce Manufacturing Inc. (Pierce), McNeilus Companies, Inc. (McNeilus) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Oshkosh Airport Products, LLC (Airport Products), Kewaunee Fabrications, LLC (Kewaunee), Oshkosh Commercial Products, 
LLC (Oshkosh Commercial), London Machinery Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary (London) and Iowa Mold Tooling Co., 
Inc. (IMT) or any other subsidiaries.

The “Oshkosh®,” “JLG®,” “Oshkosh Defense®,” “Pierce®,” “McNeilus®,” “Jerr-Dan®,” “Frontline™,” “London®,” “IMT®,” 
“Pratt Miller®,” “Command Zone™,” “TAK-4®,” “PUC™,” “Hercules™,” “Husky™,” “Ascendant™,” “SkyTrak®” and “ProPulse®,” 
“DaVinci™,” and “Volterra™” trademarks and related logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of the Company. All 
other product and service names referenced in this document are the trademarks or registered trademarks of their 
respective owners.

All references herein to earnings per share refer to earnings per share assuming dilution, unless noted otherwise.

For ease of understanding, the Company refers to types of specialty vehicles for particular applications as “markets.” 
When the Company refers to “market” positions, these comments are based on information available to the Company 
concerning units sold by those companies currently manufacturing the same types of specialty vehicles and vehicle bodies 
as the Company and are therefore only estimates. Unless otherwise noted, these market positions are based on sales in the 
United States of America. There can be no assurance that the Company will maintain such market positions in the future.



CCaauuttiioonnaarryy  SSttaatteemmeenntt  AAbboouutt  FFoorrwwaarrdd--LLooookkiinngg  SSttaatteemmeennttss

The Company believes that certain statements in “Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” and other statements located elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements 
other than statements of historical fact included in this report, including, without limitation, statements regarding the 
Company’s future financial position, business strategy, targets, projected sales, costs, earnings, capital expenditures, debt 
levels and cash flows, and plans and objectives of management for future operations, including those under the caption 
“Overview” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” are forward-
looking statements. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” 
“estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “should,” “project” or “plan” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or similar 
terminology are generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors, some of which are 
beyond the Company’s control, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by 
such forward-looking statements. These factors include the extent of supply chain and logistics disruptions, particularly as 
demand rebounds from the COVID-19 pandemic; the Company’s ability to increase prices or impose surcharges to raise 
margins or to offset higher input costs, including increased raw material, labor and freight costs; the cyclical nature of the 
Company’s access equipment, commercial and fire & emergency markets, which are particularly impacted by the strength 
of U.S. and European economies and construction seasons; the Company’s estimates of access equipment demand which, 
among other factors, is influenced by historical customer buying patterns and rental company fleet replacement strategies; 
the Company’s ability to attract production labor in a timely manner; the strength of the U.S. dollar and its impact on 
Company exports, translation of foreign sales and the cost of purchased materials; the Company’s ability to predict the 
level and timing of orders for indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contracts with the U.S. federal government; risks 
related to reductions in government expenditures in light of U.S. defense budget pressures and an uncertain U.S. 
Department of Defense (DoD) tactical wheeled vehicle strategy; the impact of any DoD solicitation for competition for 
future contracts to produce military vehicles; the impacts of budget constraints facing the U.S. Postal Service (USPS) and 
continuously changing demands for postal services; the impact of severe weather, natural disasters or pandemics that may 
affect the Company, its suppliers or its customers; risks related to the collectability of receivables, particularly for those 
businesses with exposure to construction markets; the cost of any warranty campaigns related to the Company’s products; 
risks associated with international operations and sales, including compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; risks 
that a trade war and related tariffs could reduce the competitiveness of the Company’s products; the Company’s ability to 
comply with complex laws and regulations applicable to U.S. government contractors; cybersecurity risks and costs of 
defending against, mitigating and responding to data security threats and breaches impacting the Company; the Company’s 
ability to successfully identify, complete and integrate acquisitions and to realize the anticipated benefits associated with 
the same; and risks related to the Company’s ability to successfully execute on its strategic road map and meet its long-
term financial goals. Additional information concerning these and other factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those in the forward-looking statements is contained in Item 1A of Part I of this report.

All forward-looking statements, including those under the caption “Overview” in “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” speak only as of November 16, 2021. The Company assumes no 
obligation, and disclaims any obligation, to update information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Investors 
should be aware that the Company may not update such information until the Company’s next quarterly earnings 
conference call, if at all.
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PPAARRTT II

IITTEEMM  11..        BBUUSSIINNEESSSS

TThhee  CCoommppaannyy

Oshkosh Corporation is a leading innovator, manufacturer and marketer of access equipment, specialty vehicles, and 
truck bodies for the primary markets of access equipment, defense, fire & emergency, refuse hauling and concrete 
placement. Each of our products and technologies is designed with customers and end-users in mind, from the four-wheel 
drive system that the Company patented in 1917 to advances in electrification, autonomy & active safety and intelligent 
products.

The Company comprises 11 brands and maintains four reportable segments for financial reporting purposes: Access 
Equipment, Defense, Fire & Emergency and Commercial, which comprised 40%, 32%, 16% and 12%, respectively, of the 
Company’s consolidated net sales in fiscal 2021. Oshkosh’s leading brands include a wide range of products to serve a 
diverse group of industries. This allows the Company to leverage innovations and efficiencies across the enterprise, 
including supply chain, materials integration, manufacturing processes, facilities and cross portfolio innovation creating an 
industrial technology company that is a leader in its end markets. The Company made approximately 33%, 35% and 24% of 
its net sales for fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, to the U.S. government, a substantial majority of which were 
under multi-year contracts and programs in the defense vehicle market. See Note 24 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for financial information related to the Company’s business segments.

JLG, a global designer and manufacturer of aerial work platforms and telehandlers used in a wide variety of 
construction, industrial, institutional and general maintenance applications to safely position workers and materials at 
elevated heights, forms the foundation of the Company’s Access Equipment segment. JLG’s customer base includes 
equipment rental companies, construction contractors, manufacturing companies and home improvement centers. The 
Access Equipment segment also includes Jerr-Dan-branded tow trucks (wreckers) and roll-back vehicle carriers (carriers) 
sold to towing companies.

The Company’s Defense segment has designed, manufactured and sold military tactical wheeled vehicles to the DoD 
for more than 100 years. In 1981, Oshkosh Defense was awarded the first Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Truck (HEMTT) 
contract for the DoD, and thereafter, it developed into the DoD’s leading supplier of severe-duty, heavy-payload tactical 
trucks, manufacturing vehicles that perform a variety of demanding tasks such as hauling tanks, missile systems, 
ammunition, fuel, troops and cargo for combat units. In August 2009, Oshkosh Defense became the DoD’s sole producer of 
the Family of Medium Tactical Vehicles (FMTV). In February 2018, after successful completion of the original five-year 
requirements contract and several contract extensions, the DoD awarded Oshkosh Defense the FMTV A2 contract for the 
design, development, production and support of the next generation of FMTV. The Company is currently in the production 
verification testing phase of the FMTV A2 contract. In 2015, Oshkosh Defense extended its position into the light-payload 
tactical wheeled vehicle category by capturing the DoD’s Joint Light Tactical Vehicle (JLTV) program. The Company is 
currently in the full rate production phase of this eight-year contract. In February 2021, the USPS awarded Oshkosh 
Defense an indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (IDIQ) contract to produce the Next Generation Delivery Vehicle (NGDV), 
the USPS’s first large-scale fleet procurement in three decades. The competitively awarded contract allows for the delivery 
of vehicles over a 10 year period. In June 2021, the U.S. Army awarded Oshkosh Defense a six-year contract to integrate a 
Medium Caliber Weapons System onto Stryker Double V Hull Infantry Carrier Vehicles. In addition, the Defense segment 
offers engineering and product development services to customers in the motorsports and multiple ground vehicle markets 
through Pratt Miller. The Defense segment also designs and manufactures airport snow removal equipment.
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The Company’s Fire & Emergency segment designs and manufactures custom and commercial firefighting vehicles and 
equipment, aircraft rescue and firefighting (ARFF) vehicles, simulators and other emergency vehicles primarily sold to fire 
departments, airports and other governmental units and broadcast vehicles sold to broadcasters and television stations.

The Company’s Commercial segment designs and manufactures refuse collection vehicles and related components sold 
to commercial and municipal waste haulers, rear- and front-discharge concrete mixer vehicles and related components sold 
to ready-mix companies and field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes sold to mining, construction and other 
companies.

In October 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from 
September 30 to December 31. Accordingly, the Company will report a transition quarter that runs from October 1, 2021 
through December 31, 2021 (Stub Period). The Company’s next full fiscal year will run from January 1, 2022 through 
December 31, 2022. All references in Part I of this report to a quarter or year are to the Company’s historical fiscal quarter 
or fiscal year unless otherwise stated. 

CCoommppeettiittiivvee  SSttrreennggtthhss

The following competitive strengths support the Company’s business strategy:

Strong Market Positions. The Company has developed strong market positions and brand recognition in its core 
businesses, which it attributes to its reputation for quality products, advanced engineering, market leading innovation, 
vehicle performance, reliability, customer service and low total cost of ownership. The Company maintains leading market 
shares in almost all of its businesses and is the sole-source supplier of a number of vehicles to the DoD.

Diversified Product Offerings. The Company believes its broad product offerings and target markets serve to diversify its 
sources of revenues, mitigate the impact of economic cycles and provide multiple platforms for potential organic growth 
and acquisitions. The Company’s product offerings provide extensive opportunities to bundle products for sale to 
customers, co-location of manufacturing, leveraging purchasing power and sharing technology within and between 
segments. For each of its target markets, the Company has developed or acquired a broad product line in an effort to 
become a single-source provider of specialty vehicles, vehicle bodies, parts and service and related products to its 
customers. In addition, the Company has established an extensive domestic and international distribution network for 
specialty vehicles and vehicle bodies tailored to each market.

Quality Products and Customer Service. The Company has developed strong brand recognition for its products as a 
result of its commitment to meet the stringent product quality and reliability requirements of its customers in the specialty 
vehicle and vehicle body markets it serves. The Company frequently achieves premium pricing due to the quality, durability 
and low total cost of ownership of its products. The Company also provides high quality customer service through its 
extensive parts and service support programs, which are generally available to customers 365 days a year in all product 
lines throughout the Company’s distribution network.

Innovative and Proprietary Components. The Company’s advanced design and engineering capabilities have contributed 
to the development of innovative and/or proprietary, severe-duty components that enhance vehicle performance, reduce 
manufacturing costs and strengthen customer relationships. The Company’s advanced design and engineering capabilities 
have also allowed it to integrate many of these components across various segments and product lines, which enhances its 
ability to compete for new business and reduces its costs to manufacture its products compared to manufacturers who 
simply assemble purchased components. The Company has been a supplier of electric-powered products for more than 20 
years and recently launched several new products that leverage zero emissions electrification for mobility across all 
segments.
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Flexible and Efficient Manufacturing. The Company believes it has competitive advantages over larger vehicle 
manufacturers in its specialty vehicle markets due to its product quality, manufacturing flexibility, vertical integration, 
purchasing power in specialty vehicle components and tailored distribution networks. In addition, the Company believes it 
has competitive advantages over smaller vehicle and vehicle body manufacturers due to its relatively higher volumes of 
similar products that permit the use of moving assembly lines and allow it to leverage purchasing power and technology 
opportunities across product lines.

Strong Management Team. The Company is led by President and Chief Executive Officer John C. Pfeifer. Mr. Pfeifer is 
complemented by an experienced senior management team that has been assembled through internal promotions and 
external hires. The Company’s Board of Directors maintains a robust succession planning process for its Executive Officers 
to ensure strong continuity.

BBuussiinneessss  SSttrraatteeggyy

The Company has evolved its strategy to focus on its most important priorities. The strategy is grounded in its purpose 
of making a difference in the lives of those who build, serve, and protect communities around the world. The strategy is 
reflected in three simple words: Innovate. Serve. Advance.

IInnovate. The Company innovates customer solutions by combining leading technology and operational strength to 
empower and protect the everyday hero. The Company is developing and integrating the most advanced technologies to 
fulfill its purpose in areas such as electrification and autonomy. Electrification provides enhanced performance and 
economic benefits, as well as sustainability benefits for customers. Using systems like Light Detection and Ranging, Radio 
Detection and Ranging and Global Positioning Systems along with advanced machine learning algorithms, the Company is 
developing autonomous vehicles and active safety systems. The Company is using data science, artificial intelligence, and 
predictive analytics to deliver better solutions. The Company is leveraging these and other innovations across its businesses 
to help ensure that it continues to be a market leader.

SServe. The Company serves and supports customers and end users with a relentless focus on equipment productivity 
and safety throughout the product lifecycle. The Company believes aftermarket parts and services provide a robust growth 
opportunity while offering stability throughout business cycles.

AAdvance. The Company advances by expanding into new markets and geographies to make a difference around the 
world. The Company expects to continue to grow across the world and expand into new categories both organically, as with 
the recent USPS program win in the last mile delivery vehicle market, and inorganically through investments or acquisitions 
similar to the acquisition of Pratt Miller.

PPrroodduuccttss

The Company is focused on the following core segments of the specialty vehicle and vehicle body markets:

Access Equipment segment. JLG is a leading designer and manufacturer of aerial work platforms and telehandlers used 
in a wide variety of construction, industrial, institutional and general maintenance applications to safely position workers 
and materials at elevated heights. In addition, through a long-term license with Caterpillar Inc. that extends through 2025, 
JLG produces Caterpillar-branded telehandlers for distribution through the worldwide Caterpillar Inc. dealer network. JLG 
also offers a broad range of parts and accessories, including technical support and training, and reconditioning services. 
Access Equipment customers include equipment rental companies, construction contractors, manufacturing companies 
and home improvement centers. JLG’s products are marketed worldwide through independent rental companies and 
distributors that purchase these products and then rent or sell them and provide service support, as well as through other 
sales and service branches or organizations.
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JLG also arranges equipment financing and leasing solutions for its customers, primarily through third-party funding 
arrangements with independent financial companies, and occasionally provides credit support in connection with these 
financing and leasing arrangements. Financing arrangements that JLG offers or arranges through this segment include 
various types of rental fleet loans and leases, as well as floor plan and retail financing. Terms of these arrangements vary 
depending on the type of transaction, but typically range from 36 to 72 months and generally require the customer to be 
responsible for maintenance of the equipment and to bear the risk of damage to or loss of the equipment.

The Company, through its Jerr-Dan brand, is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of towing and recovery 
equipment in the U.S. The Company believes Jerr-Dan is recognized as an industry leader in quality and innovation. Jerr-Dan 
offers a complete line of both carriers and wreckers. In addition to manufacturing equipment, Jerr-Dan provides its 
customers with one-stop service for carriers and wreckers and generates revenue from the installation of equipment, as 
well as the sale of chassis and service parts.

Defense segment. Oshkosh Defense has designed and sold products to the DoD for over 100 years and also exports 
tactical wheeled vehicles to approved foreign customers. By successfully responding to the DoD’s changing vehicle 
requirements, Oshkosh Defense has become the leading manufacturer of heavy, medium, and light tactical wheeled 
vehicles and related sustainment services for the DoD. Oshkosh Defense designs and manufactures vehicles that perform a 
variety of demanding tasks such as hauling tanks, missile systems, ammunition, fuel, troops and cargo for a broad range of 
missions. Oshkosh Defense’s proprietary product line of military heavy-payload tactical wheeled vehicles includes the 
Heavy Expanded Mobility Tactical Truck (HEMTT), the Heavy Equipment Transporter (HET), the Palletized Load System 
(PLS), and the Logistic Vehicle System Replacement (LVSR). Oshkosh Defense’s proprietary medium-payload military tactical 
wheeled vehicles include the Medium Tactical Vehicle Replacement (MTVR). Oshkosh Defense’s proprietary light-payload 
military tactical wheeled vehicles include the Mine Resistant Ambush Protected-All Terrain Vehicle (M-ATV), which was 
specifically designed with superior survivability as well as extreme off-road mobility, and the JLTV, the Company’s newest 
and most technologically advanced member of the light-payload vehicle category designed to protect, sustain and provide 
mobility for personnel and payloads across the full spectrum of military operations.

In August 2009, the DoD awarded Oshkosh Defense a contract to be the sole producer of FMTVs under the U.S. Army’s 
FMTV Rebuy program. Originally a five-year requirements contract, the DoD extended the FMTV Rebuy program several 
times to allow for the delivery of vehicles and trailers through the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021. In February 2018, the DoD 
awarded Oshkosh Defense the FMTV A2 contract for the design, development, production and support of a fleet of future 
generation FMTVs. The FMTV A2 contract is a firm-fixed price requirements contract that initially covers a five-year delivery 
period starting in 2021, with a customer option for two additional years.

In June 2015, the DoD awarded Oshkosh Defense a new Family of Heavy Tactical Vehicles (FHTV) contract for the 
recapitalization of HEMTT, HET and PLS vehicles as well as associated logistics and configuration management support. The 
contract was a five-year requirements contract for the continued remanufacturing of FHTVs. In April 2021, the DoD 
awarded Oshkosh Defense an FHTV extension contract. The contract is a three-year requirements contract for FHTVs. This 
extension contract could extend FHTV deliveries into 2025.

In August 2015, Oshkosh Defense solidified its position in the light-payload tactical wheeled vehicle category when the 
DoD awarded Oshkosh Defense an eight-year, fixed price JLTV contract valued at $6.7 billion for production and delivery of 
16,901 of these technologically enhanced vehicles and related sustainment services. The Company delivered its first 
production JLTVs to the U.S. Army in September 2016. The program achieved the full rate production milestone decision in 
fiscal 2019. In fiscal 2021, the Army authorized an increase to the contract ceiling from 16,901 vehicles to 23,163. Under 
the current JLTV contract, Oshkosh Defense can accept vehicle orders through the first quarter of fiscal 2024 with deliveries 
into fiscal 2025. The U.S. Army, which purchased Government Purpose Rights to the Oshkosh JLTV design, is conducting a 
full and open competition for follow-on JLTV production, with a contract award expected in the second half of calendar 
2022. The next phase of the JLTV program is expected to be valued at approximately $8.0 billion and to include 
requirements for more than 25,000 JLTVs and trailers. In total, the JLTV program is expected to be over a 20-year program 
for the production of up to 55,000 vehicles for the U.S. market and potentially several thousand more units for 
international allies of the U.S.
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In addition to retaining its current defense truck contracts, the Company’s objective is to continue to diversify into 
other areas of the U.S. and international defense vehicle markets by expanding applications, uses and vehicle body styles of 
its current tactical truck lines and growing aftermarket product and service offerings. 

In October 2020, the Company transferred operational responsibility of the airport snow removal vehicle business, a 
global leader in airport snow removal, from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment. The Company’s 
specially designed airport snow removal vehicles are used by some of the largest airports in the world and military bases in 
the United States. The Company believes that the reliability of its high-performance snow removal vehicles and the speed 
with which they clear airport runways contribute to its strong position in this market.

In January 2021, the Company acquired Pratt Miller for $111.4 million. Through Pratt Miller, which is part of the 
Defense segment, the Company offers advanced engineering, product development and innovation services to the 
motorsport and multiple ground vehicle markets.

In February 2021, the Company was notified that the USPS selected Oshkosh Defense to build the NGDV. The IDIQ 
contract allows the USPS to purchase between 50,000 and 165,000 units over ten years. The NGDV provides the USPS the 
ability to significantly modernize its delivery fleet with improved safety, reliability, sustainability and cost-efficiency while 
providing a much better working experience for the nation’s postal carriers. The Company’s offering provides the USPS with 
both zero-emission battery electric vehicles (BEV) and fuel efficient, low emission internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles. 
The vehicle design also provides the USPS with the flexibility of converting ICE units to BEV in the future. The initial $482 
million contract provides for engineering to finalize the production vehicle design, and for tooling and factory build-out 
activities that are necessary prior to vehicle production. The Company expects to begin delivering production vehicles in the 
second half of calendar 2023. 

In June 2021, the U.S. Army awarded Oshkosh Defense a six-year contract worth up to $943 million to integrate the 
Medium Caliber Weapons System onto Stryker Double V Hull Infantry Carrier Vehicles. This contract award is important as 
it represents the Defense segment’s entrance into the adjacent combat vehicles market.

Fire & Emergency segment. Through Pierce, the Company is the leading domestic designer and manufacturer of fire 
apparatus assembled on custom chassis, designed and manufactured to meet the special needs of firefighters. Pierce also 
designs and manufactures fire apparatus assembled on commercially available chassis, which are produced for multiple 
end-customer applications. Pierce’s engineering expertise allows it to design its vehicles to meet stringent industry 
guidelines and government regulations for safety and effectiveness. Pierce primarily serves domestic municipal customers, 
but also sells fire apparatus to the DoD, airports, universities and large industrial companies, and in international markets. 
Pierce’s history of innovation, research and development in consultation with firefighters has resulted in a broad product 
line that features a wide range of innovative, high-quality custom and commercial firefighting equipment with advanced 
fire suppression capabilities. In an effort to be a single-source supplier for its customers, Pierce offers a full line of custom 
and commercial fire apparatus and emergency vehicles, including pumpers, aerial platform, ladder and tiller trucks, tankers, 
light-, medium- and heavy-duty rescue vehicles, wildland rough terrain response vehicles, mobile command and control 
centers, bomb squad vehicles, hazardous materials control vehicles and other emergency response vehicles.

The Company, through Airport Products, is a leader in the design and sale of ARFF vehicles to domestic and 
international airports. These highly-specialized vehicles are required to be in service at most airports worldwide to support 
commercial airlines in the event of an emergency. Many of the largest airports in the United States, including LaGuardia 
International Airport, John F. Kennedy International Airport, O’Hare International Airport, Denver International Airport, 
Baltimore-Washington International Airport, Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport, Tampa International Airport, 
Philadelphia International Airport and San Francisco International Airport, are served by the Company’s ARFF vehicles. The 
U.S. government also maintains a fleet of ARFF vehicles that are used to support military operations throughout the world. 
Internationally, the Company’s vehicles serve, among others, Beijing, China and more than fifty other airports in China; 
Singapore; Indonesia; Quebec, Canada; Abu Dhabi, UAE; and Birmingham, Cardiff, Manchester and Liverpool, United 
Kingdom. In addition, the Company has recently delivered ARFF vehicles to airports in Mexico, Japan, Egypt, Nepal, Iraq and 
the British Virgin Islands. The Company believes that the performance and reliability of its ARFF vehicles contribute to the 
Company’s strong position in this market.
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The Company, through its Frontline brand, is a leading manufacturer, system designer and integrator of broadcast 
vehicles, including electronic field production trailers, satellite news gathering and electronic news gathering vehicles for 
broadcasters and command trucks for local and federal governments along with being a leading supplier of military 
simulator shelters and trailers under the Oshkosh Specialty Vehicles (OSV) brand. The Company’s vehicles have been used 
worldwide to broadcast the NFL Super Bowl, the FIFA World Cup and the Olympics.

The Company offers two- to fifteen-year municipal lease financing programs to its Fire & Emergency segment 
customers in the U.S. through the Pierce Financial Solutions program, provided by PNC Equipment Finance. Programs 
include competitive lease financing rates, creative and flexible finance arrangements and the ease of one-stop shopping for 
customers’ equipment and financing. The Company executes the lease financing transactions through a co-branded 
arrangement with an independent third-party finance company. The Company typically provides credit support in 
connection with these financing and leasing arrangements.

Commercial segment. Through McNeilus, the Company is a leading designer and manufacturer of refuse collection 
vehicles for the waste services industry throughout the Americas. Through Oshkosh Commercial, McNeilus and London, the 
Company is a leading designer and manufacturer of front- and rear-discharge concrete mixers for the concrete ready-mix 
industry throughout the Americas. 

Through IMT, the Company is a leading North American designer and manufacturer of field service vehicles and truck-
mounted cranes for the construction, equipment dealer, building supply, utility, tire service, railroad and mining industries. 
The Company believes its Commercial segment vehicles and equipment have a reputation for market leading innovation, 
which drives enhanced safety, reliability and lower overall cost of ownership.

The Company also arranges equipment financing and leasing solutions for its customers, primarily through third-party 
funding arrangements with independent financial companies, and occasionally provides credit support in connection with 
these financing and leasing arrangements.

MMaarrkkeettiinngg,,  SSaalleess,,  DDiissttrriibbuuttiioonn  aanndd  SSeerrvviiccee

The Company believes it differentiates itself from many of its competitors by tailoring its distribution to the needs of its 
specialty vehicle and vehicle body markets and with its national and global sales and service capabilities. Distribution 
personnel demonstrate to customers how to use the Company’s products properly. In addition, the Company’s flexible 
distribution is focused on meeting customers on their terms, whether on a job site, in an evening public meeting or at a 
municipality’s office, compared to the showroom sales approach of the typical dealer of large vehicle manufacturers. The 
Company backs all products with same-day parts shipment, and its service technicians are available in person or by 
telephone to domestic customers 365 days a year. The Company believes its dedication to keeping its products in-service in 
demanding conditions worldwide has contributed to customer loyalty.

The Company provides its salespeople, representatives and distributors with product and sales training on the 
operation and specifications of its products. The Company’s engineers, along with its product managers, develop operating 
manuals and provide field support at vehicle delivery.

U.S. dealers and representatives enter into agreements with the Company that allow for termination by either party 
generally upon 90 days’ notice, subject to applicable laws. Dealers and representatives, except for those utilized by JLG and 
IMT, are generally not permitted to market and sell competitive products.

Access Equipment segment. JLG’s products are marketed across six continents through independent rental companies 
and distributors that purchase JLG products and then rent or sell them and provide service support, as well as through 
other Company owned sales and service branches. JLG maintains a broad worldwide internal sales force. Sales employees 
are dedicated to specific major customers, channels or geographic regions. JLG’s international sales employees are spread 
among international sales and service offices throughout the world.
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The Company markets its Jerr-Dan-branded carriers and wreckers through its extensive network of independent 
distributors.

Defense segment. While Oshkosh Defense sells a substantial portion of its domestic defense products directly to 
principal branches of the DoD, it has also sold its defense products to numerous international militaries around the globe 
and has expanded into adjacent markets, including the last mile delivery vehicle market. Oshkosh Defense maintains a 
liaison office in Washington, D.C. to represent its interests with the U.S. Congress, the offices of the Executive Branch of the 
U.S. government, the Pentagon, as well as international embassies and government agencies. Oshkosh Defense locates its 
business development, consultants and engineering professionals near its customers’ principal commands, both 
domestically and internationally. Oshkosh Defense sells and services defense products to approved international 
governments as Direct Commercial Sales or Foreign Military Sales via U.S. government channels. Oshkosh Defense supports 
international sales through international sales offices, as well as through dealers, distributors and representatives.

In addition to marketing its current tactical wheeled vehicle offerings and competing for new contracts, Oshkosh 
Defense actively works with its customers to develop new applications for its vehicles and expand its services.

Logistics services are increasingly important to Oshkosh Defense. The Company believes that its proven worldwide 
logistics capabilities, invoicing and electronic payment systems have significantly contributed to the expansion of its 
defense parts and service business. Oshkosh Defense maintains a large parts distribution warehouse in Milwaukee, 
Wisconsin to fulfill stringent parts delivery schedule requirements, as well as satellite facilities near DoD bases in the U.S., 
Europe, Asia and the Middle East.

The Company’s snow removal business uses a combination of internal sales and service representatives and distributor 
locations to focus on the sale of snow removal vehicles, principally to airports, but also to municipalities, counties and other 
governmental entities in the U.S. and Canada. In addition, the Company maintains offices in Dubai, UAE; Beijing, China; and 
Singapore to support airport product vehicle sales and aftermarket sales and support in Europe, the Middle East, China and 
Southeast Asia.

The Company markets Pratt Miller’s world class engineering and product development services primarily through 
internal sales representatives.

Fire & Emergency segment. The Company believes the geographic breadth, size and quality of its Pierce fire apparatus 
sales and service organization are competitive advantages in a market characterized by a few large manufacturers and 
numerous small, regional competitors. Pierce’s fire apparatus are sold through an extensive network of independent sales 
and service organizations with hundreds of sales representatives in the U.S. and Canada, which combine broad 
geographical reach with high frequency of contact with fire departments and municipal government officials. These sales 
and service organizations are supported by product and marketing support professionals and contract administrators at 
Pierce. The Company believes high frequency of contact and local presence are important to cultivate major, and typically 
infrequent, purchases involving the city or town council, fire department, purchasing, finance and mayoral offices, among 
others, that may participate in a fire apparatus bid and selection process. After the sale, Pierce’s nationwide local parts and 
service capability is available to help municipalities maintain peak readiness for this vital municipal service.

Pierce also sells directly to the DoD and other U.S. government agencies. Many of the Pierce fire apparatus sold to the 
DoD are placed in service at U.S. military bases, camps and stations overseas. Additionally, Pierce sells fire apparatus to 
international municipal and industrial fire departments through a network of international dealers.

The Company markets its Frontline-branded broadcast vehicles through sales representatives and its Frontline-branded 
command vehicles through both sales representatives and dealer organizations that are directed at government and 
commercial customers.
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The Company markets its Oshkosh-branded ARFF vehicles through a combination of direct sales representatives 
domestically and an extensive network of representatives and distributors in international markets. Certain of these 
international representatives and distributors also handle Pierce products. 

Commercial segment. The Company believes its network of representatives and dealers is a competitive advantage in 
refuse collection vehicle and concrete mixer markets, particularly in the U.S. waste services industry where principal 
competitors distribute through dealers and to a lesser extent in the ready mix concrete industry, where several competitors 
in part use dealers. The Company believes its distribution model allows for a more tailored distribution approach in the U.S. 
refuse collection vehicle and concrete mixer markets, whereas dealers frequently offer a broad and mixed product line, and 
accordingly, the time dealers tend to devote to refuse collection vehicle and concrete mixer sales activities is limited.

The Company has also established an extensive network of representatives and dealers throughout the Americas for 
the sale of McNeilus-branded refuse collection vehicles and Oshkosh-, McNeilus- and London-branded concrete mixers to 
international customers. The Company coordinates among its various businesses to respond to large international sales 
tenders with its most appropriate product offering for the tender.

The Company utilizes an extensive network of representatives and dealers supported by hundreds of internal and 
external sales and service representatives in North America to sell and service refuse collection vehicles and front- and 
rear-discharge concrete mixers. The Company also performs sales and service activities at the Company’s manufacturing 
facilities. Service centers located throughout the U.S. provide sales, service and parts distribution to customers in their 
geographic regions. The Company believes this network represents one of the largest refuse collection vehicle and concrete 
mixer distribution networks in the U.S. 

IMT distributes its products through a wide network of dealers in over one hundred locations worldwide. International 
dealers are primarily located in Central and South America, Australia and Asia and are primarily focused on mining and 
construction markets.

MMaannuuffaaccttuurriinngg

The Company manufactures its products at 28 manufacturing facilities. To reduce production costs, the Company 
maintains a continuing emphasis on the development of proprietary components, self-sufficiency in fabrication, just-in-time 
inventory management, improvement in production flows and interchangeability of components among product lines, 
creation of jigs and fixtures to ensure repeatability of quality processes, utilization of robotics, and performance 
measurement to assure progress toward cost reduction targets. The Company encourages employee involvement to 
improve production processes and product quality.

The Company uses a common Quality Management System globally to support the delivery of consistent, high quality 
products and services to customers. The Company requires employees at all levels to understand customer and supplier 
requirements, measure performance, develop systems and procedures to prevent product nonconformance and 
continually improve all work processes. The Company educates and trains all employees at its facilities in quality principles. 
The Company utilizes quality gates in its manufacturing facilities to identify issues early in the process and to analyze root 
cause at the source, resulting in fewer defects and less rework. The Company’s Quality Management System is based on 
ISO 9001, a set of internationally-accepted requirements established by the International Organization for Standardization. 
ISO 9001 certification indicates that a company has established and follows a rigorous set of standards aimed at achieving 
customer satisfaction by following a process-based approach to identify and control the quality needs of suppliers, inputs, 
critical processes and outputs. The Quality Management System helps ensure that the Company is continually improving 
and sharing successful practices across the organization. The following brands are ISO 9001 certified: JLG, Oshkosh Defense, 
Pierce, McNeilus, Frontline, Jerr-Dan and Airport Products.
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The Company has a team of employees dedicated to leading the implementation of the Company’s simplification 
initiatives. The team is comprised of members with diverse backgrounds in quality, lean, data analytics, product and 
process engineering, and culture change management. Simplification includes lean tools to eliminate waste and to provide 
better value for customers. It also guides customer satisfaction assessments to help identify opportunities to improve the 
customer experience with Oshkosh. Within the Company’s facilities, simplification projects have contributed to 
manufacturing efficiency gains, materials management improvements, quality enhancements and reduction of lead times. 
Simplification projects have also freed up manufacturing capacity to support production increases.

EEnnggiinneeeerriinngg,,  RReesseeaarrcchh  aanndd  DDeevveellooppmmeenntt

The Company believes its extensive engineering, research and development capabilities have been key drivers of the 
Company’s marketplace success. The Company maintains multiple facilities for new product development and testing with 
a staff of approximately 1,600 engineers and technicians who are dedicated to improving existing products, development 
and testing of new vehicles, vehicle bodies and components and sustaining its production activities. The Company prepares 
multi-year new product development and technology plans for each of its markets and measures progress against those 
plans each month.

Virtually all of the Company’s sales of fire apparatus and broadcast vehicles require some level of custom engineering 
to meet the customer’s specifications and changing industry standards. Engineering is also a critical factor in defense 
vehicle markets due to the severe operating conditions under which the Company’s vehicles are utilized, new customer 
requirements and stringent government documentation requirements. Product innovation is highly important to meeting 
customers’ changing requirements. Accordingly, in addition to new product development engineers and technicians, the 
Company maintains an additional permanent staff of engineers and engineering technicians to sustain its production 
activities.

Recent examples of the Company’s product innovation include the DaVinci lift, a fully electric scissor lift that leverages 
highly sophisticated technology including linear actuators in place of traditional hydraulic cylinders in an elegant design to 
bring industry defining productivity and serviceability to both rental companies and end users in the access equipment 
market. The Company believes that by removing unnecessary parts and replacing them with electric components, the 
DaVinci will require virtually zero maintenance and deliver unprecedented performance, efficiency, and a lower total cost 
of ownership. The Company’s Fire & Emergency segment introduced the revolutionary Volterra platform of electric vehicles 
that meets the critical needs of fire departments while providing the operational performance customers expect from 
Pierce fire apparatus. The Volterra platform offers zero emissions, reduced noise, an electro-mechanical infinitely variable 
transmission (EMIVT), integrated onboard batteries and industry-leading operational range for full-shift operation. The 
Volterra is available as both a customer pumper for municipal applications and an ARFF vehicle.

CCoommppeettiittiioonn

In all of the Company’s segments, competitors include smaller, specialized manufacturers as well as large, mass 
producers. The Company believes that, in its specialty vehicle and vehicle body markets, it has been able to effectively 
compete against large, mass producers due to its product quality, innovation, manufacturing flexibility, vertical integration, 
purchasing power in specialty vehicle components and tailored distribution systems. In addition, the Company believes it 
has competitive advantages over smaller vehicle and vehicle body manufacturers due to its relatively higher volumes of 
similar products that permit the use of moving assembly lines, which allow it to leverage purchasing power and technology 
opportunities across product lines. The Company believes that its competitive cost structure, strategic global purchasing 
capabilities, engineering expertise, product quality and global distribution and service systems have enabled it to compete 
effectively.
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Certain of the Company’s competitors have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, distribution and governmental 
affairs resources than the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company’s products will continue to compete 
effectively with the products of competitors or that the Company will be able to retain its customer base or improve or 
maintain its profit margins on sales to its customers, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Access Equipment segment. JLG operates in the global construction, maintenance and industrial equipment markets. 
JLG’s competitors range from some of the world’s largest multi-national construction equipment manufacturers to small 
single-product niche manufacturers. Within this global market, competition for sales of aerial work platform equipment 
includes Genie Industries, Inc. (a subsidiary of Terex Corporation), Skyjack Inc. (a subsidiary of Linamar Corporation), 
Haulotte Group, Xuzhou Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (XCMG), Zhejiang Dingli Machinery Co., Ltd. and numerous 
other manufacturers. Global competition for sales of telehandler equipment includes J C Bamford Excavators Ltd., the 
Manitou Group, Merlo SpA, Genie Industries, Inc., Haulotte Group, Skyjack Inc. and numerous other manufacturers. In 
addition, JLG faces competition from numerous manufacturers of other niche products such as boom vehicles, cherry 
pickers, skid steer loaders, mast climbers, straight mast and vehicle-mounted fork-lifts, rough-terrain and all-terrain cranes, 
vehicle-mounted cranes, portable material lifts, various types of material handling equipment, scaffolding and the common 
ladder that offer functionality that is similar to or overlaps that of JLG’s products. Principal methods of competition include 
brand awareness, product innovation and performance, price, quality, service and support, product availability and the 
extent to which a company offers single-source customer solutions. The Company believes its competitive strengths 
include: premium brand names; broad and single-source product offerings; product quality; product residual values that 
are generally higher than competitors’ units; worldwide distribution; safety record; service and support network; global 
procurement scale; extensive manufacturing capabilities; and cross-division synergies with other segments within Oshkosh 
Corporation.

The principal competitor for Jerr-Dan-branded products is Miller Industries, Inc. Principal methods of competition for 
carriers and wreckers include product quality and innovation, product performance, price and service. The Company 
believes its competitive strengths in this market include its high quality, innovative and high-performance product line and 
its cost competitive manufacturing capabilities.

Defense segment. Oshkosh Defense produces heavy- and medium-payload, Mine Resistant Ambush Protected (MRAP) 
and light-payload tactical wheeled vehicles for the military and security forces around the world and postal delivery vehicles 
to USPS. Competition for sales of these vehicles includes, among others, Navistar Defense LLC (a subsidiary of Cerberus 
Capital Management, LP), General Dynamics Corporation, AM General LLC (a subsidiary of KPS Capital Partners, LP), BAE 
Systems plc, General Motors Defense, Utilimaster (a subsidiary of The Shyft Group), Morgan Olson (a subsidiary of JB 
Poindexter & Co., Inc.), Workhorse Group and Rivian. The principal method of competition in the Defense segment involves 
a competitive bid process that takes into account factors as determined by the customer, such as price, product 
performance, product life cycle costs, small and disadvantaged business participation, product quality, adherence to bid 
specifications, production capability, project management capability, past performance and product support. Usually, the 
Company’s vehicle systems must also pass extensive testing. The Company believes that its competitive strengths include: 
strategic global purchasing capabilities leveraged across multiple business segments; extensive pricing/costing and defense 
contracting expertise; a significant installed base of vehicles currently in use throughout the world; flexible and high-
efficiency vertically-integrated manufacturing capabilities; patented and/or proprietary vehicle components such as the 
TAK-4 family of independent suspension systems, Oshkosh power transfer cases and Command Zone integrated vehicle 
diagnostics; weapons and communications integration; ability to develop new and improved product capabilities responsive 
to the needs of its customers; product quality; and aftermarket parts sales and service capabilities.
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The Weapon Systems Acquisition Reform Act requires competition for defense programs in certain circumstances. 
Accordingly, it is possible that the U.S. Army and U.S. Marine Corps will conduct competitions for programs for which the 
Company currently has contracts upon the expiration of the existing contracts. Competition for these and other domestic 
programs could result in future contracts being awarded based upon different competitive factors than those described 
above and would primarily include price, production capability and past performance. The U.S. government has become 
more aggressive in seeking to acquire the design rights to the Company’s current and potential future programs to facilitate 
competition for manufacturing our vehicles. The willingness of the bidders to license their design rights to the DoD was an 
evaluation factor in the JLTV and FMTV A2 contract competitions. Certain of the Company’s contracts with the DoD, 
including the JLTV and FMTV A2 contracts, require that the Company effectively transfer the “technical know-how” 
necessary to produce and support the vehicles and/or other deliverables within the contract to the customer.

The Competition in Contracting Act requires competition for U.S. defense programs in most circumstances. 
Competition for DoD programs currently supplied by the Company could result in the U.S. government awarding future 
contracts to another manufacturer or the U.S. government awarding the contracts to the Company at lower prices and 
operating margins than the Company experiences under current contracts.

The Company’s principal competitors for snow removal vehicle sales are M-B Companies, Inc. (owned by Aebi Schmidt 
Holding AG), Wausau-Everest LP (owned by Alamo Group, Inc.) and Overaasen AS. Principal methods of competition are 
product performance, price, service, product quality and innovation. The Company believes its competitive strengths in 
these airport markets include its high-quality, innovative products and a strong service support network.

The Company’s principal competitors for Pratt Miller’s engineering and product development services include Ricardo 
PLC, Corvid Technologies and GS Engineering Inc.

Fire & Emergency segment. The Company produces and sells custom and commercial firefighting vehicles in the U.S. 
and abroad under the Pierce brand and broadcast and command vehicles in the U.S. and abroad under the Frontline brand. 
Competitors for firefighting vehicles include Rosenbauer International AG; E-One, Inc., Ferrara Fire Apparatus, Inc., Spartan 
ER, and Kovatch Mobile Equipment Corp. (all four owned by REV Group, Inc.); and numerous smaller, regional 
manufacturers. Principal methods of competition include brand awareness, ability to meet or exceed customer 
specifications, price, the extent to which a company offers single-source customer solutions, product innovation, product 
quality, dealer distribution, and service and support. The Company believes that its competitive strengths include: 
recognized, premium brand name; nationwide network of independent Pierce dealers; extensive, high-quality and 
innovative product offerings, which include single-source customer solutions for aerials, pumpers and rescue units; large-
scale and high-efficiency custom manufacturing capabilities; and proprietary technologies such as the PUC vehicle 
configuration, TAK-4 independent suspension system, Hercules and Husky foam systems, Command Zone electronics and 
the Ascendant family of aerial fire trucks. The main competitor for broadcast vehicles is Accelerated Media Technologies. 
The principal competition for command vehicles is LDV, Inc., MBF Industries, Inc., Nomad Global Communication Solutions, 
Incorporated, Farber Specialty Vehicles, Inc. and Matthews Specialty Vehicles, Inc.

Airport Products manufactures ARFF vehicles for sale in the U.S. and abroad. Oshkosh’s competitors for ARFF vehicle 
sales are Rosenbauer International AG and E-One, Inc.

Commercial segment. McNeilus produces refuse collection vehicles for North America and international markets. 
Competitors include The Heil Company (a subsidiary of Dover Corporation), New Way Trucks, Labrie Enviroquip Group 
(owned by Wynnchurch Capital) and other regional competitors. The principal methods of competition are product quality, 
product performance, service and price. The Company competes for municipal business and large commercial business in 
the Americas, which is generally based on lowest qualified bid. The Company believes its competitive strengths in the 
Americas refuse collection vehicle markets include: strong brand recognition; innovative and comprehensive product 
offerings; a reputation for high-quality products; ability to offer factory-installed compressed natural gas fuel systems; 
ability to integrate refuse collection bodies with electric chassis; large-scale and high-efficiency manufacturing; and an 
extensive network of sales and service centers located throughout the U.S.
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The Company produces front- and rear-discharge concrete mixers for the Americas under the Oshkosh, McNeilus and 
London brands. Competition for concrete mixer sales includes Beck Industrial, Con-Tech Manufacturing, Inc., Terex 
Corporation and other regional competitors. Principal methods of competition are price, service, product features, product 
quality and product availability. The Company believes its competitive strengths include: strong brand recognition; large-
scale and high-efficiency manufacturing; extensive product offerings; high product quality; innovative control systems; 
ability to offer factory-installed compressed natural gas fuel systems; a significant installed base of concrete mixers in use in 
the marketplace; and its nationwide network of sales and service centers.

IMT is a manufacturer of field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes for the construction, equipment dealer, 
building supply, utility, tire service, railroad and mining industries. IMT’s principal field service vehicle competition is from 
Auto Crane Company (owned by Ramsey Industries, Inc.), Stellar Industries, Inc., Maintainer Corporation of Iowa, Inc., the 
Knapheide Manufacturing Company and other regional companies. Competition in truck-mounted cranes comes primarily 
from European companies including Palfinger AG, Cargotec Corporation and Fassi Group SpA. Principal methods of 
competition are product quality, price and service. The Company believes its competitive strengths include its high-quality 
products, global distribution network and low-cost manufacturing capabilities.

GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  CCoonnttrraaccttss

Approximately 33% of the Company’s net sales for fiscal 2021 were made to the U.S. government, a substantial 
majority of which were under multi-year contracts and programs in the defense vehicle market. Accordingly, a significant 
portion of the Company’s sales are subject to risks specific to doing business with the U.S. government, including 
uncertainty of economic conditions, changes in government policies and requirements that may reflect rapidly changing 
military and political developments, the availability of funds and the ability to meet specified performance thresholds. 
Multi-year contracts may be conditioned upon continued availability of congressional appropriations and are impacted by 
uncertainty regarding federal budget pressures. Variances between anticipated budget and congressional appropriations 
may result in a delay, reduction or termination of these contracts. 

Oshkosh Defense’s sales are substantially dependent upon periodic awards of new contracts, the purchase base vehicle 
quantities and the exercise of options under existing contracts. The funding of U.S. government programs is subject to an 
annual congressional budget authorization and appropriation process. In years when the U.S. government has not 
completed its budget process before the end of its fiscal year, government operations are typically funded pursuant to a 
“continuing resolution,” which allows federal government agencies to operate at spending levels approved in the previous 
budget cycle but does not authorize new spending initiatives. When the U.S. government operates under a continuing 
resolution, delays can occur in the procurement of the products, services and solutions that Oshkosh Defense provides and 
may result in new initiatives being delayed or canceled, or funds could be reprogrammed away from Oshkosh Defense’s 
programs to pay for higher priority operational needs. In years when the U.S. government fails to complete its budget 
process or to provide for a continuing resolution, a federal government shutdown may result. This could in turn result in 
the delay or cancellation of key programs, which could have a negative effect on the Company’s cash flows and adversely 
affect the Company’s future results. In addition, payments to contractors for services performed during a federal 
government shutdown may be delayed, which would have a negative effect on the Company’s cash flows.

Contract awards that Oshkosh Defense receives may be subject to protests by competing bidders. These protests, if 
successful, could result in the customer revoking part or all of any defense contract it awards to Oshkosh Defense and an 
inability of Oshkosh Defense to recover amounts it has expended during the protest period in anticipation of initiating work 
under any such contract.

Under firm, fixed-price contracts with the U.S. government, the price paid to the Company is generally not subject to 
adjustment to reflect the Company’s actual costs, except costs incurred as a result of contract changes ordered by the U.S. 
government. The Company generally attempts to negotiate with the U.S. government the amount of increased 
compensation to which the Company is entitled for government-ordered changes that result in higher costs. If the 
Company is unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement to provide such increased compensation, then the Company may 
file an appeal with the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals or the U.S. Claims Court. The Company has no such 
appeals pending. The Company seeks to mitigate risks with respect to fixed-price contracts by executing firm, fixed-price 
contracts with its suppliers of significant components for the duration of the Company’s contracts.
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U.S. government contracts generally permit the government to terminate a contract, in whole or part, at the 
government’s convenience. If the U.S. government exercises its rights under this clause the contractor is entitled to 
payment for the allowable costs incurred and a reasonable profit on the work performed to date. The U.S. government can 
also terminate a contract for default. If a contract is terminated for default, the contractor is generally entitled to payment 
for work that has been accepted by the U.S. government. Termination for default may expose the Company to loss on work 
not yet accepted by the government and have a negative impact on the Company’s ability to obtain future orders and 
contracts. The U.S. government’s right to terminate its contracts has not had a material effect on the operations or financial 
condition of the Company.

The Company, as a U.S. government contractor, is subject to financial audits and other reviews by the U.S. government 
relating to the performance of, and the accounting and general practices relating to, U.S. government contracts. Like most 
large government contractors, the Company is audited and reviewed by the government on a continual basis. Costs and 
prices under such contracts may be subject to adjustment based upon the results of such audits and reviews. Additionally, 
such audits and reviews can lead to civil, criminal or administrative proceedings. Such proceedings could involve claims by 
the government for fines, penalties, compensatory and treble damages, restitution and/or forfeitures. Under government 
regulations, a company or one or more of its subsidiaries can also be suspended or debarred from government contracts, 
or lose its export privileges based on the results of such proceedings. The Company believes that the outcome of all such 
audits and reviews that are now pending will not have a material effect on its financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows.

SSuupppplliieerrss

The Company is dependent on its suppliers and subcontractors to meet commitments to its customers, and many 
components are procured or subcontracted on a sole-source basis with a number of domestic and foreign companies. 
Components for the Company’s products are generally available from a number of suppliers, although the transition to a 
new supplier may require several months to conclude. The Company purchases chassis components, such as vehicle 
frames, engines, transmissions, radiators, axles, tires, drive motors, bearings and hydraulic components and vehicle body 
options, such as cranes, cargo bodies and trailers, from third-party suppliers. These body options may be manufactured 
specific to the Company’s requirements; however, most of the body options could be manufactured by other suppliers or 
the Company itself. Through reliance on this supply network for the purchase of certain components, the Company is able 
to reduce many of the pre-production and fixed costs associated with the manufacture of these components and vehicle 
body options. The Company purchases a large amount of fabrications and outsources certain manufacturing services, each 
generally from small companies located near its facilities. While providing low-cost services and product surge capability, 
such companies often require additional management attention during difficult economic conditions or contract start-up. 
The Company also purchases complete vehicle chassis from truck chassis suppliers in its Commercial segment and, to a 
lesser extent, in its Fire & Emergency and Access Equipment segments. Increasingly, the Company is sourcing components 
globally, which may involve additional inventory requirements and introduces additional foreign currency exposures. The 
Company maintains an extensive qualification, on-site inspection, assistance and performance measurement system to 
attempt to control risks associated with reliance on suppliers. The Company occasionally experiences problems with 
supplier and subcontractor performance and component, chassis and body availability and must identify alternate sources 
of supply and/or address related warranty claims from customers.

While the Company purchases many costly components such as chassis, engines and transmissions, it manufactures 
certain proprietary components and systems. These components include front drive steer axles, transfer cases, transaxles, 
cabs, the TAK-4 independent suspension system, Hercules and Husky compressed air foam systems, the Command Zone 
vehicle control system, body structures and many smaller parts that add uniqueness and value to the Company’s products. 
The Company believes controlling the production of these components provides a significant competitive advantage and 
also serves to reduce the production costs of the Company’s products.
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IInntteelllleeccttuuaall  PPrrooppeerrttyy

Patents and licenses are important in the operation of the Company’s business. One of management’s objectives is 
developing proprietary components to provide the Company’s customers with advanced technological solutions at 
attractive prices. The Company holds in excess of 1,100 active domestic and foreign patents. The Company believes patents 
for the TAK-4 independent suspension system, which expire between 2021 and 2040, provide the Company with a 
competitive advantage in the Defense and Fire & Emergency segments. In the Defense segment, the TAK-4 independent 
suspension system has been incorporated into the U.S. Marine Corps’ MTVR and LVSR programs, the U.S. Army’s PLS A1 
program, the MRAP - Joint Program Office M-ATV program, the JLTV program and the FMTV A2 program. The Company 
believes the TAK-4 independent suspension system provided a performance and cost advantage that contributed to the 
Company winning these programs. In the Fire & Emergency segment, TAK-4 independent suspension systems are standard 
on many Pierce custom fire trucks and Global Striker ARFF vehicles, which the Company believes brings a similar 
competitive advantage to these markets.

The Company believes that patents for certain components of its ProPulse hybrid electric drive system and Command 
Zone electronics system offer potential competitive advantages to product lines across all its segments. To a lesser extent, 
other proprietary components provide the Company a competitive advantage in each of the Company’s segments.

As part of the Company’s long-term alliance with Caterpillar Inc., the Company acquired a non-exclusive, non-
transferable worldwide license to use certain Caterpillar Inc. intellectual property through 2025 in connection with the 
design and manufacture of Caterpillar Inc.’s current telehandler products. Additionally, Caterpillar Inc. assigned to JLG 
certain patents and patent applications relating to the Caterpillar-branded telehandler products.

The Company holds trademarks for “Oshkosh,” “Oshkosh Defense,” “TAK-4,” “ProPulse,” “JLG,” “SkyTrak,” “Pierce,” 
“McNeilus,” “Jerr-Dan,” “London,” “IMT,” “Pratt Miller,” “DaVinci” and “Volterra” among others. These trademarks are 
considered to be important to the future success of the Company’s business.

EEnnvviirroonnmmeennttaall  MMaatttteerrss

The Company is subject to a wide variety of local, state, and federal environmental laws in the U.S., as well as in other 
countries where the Company conducts business. Our facilities, operations and products are subject to increasingly 
stringent environmental laws and regulations globally, including laws and regulations governing air emissions, noise, 
releases to soil and discharges to water and the generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment, and disposal of 
non-hazardous and hazardous waste materials. Some environmental laws impose strict, retroactive, and joint and several 
liability for the release of hazardous substances, even for conduct that was lawful at the time it occurred, or for the conduct 
of, or conditions caused by prior operators, predecessors or other third parties. With respect to acquired properties and 
businesses, the Company conducts due diligence into potential exposure to environmental liabilities but cannot be certain 
that it has identified or will identify all adverse environmental conditions.

We believe that our policies, practices, and procedures are properly designed to prevent unreasonable risk of 
environmental damage and the consequent financial liability to the Company. Nevertheless, we could incur substantial 
costs as a result of non-compliance with or liability for cleanup or other costs or damages under environmental laws. Also, 
we may be subject to other more stringent environmental laws in the future. If more stringent environmental laws are 
enacted in the future, these laws could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition.

HHuummaann  CCaappiittaall  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt

As of September 30, 2021, the Company had approximately 15,000 employees, approximately 9,000 of whom are 
production employees. The Company tracks its human capital management performance by measuring numerous relevant 
elements relating to its employees, including but not limited to, safety and diversity and inclusion.
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The United Auto Workers (UAW) Union represented approximately 1,800 production employees at the Company’s 
Oshkosh, Wisconsin facilities; the Boilermakers, Iron Shipbuilders, Blacksmiths and Forgers Union (Boilermakers) 
represented approximately 200 employees at the Company’s Kewaunee, Wisconsin facility; and the International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters Union (Teamsters) represented approximately 175 employees at the Company’s Garner, Iowa 
facility. The Company’s agreement with the UAW expires in September 2027. The Company’s five-year agreement with the 
Boilermakers expires in May 2022. The Company’s three-year agreement with the Teamsters extends through October 
2023. In addition, approximately 25% of the Company’s approximately 2,300 employees located outside of the U.S. are 
represented by separate works councils or unions.

People First Culture.  The Company maintains a People First culture that includes investing in team members’ 
engagement, safety, wellbeing, and personal and professional development, as well as diversity and inclusion. The 
Company believes its People First culture is a strength, and the Company intends to continue building upon that culture to 
drive long-term, sustainable performance across the business. In fiscal 2020, 67% of team members participated in the 
Company’s Employee Engagement Survey. Engagement was at a high point compared to past surveys with a 77% positive 
engagement score.

The Company expects all team members to adhere to the highest ethical standards every day. The Company’s Code of 
Ethics & Conduct, also known as The Oshkosh Way, lays out the Company’s core values and standards for ethical behavior.

The Company’s connection to its communities and corresponding volunteer efforts have long been an important part 
of the Company’s culture and team member engagement. The Company’s teams creatively identified opportunities to 
volunteer in fiscal 2021 donating over 15,000 hours to the communities in which they live and work.

For the last seven years, the Company has held the Oshkosh Excellence Awards (OEAs), an annual competition that 
invites team members to submit innovative ideas to foster improvements for its culture, operations, products and 
customers. The COVID-19 pandemic challenged the Company’s ability to have a global event, so it pivoted to create a new 
competition called Cheers to Peers, where team members could nominate those who demonstrated the Company’s core 
values through leadership, courage, and perseverance in the face of unprecedented challenges brought on by the COVID-
19 pandemic. Over 450 nominations were submitted, highlighting the Company’s team members’ commitment to putting 
people first during a global pandemic.

Talent and Learning.  The Company’s business strategy is enabled by its ability to attract, develop and retain world-class 
talent. In fiscal 2021, in spite of COVID-19-related challenges, the Company continued a series of executive leadership 
development events, shifting from in-person to virtual attendance. More than 350 global leaders completed over 2,000 
hours of learning on topics including diversity, equity and inclusion, megatrends, data analytics and innovation. 

The Company expanded its enterprise Learning Management System to enable all 15,000 team members to access 
learning content on its technology platform. Strategic succession planning, future leader pipelines and critical role depth 
were reviewed and updated during the fiscal year. All leaders are expected to complete regular check-ins to provide 
feedback, review annual goal progress and hold career development conversations with team members to help ensure 
alignment, drive engagement and facilitate strong business outcomes.

Health and Safety.  The Company focuses on protecting the health and safety of its team members. This has been even 
more important with COVID-19 creating new disruptions and health threats to the Company’s team members. The 
Company follows government-mandated health and safety guidance including mask and social distancing requirements 
within its facilities. In addition to complying with external safety mandates, each facility continues to manage its response 
to COVID-19 based on localized risk factors. 
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The Company takes a proactive approach to managing safety, is committed to achieving zero workplace injuries and 
has consistently improved its safety performance over the past few years as illustrated below.

 

The Company offers a competitive, inclusive and empowering benefit platform to help ensure that no matter where 
team members are in their wellbeing journey, they are supported in their physical, financial and emotional goals. In 
calendar 2021, the Company cared for over 25,000 team members and their families on its medical plan. The Company 
introduced a program supporting the health and wellness of the team members that account for the highest number of 
preventable illnesses. In addition, the Company launched an expert second opinion medical service to support team 
members in confirming diagnosis and treatment plans. The Company also focused on improving team members’ financial 
goals by securing a new retirement plan administrator in fiscal 2021.

The Company has set several goals and benchmarks for Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) performance, using both 
internal goals and federal standards. The Company’s diversity representation is published in its fiscal 2020 Sustainability 
Report and the Company is driving proactive programs to improve its diverse employee representation. The Company 
measures diverse hires for full-time U.S. non-production positions and has a goal that 50% of such hires be diverse in any 
given year. Diverse hires include ethnicity, gender, veteran and disability status. In fiscal 2021, 48% of the Company’s hires 
for full-time U.S. non-production positions were diverse.

SSeeaassoonnaall  NNaattuurree  ooff  BBuussiinneessss

In the Company’s Access Equipment and Commercial segments, business tends to be seasonal with an increase in sales 
occurring in the spring and summer months that constitute the traditional construction season in the northern hemisphere. 
In addition, sales are generally lower in the three months ended December 31 in all segments due to the relatively high 
number of holidays in the United States, which reduce available production and shipping days.

AAvvaaiillaabbllee  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn

The Company maintains a website with the address www.oshkoshcorp.com. The Company is not including the 
information contained on the Company’s website as a part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. The Company makes available free of charge (other than an investor’s own Internet access charges) through its 
website its Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and 
amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company electronically files such materials with, 
or furnishes such materials to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

IITTEEMM  11AA..        RRIISSKK  FFAACCTTOORRSS

The Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows are subject to various risks, many of which are 
not exclusively within the Company’s control, which may cause actual performance to differ materially from historical or 
projected future performance. Investors should carefully consider information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in light 
of the risk factors described below.
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BBuussiinneessss  aanndd  OOppeerraattiioonnaall  RRiisskkss

TThhee  nnoovveell  ccoorroonnaavviirruuss  ((CCOOVVIIDD--1199))  ppaannddeemmiicc  hhaass  ddiissrruupptteedd  oouurr  ooppeerraattiioonnss  aanndd  ccoouulldd  hhaavvee  aa  mmaatteerriiaall  aaddvveerrssee  eeffffeecctt  oonn  oouurr  
bbuussiinneessss  aanndd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ccoonnddiittiioonn..

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, governments across the world have implemented numerous measures to 
attempt to contain or lessen the impact of the virus on their populations, such as travel bans, quarantines, shut-downs and 
shelter in place orders. The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted our operations and is expected to continue to negatively 
impact our operations in numerous ways, including but not limited to those outlined below:

• The rapid increase in demand as the COVID-19 pandemic wanes has caused and is expected to continue to cause 
significant stress on global supply chains, resulting in parts or components shortages and/or inefficiencies in 
production. For example, supply chain disruptions, primarily within the Access Equipment segment, adversely 
impacted sales by approximately $100 million during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 and it is likely that parts or 
components shortages could limit our production in the future.

• President Biden recently issued an Executive Order that requires federal employees and contractors, including 
federal contractors and subcontractors, to be vaccinated against the coronavirus. It is also expected that the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) will also issue an Emergency Temporary Standard requiring 
employers with at least 100 employees to require their employees to get vaccinated or submit to regular COVID-19 
testing. The implementation of such government mandated vaccination or testing mandates may impact our ability 
to retain current employees and attract new employees. Further, implementation could also have similar 
consequences for our subcontractors, which may impact their ability to deliver the goods and services we need 
from them.

• Because working remotely has become more prevalent and accepted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
companies could determine that it will be acceptable for employees to work from their homes on a long-term 
basis, which could reduce demand for future nonresidential construction, which in turn could reduce demand for 
access equipment, refuse collection vehicles and concrete mixers.

• Our customers may experience financial hardships during the COVID-19 pandemic that could result in lower 
demand for our products and/or default on financial and other commitments to us.

The impacts that we list above and other impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are likely to also have the effect of 
heightening many of the other risks that we describe in the Current Report on Form 8-K. The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic continues to evolve and its ultimate duration, severity and disruption to our business, customers and supply 
chain, and the related financial impact to us, cannot be accurately forecasted at this time. Should such disruption continue 
for an extended period, the adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and/or cash flows 
could be more severe than previously anticipated.

WWee  aarree  ddeeppeennddeenntt  uuppoonn  tthhiirrdd--ppaarrttyy  ssuupppplliieerrss,,  mmaakkiinngg  uuss  vvuullnneerraabbllee  ttoo  ssuuppppllyy  sshhoorrttaaggeess  aanndd  pprriiccee  iinnccrreeaasseess..

We have experienced, and in the future are likely to experience, significant disruption or termination of the supply of 
some of our parts, materials, components and final assemblies that we obtain from suppliers or subcontractors. For 
example, the rapid increase in demand as the COVID-19 pandemic wanes has caused, and is expected to continue to cause, 
significant stress on global supply chains. Delays in obtaining parts, materials, components and final assemblies may result 
from a number of factors affecting our suppliers including capacity constraints, labor shortages or disputes, supplier 
product quality issues, suppliers’ impaired financial condition and suppliers’ allocations to other purchasers. These risks are 
increased in a weak economic environment or when demand increases coming out of an economic downturn. Such 
disruptions have resulted and could further result in manufacturing inefficiencies caused by us having to wait for parts to 
arrive on production lines, could delay sales and could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, 
financial condition, and/or cash flows.
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We are dependent on our suppliers of engines and other power sources to continue to timely deliver such components 
that meet applicable emissions regulations and customer preferences. If we fail to have adequate relationships with 
suppliers that will supply appropriate engines and powertrain components to us or fail to timely receive appropriate 
components from our suppliers, that could result in our being placed in an uncompetitive position or without finished 
product when needed.

RRaaww  mmaatteerriiaall  pprriiccee  fflluuccttuuaattiioonnss  mmaayy  aaddvveerrsseellyy  iimmppaacctt  oouurr  rreessuullttss..

We purchase, directly and indirectly through component purchases, significant amounts of steel, aluminum and other 
commodities. Steel, aluminum, and other commodity prices have historically been highly volatile. For example, U.S. hot 
rolled steel prices have more than tripled between September 2020 and September 2021. Costs for these items may 
continue to increase and/or remain elevated in the future due to one or more of the following: a sustained economic 
recovery, the level of tariffs that the U.S. imposes on imported steel and aluminum or a weakening U.S. dollar.

In addition, the cost of parts, materials, components or final assemblies may significantly increase for reasons other 
than changes in commodity prices. Factors such as supply and demand, freight costs, availability of transportation, 
availability of labor, inventory levels, the level of imports, the imposition of duties and tariffs and other trade barriers and 
general economic conditions may affect the price of our parts, materials, components or final assembly purchases.

Increases in parts, materials, components or final assemblies costs negatively impact the profitability of orders in 
backlog as prices on those orders are usually fixed. If we are not able to recover cost increases through surcharges or 
permanent price increases to our customers, then such increases will have an adverse effect on our financial condition, 
profitability and/or cash flows. Furthermore, surcharges and permanent price increases may not be accepted by our 
customers, resulting in them choosing to order from our competitors instead of us or delaying orders to us. Any significant 
decrease in orders could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows. Additionally, if 
costs decrease and we are unable to negotiate timely component cost decreases commensurate with any decrease in 
costs, then our higher component costs could put us at a material disadvantage as compared to our competition which 
could have a material adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows.

OOuurr  ddeeppeennddeennccyy  oonn  ccoonnttrraaccttss  wwiitthh  UU..SS..  aanndd  ffoorreeiiggnn  ggoovveerrnnmmeenntt  aaggeenncciieess  ssuubbjjeeccttss  uuss  ttoo  aa  vvaarriieettyy  ooff  rriisskkss  tthhaatt  ccoouulldd  
mmaatteerriiaallllyy  rreedduuccee  oouurr  rreevveennuueess  oorr  pprrooffiittss..

We are dependent on U.S. and foreign government contracts for a substantial portion of our business. Approximately 
33% of our sales in fiscal 2021 were to the U.S. government. That business is subject to the following risks, among others, 
that could have a material adverse effect on our operating performance:

• The Weapon Systems Acquisition Reform Act and the Competition in Contracting Act require competition for U.S. 
defense programs in most circumstances. Competition for DoD programs that we currently have could result in the 
U.S. government awarding future contracts to another manufacturer or the U.S. government awarding the 
contracts to us at lower prices and operating margins than we experience under the current contracts. The U.S. 
Army has stated that it is its intent to recompete the JLTV production contract. There are a number of competitors 
vying for the new contract and there is no assurance that we will be successful in competing for the new contract. 
We expect the new contract to be awarded in the second half of calendar 2022.

• Competitions for U.S. government contracts are intense, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be 
successful in current or future procurement competitions in which we participate. In addition, the U.S. government 
has become more aggressive in seeking to acquire the design rights to the Company’s current and potential future 
programs to facilitate competition for manufacturing our vehicles. The willingness of bidders to license their design 
rights to the DoD was an evaluation factor in the JLTV and FMTV A2 competitions.



19

• Most of our contracts with the DoD are multi-year firm, fixed-price contracts. These contracts typically contain 
annual sales price increases. Under the JLTV contract, we bear the risk of material, labor and overhead cost 
escalation for the full eight years of the contract, which is three to five years longer than has been the case under 
our other defense contracts. We attempt to limit the risk related to raw material price fluctuations on prices for 
major defense components by obtaining firm pricing from suppliers at the time a contract is awarded. However, if 
these suppliers do not honor their contracts, then we could face margin pressure. Furthermore, if our actual costs 
on any of these contracts exceed our projected costs, it could result in profits lower than historically realized or 
than we anticipate or net losses under these contracts.

• Our business is susceptible to changes in the annual U.S. defense budget. Such changes may reduce revenues that 
we expect in our Defense segment, especially in light of federal budget pressures, lower levels of U.S. ground 
troops deployed in foreign conflicts and the level of defense funding that will be allocated to the DoD’s tactical 
wheeled vehicle strategy generally.

• The U.S. government may not budget for or appropriate funding that we expect for our U.S. government contracts, 
which may prevent us from realizing revenues under current contracts or receiving additional orders that we 
anticipate we will receive. The DoD could also seek to reprogram certain funds originally planned for the purchase 
of vehicles we manufacture under the current defense budget allocations. The U.S. Army has identified its top 
modernization and readiness priorities and has re-programmed funds away from the Company’s JLTV program to 
support its modernization and readiness priorities and may re-program additional funds in the future.

• The funding of DoD programs is subject to an annual congressional budget authorization and appropriations 
process. In years when the U.S. government has not completed its budget process before the end of its fiscal year, 
government operations are typically funded pursuant to a “continuing resolution,” which allows federal 
government agencies to operate at spending levels approved in the previous budget cycle but does not authorize 
new spending initiatives. When the U.S. government operates under a continuing resolution, delays can occur in 
the procurement of the products, services and solutions that we provide and may result in new initiatives being 
delayed or canceled, or funds could be reprogrammed away from our programs to pay for higher priority 
operational needs. The U.S. government is currently operating under a continuing resolution that funds the federal 
government through December 3, 2021. Furthermore, in years when the U.S. government fails to complete its 
budget process or to provide for a continuing resolution, a federal government shutdown may result. This could in 
turn result in the delay or cancellation of key programs, which could have a negative effect on our cash flows and 
adversely affect our future results. In addition, payments to contractors for services performed during a federal 
government shutdown may be delayed, which would have a negative effect on our cash flows.

• Certain of our U.S. government contracts could be delayed or terminated, and all such contracts expire in the 
future and may not be replaced, which could reduce revenues that we expect under the contracts and negatively 
affect margins in our Defense segment.

• Defense tactical wheeled vehicles contract awards that we receive may be subject to protests or lawsuits by 
competing bidders, which protests or lawsuits, if successful, could result in the U.S. government customer revoking 
part or all of any defense tactical wheeled vehicle contracts it awards to us and our inability to recover amounts we 
have expended in anticipation of initiating production under any such contract.

• We must spend significant sums on product development and testing, bid and proposal activities, and pre-contract 
engineering, tooling and design activities in competitions to have the opportunity to be awarded these contracts.
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• As a U.S. government contractor, our DoD contracts and systems are subject to audit and review by the Defense 
Contract Audit Agency and the Defense Contract Management Agency. These agencies review our performance 
under our U.S. government contracts, our cost structure and our compliance with laws and regulations applicable 
to U.S. government contractors. Systems that are subject to review include, but are not limited to, our accounting 
systems, estimating systems, material management systems, earned value management systems, purchasing 
systems and government property systems. If improper or illegal activities, errors or system inadequacies come to 
the attention of the U.S. government, as a result of an audit or otherwise, then we may be subject to civil and 
criminal penalties, contract adjustments and/or agreements to upgrade existing systems as well as administrative 
sanctions that may include the termination of our U.S. government contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of 
payments, fines and, under certain circumstances, suspension or debarment from future U.S. government 
contracts for a period of time. Whether or not illegal activities are alleged and regardless of materiality, the U.S. 
government also has the ability to decrease or withhold certain payments when it deems systems subject to its 
review to be inadequate. These laws and regulations affect how we do business with our customers and, in many 
instances, impose added costs on our business.

• Our Defense segment results may fluctuate significantly from time to time as a result of the start and completion 
of existing and new domestic and international contract awards that we may receive. A majority of our contracts in 
the Defense segment are large in size and require significant personnel and production resources, and when our 
government customers allow such contracts to expire or significantly reduce their vehicle requirements under such 
contracts, we must make adjustments to personnel and production resources. The start and completion of existing 
and new contract awards that we may receive can cause our Defense segment results to fluctuate significantly.

• We periodically experience difficulties with sourcing sufficient vehicle carcasses from the U.S. military to maintain 
our defense tactical wheeled vehicles remanufacturing schedule, which can create uncertainty and inefficiencies 
for this area of our business.

OOuurr  mmaarrkkeettss  aarree  hhiigghhllyy  ccyycclliiccaall..  DDeecclliinneess  iinn  tthheessee  mmaarrkkeettss  ccoouulldd  hhaavvee  aa  mmaatteerriiaall  aaddvveerrssee  eeffffeecctt  oonn  oouurr  ooppeerraattiinngg  
ppeerrffoorrmmaannccee..

The access equipment market is highly cyclical and impacted (i) by the strength of economies in general and customers’ 
perceptions concerning the timing of economic cycles, (ii) by residential and non-residential construction spending, (iii) by 
the ability of rental companies to obtain third-party financing to purchase revenue generating assets, (iv) by capital 
expenditures of rental companies in general, including the rate at which they replace aged rental equipment, which is 
impacted in part by historical purchase levels, (v) by the timing of regulatory standard changes, and (vi) by other factors, 
including oil and gas related activity. Refuse collection vehicle markets are also cyclical and impacted by the strength of 
economies in general, by municipal tax receipts and by the size and timing of capital expenditures, including replacement 
demand, by large waste haulers. The ready-mix concrete market that we serve is highly cyclical and impacted by the 
strength of the economy generally, by the number of housing starts and by other factors that may have an effect on the 
level of concrete placement activity, either regionally or nationally. Fire & emergency markets are cyclical later in an 
economic cycle and are impacted by the economy generally and by municipal tax receipts and capital expenditures. If 
demand for our products is lower than what we or the market expect, then there could be an adverse effect on our net 
sales, financial condition, profitability and/or cash flows.

TThhee  UUSSPPSS  mmaayy  nnoott  ppuurrcchhaassee  qquuaannttiittiieess  ffrroomm  uuss  tthhaatt  wwee  eexxppeecctt..

In February 2021, the USPS notified us that it selected us to build its NGDV. The IDIQ contract allows for the purchase 
of between 50,000 and 165,000 units over 10 years. To date, we have received an order for $482 million for engineering to 
finalize the production vehicle design and for tooling and factory build-out activities that are necessary prior to vehicle 
production. The USPS awards that we currently anticipate receiving from the USPS and our performance under the contract 
are subject to the following risks, among others, that could have a material adverse effect on our operating performance:
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• Budget constraints facing the USPS and continuously changing demands for postal services may result in the USPS 
ordering fewer units than we expect the USPS to award to us under the contract.

• Engineering time to finalize the production vehicle design may be greater than we anticipate.

• Tooling and factory build-out activities that we must complete prior to production may be greater than we 
anticipate.

• We plan to use a new manufacturing facility to perform under the contract, and the costs and other challenges 
associated with recruiting and training a new workforce may be greater than we anticipate.

• The USPS’ obligation to order the minimum order quantity under the contract (50,000 units) is contingent upon 
USPS satisfactory completion of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) Environmental Impact Statement 
(EIS) process. Failure to complete this process in a satisfactory manner could result in a loss of the minimum 
quantity and prevent additional awards under the NGDV contract.

OOuurr  rreessuullttss  ccoouulldd  bbee  aaddvveerrsseellyy  aaffffeecctteedd  bbyy  sseevveerree  wweeaatthheerr,,  nnaattuurraall  ddiissaasstteerrss,,  aanndd  ootthheerr  eevveennttss  iinn  tthhee  llooccaattiioonnss  iinn  wwhhiicchh  wwee  oorr  
oouurr  ccuussttoommeerrss  oorr  ssuupppplliieerrss  ooppeerraattee..

We have manufacturing and other operations in locations prone to severe weather and natural disasters, including 
earthquakes, floods, hurricanes or tsunamis that could disrupt our operations. Our suppliers and customers also have 
operations in such locations. Severe weather or a natural disaster that results in a prolonged disruption to our operations, 
or the operations of our customers or suppliers could delay delivery of parts, materials or components to us or sales to our 
customers and could have a material adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash 
flows.

DDiissrruuppttiioonnss  wwiitthhiinn  oouurr  ddeeaalleerr  nneettwwoorrkk  ccoouulldd  aaddvveerrsseellyy  aaffffeecctt  oouurr  bbuussiinneessss..

Although we sell the majority of our products directly to the end user, we market, sell and service products through a 
network of independent dealers in the Fire & Emergency segment and in a limited number of markets for the Access 
Equipment and Commercial segments. As a result, our business with respect to these products is influenced by our ability 
to establish and manage new and existing relationships with dealers. While we have relatively low turnover of dealers, from 
time to time, we or a dealer may choose to terminate the relationship as a result of difficulties that our independent 
dealers experience in operating their businesses due to economic conditions or other factors, or as a result of an alleged 
failure by us or an independent dealer to comply with the terms of our dealer agreement. We do not believe our business is 
dependent on any single dealer, the loss of which would have a sustained material adverse effect upon our business. 
However, disruption of dealer coverage within a specific state or other geographic market could cause difficulties in 
marketing, selling or servicing our products and have an adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or cash flows.

In addition, our ability to terminate our relationship with a dealer is limited due to state dealer laws, which generally 
provide that a manufacturer may not terminate or refuse to renew a dealer agreement unless it has first provided the 
dealer with required notices. Under many state laws, dealers may protest termination notices or petition for relief from 
termination actions. Responding to these protests and petitions may cause us to incur costs and, in some instances, could 
lead to litigation resulting in lost opportunities with other dealers or lost sales opportunities, which may have an adverse 
effect on our net sales, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.
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CCoonnssoolliiddaattiioonn  wwiitthhiinn  oouurr  ccuussttoommeerr  aanndd  ddeeaalleerr  bbaasseess  mmaayy  iimmppaacctt  oouurr  ssttrraatteeggyy,,  pprriicciinngg  aanndd  pprroodduucctt  mmaarrggiinnss..

Significant consolidation in our customer and dealer bases could enhance the influence of customers and dealers over 
our business strategy. Intensified consolidation in the industries we serve may provide our customers and dealers with 
additional leverage in negotiations around our product and service offerings. For example, the Access Equipment segment’s 
largest customers are rental companies that serve the end user equipment rental markets. Should larger access equipment 
customers continue to grow through the acquisition of smaller rental companies, their buying influence may grow and may 
impact the competitive environment within the industry. Similarly, the Fire & Emergency segment’s distribution channel is 
comprised of a relatively small number of dealers that if they were to consolidate may create additional pricing pressure, as 
well as concentrated credit exposures, as our reliance on a smaller group of larger individual dealerships increases. If that 
trend in customer and dealer consolidation continues, it could have an unfavorable impact on our pricing and product 
margins.

CCoommppeettiittiioonn  aanndd  SSttrraatteeggyy  RRiisskkss

WWee  ffaaccee  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  ccoommppeettiittiioonn  iinn  tthhee  mmaarrkkeettss  wwee  sseerrvvee..

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We compete worldwide with a number of other 
manufacturers that produce and sell similar products. Our products primarily compete on the basis of brand awareness, 
product innovation, performance, quality, reliability, availability, price, service and support, ability to meet customer 
specifications and the extent to which a company offers single-source customer solutions. Certain of our competitors have 
greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, distribution and governmental affairs resources than we do, which may put us 
at a competitive disadvantage. We also face pricing pressure from international competitors that attempt to gain domestic 
market share through importing and selling products at below market prices, particularly in the Access Equipment segment. 
If competition in our industry intensifies or if our current competitors lower their prices for competing products, we may 
lose sales or be required to lower the prices we charge for our products. We cannot provide any assurance that our 
products will continue to compete effectively with the products of competitors or that we will be able to retain our 
customer base or improve or maintain our profit margins on sales to our customers.

IIff  wwee  aarree  uunnaabbllee  ttoo  ccoonnttiinnuuee  ttoo  eennhhaannccee  eexxiissttiinngg  pprroodduuccttss  aanndd  ddeevveelloopp  nneeww  pprroodduuccttss  tthhaatt  rreessppoonndd  ttoo  ccuussttoommeerr  nneeeeddss  aanndd  
pprreeffeerreenncceess,,  wwee  mmaayy  eexxppeerriieennccee  aa  ddeeccrreeaassee  iinn  ddeemmaanndd  ffoorr  oouurr  pprroodduuccttss  aanndd  oouurr  bbuussiinneessss  ccoouulldd  ssuuffffeerr..

One of our growth strategies is emphasizing our new product development as we seek to expand sales and margins by 
leading our core markets in the introduction of new or improved products and technologies. Our ability to match product 
improvements and new product offerings to diverse global customer’s anticipated needs for different types of products 
and various product features and functions, at acceptable prices, is critical to our success. We may not be able to compete 
as effectively, and ultimately satisfy the needs and preferences of our customers, unless we can continue to improve 
existing products and develop new innovative products in the global markets in which we compete. While we spent 
$103.1 million, $103.9 million and $99.0 million for research and development in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, 
we cannot provide any assurance that this level of investment in research and development will be sufficient to maintain 
our competitive strength in product innovation, which could cause our business to suffer. Product improvements and new 
product introductions also require significant planning, design, development and testing at the technological, product and 
manufacturing process levels, and we may not be able to timely develop product improvements or new products. Our 
competitors’ new products may arrive in the market before our products arrive and be more attractive with more features 
and functions and/or lower prices than our products. If we are unable to provide continued technological improvements in 
our products that meet our customers’ or the industry’s expectations, then the demand for our products could be 
adversely affected.
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In response to changes in customer preferences concerning global climate changes and related changes in regulations, 
we may face greater pressure to develop products that generate less greenhouse gas emissions. Many manufacturers 
foresee sales of electric-powered vehicles and mobile equipment becoming increasingly important to their businesses, and 
we may not have the expertise or resources to successfully address these pressures on a cost-effective basis. While we are 
developing and offering more propulsion choices in our products, such as electric-powered vehicles or mobile equipment, 
with lower emissions, this may require us to spend additional funds on product research and development and 
implementation costs and subject us to the risk that our competitors may respond to these pressures in a manner that 
gives them a competitive advantage. If we do not accurately predict, prepare for and respond to new kinds of technological 
innovations with respect to electric-powered vehicles or mobile equipment and other technologies that minimize 
emissions, competition from others could make our specialty vehicles or mobile equipment less desirable in the 
marketplace.

WWee  aarree  ssuubbjjeecctt  ttoo  fflluuccttuuaattiioonnss  iinn  eexxcchhaannggee  rraatteess  aassssoocciiaatteedd  wwiitthh  oouurr  nnoonn--UU..SS..  ooppeerraattiioonnss  tthhaatt  ccoouulldd  aaddvveerrsseellyy  aaffffeecctt  oouurr  
rreessuullttss  ooff  ooppeerraattiioonnss  aanndd  mmaayy  ssiiggnniiffiiccaannttllyy  aaffffeecctt  tthhee  ccoommppaarraabbiilliittyy  ooff  oouurr  rreessuullttss  bbeettwweeeenn  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ppeerriiooddss..

Approximately 15% of our net sales in fiscal 2021 were attributable to products sold outside of the United States, of 
which approximately 52% involved export sales from the United States. The majority of export sales are denominated in 
U.S. dollars. Sales that originate outside the United States are typically transacted in the local currencies of those countries. 
Fluctuations in foreign currency can have an adverse impact on our sales and profits as amounts that are measured in 
foreign currency are translated back to U.S. dollars. We have sales of inventory denominated in U.S. dollars to certain of our 
subsidiaries that have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The exchange rates between many of these 
currencies and the U.S. dollar have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may fluctuate significantly in the future. Such 
fluctuations, in particular those with respect to the Euro, the Chinese renminbi, the Canadian dollar, the Mexican peso, the 
Australian dollar and the British pound sterling, may have a material effect on our net sales, financial condition, profitability 
and/or cash flows and may significantly affect the comparability of our results between financial periods. In addition, any 
appreciation in the value of the U.S. dollar in relation to the value of the local currency of those countries where our 
products are sold will increase our costs of goods in our foreign operations, to the extent such costs are payable in U.S. 
dollars, and impact the competitiveness of our product offerings in international markets.

OOuurr  oobbjjeeccttiivvee  iiss  ttoo  eexxppaanndd  iinntteerrnnaattiioonnaall  ooppeerraattiioonnss  aanndd  ssaalleess..

Expanding international operations and sales is a part of our growth strategy. International operations and sales are 
subject to various risks, including political, religious and economic instability, local labor market conditions, the imposition 
of foreign tariffs upon our products (which include tariffs in response to tariffs that the U.S. imposes) and other trade 
barriers, the impact of foreign government regulations and the effects of income and withholding taxes, sporadic order 
patterns, governmental expropriation, uncertainties or delays in collection of accounts receivable and differences in 
business practices. We may incur increased costs, including increased supply chain costs, and experience delays or 
disruptions in production schedules, product deliveries or payments in connection with international manufacturing and 
sales that could cause loss of revenues and earnings. Among other things, there are additional logistical requirements 
associated with international sales, which increase the amount of time between the completion of vehicle production and 
our ability to recognize related revenue. In addition, expansion into foreign markets requires the establishment of 
distribution networks and may require modification of products to meet local requirements or preferences. Establishment 
of distribution networks or modification to the design of our products to meet local requirements and preferences may 
take longer or be more costly than we anticipate and could have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve 
international sales growth. In addition, our entry into certain markets that we wish to enter may require us to establish a 
joint venture. Identifying an appropriate joint venture partner and creating a joint venture could be more time consuming, 
more costly and more difficult than we anticipate.
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WWee  mmaayy  nnoott  bbee  aabbllee  ttoo  eexxeeccuuttee  oonn  oouurr  bbuussiinneessss  ssttrraatteeggyy..

The Company’s strategy is grounded in its purpose of making a difference in the lives of those who build, serve, and 
protect communities around the world. The strategy is reflected in three simple words: Innovate. Serve. Advance. We 
cannot provide any assurance we will be able to successfully execute our business strategy due to a variety of risks, 
including our inability to design new products that meet our customers’ requirements and bring them to market; higher 
costs than anticipated to launch new products or delays in new product launches; our inability to expand our aftermarket 
parts and services availability; and slow adoption of our products in emerging markets and/or our inability to successfully 
expand into new markets.

WWee  mmaayy  nnoott  rreeaalliizzee  aallll  ooff  tthhee  aannttiicciippaatteedd  bbeenneeffiittss  ooff  oouurr  aaccqquuiissiittiioonnss..

We are continuously evaluating potential acquisitions to support our business strategy. As part of this evaluation 
process, we perform due diligence to identify potential risks associated with the potential transaction. We also make 
assumptions regarding future performance of the acquired business. We cannot provide any assurance we will be able to 
successfully achieve the benefits of any business acquisition due to a variety of risks, including the following:

• Our failure to achieve the acquisition’s assumed future financial performance or realize assumed efficiencies or 
assumed cost reductions;

• There may be a cultural mismatch that exists between us and the acquired business;

• We may incur unforeseen expenses or liabilities or may be subject to other unanticipated regulatory or 
government actions related to the acquired business; and

• We may incur higher transaction costs than expected.

FFiinnaanncciiaall  RRiisskkss

WWee  aarree  ssuubbjjeecctt  ttoo  cchhaannggeess  iinn  ccoonnttrraacctt  eessttiimmaatteess..

We account for substantially all long-term contracts in the Defense segment utilizing the cost to cost method of 
percentage-of-completion accounting. This accounting requires judgment relative to assessing risks, estimating revenues 
and costs and making assumptions regarding the timing of receipt of delivery orders from our government customer and 
technical issues. Due to the size and nature of these contracts, the estimation of total revenues and costs is complicated 
and subject to many variables. We must make assumptions regarding expected increases in wages and employee benefits, 
engineering hours, productivity and availability of labor, material costs and allocated fixed costs. Changes to production 
costs, overhead rates, learning curves and/or supplier performance can also impact these estimates. Furthermore, under 
the revenue recognition accounting rules, we can only include units in our estimates of overall contract profitability after 
we have received a firm delivery order for those units. Because new orders have the potential to significantly change the 
overall profitability of cumulative orders received to date, particularly early in the contract when fewer overall units are on 
order, the period in which we receive those orders from the government will impact the estimated life-to-date contract 
profitability. Changes in underlying assumptions, circumstances or estimates could have a material adverse effect on our 
net sales, financial condition and/or profitability.
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WWee  mmaayy  eexxppeerriieennccee  lloosssseess  iinn  eexxcceessss  ooff  oouurr  rreeccoorrddeedd  rreesseerrvveess  ffoorr  ddoouubbttffuull  aaccccoouunnttss,,  ffiinnaannccee  rreecceeiivvaabblleess,,  nnootteess  rreecceeiivvaabbllee  aanndd  
gguuaarraanntteeeess  ooff  iinnddeebbtteeddnneessss  ooff  ootthheerrss..

As of September 30, 2021, we had consolidated gross receivables of $1.03 billion. In addition, we were subject to 
obligations to guarantee customer indebtedness to third parties of $846.6 million, under which we estimate our maximum 
exposure to be $167.0 million. We evaluate the collectability of receivables and our guarantees of indebtedness of others 
based on a combination of factors and establish reserves based on our estimates of potential current and future losses. In 
circumstances where we believe it is probable that a specific customer will have difficulty meeting its financial obligations, a 
specific reserve is recorded to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we expect to collect, and/or we 
recognize a liability for a guarantee we expect to pay, taking into account any amounts that we would anticipate realizing if 
we are forced to repossess the equipment that supports the customer’s financial obligations to us. We also establish 
additional reserves based upon our perception of the quality of the current receivables, the current financial position of our 
customers, past collections experience, existing and future market conditions. Prolonged or more severe economic 
weakness may result in additional requirements for specific reserves. During periods of economic weakness, the collateral 
underlying our guarantees of indebtedness of customers or receivables can decline sharply, thereby increasing our 
exposure to losses. We also face a concentration of credit risk as the Access Equipment segment’s ten largest debtors at 
September 30, 2021 represented approximately 33% of our consolidated gross receivables. Some of these customers are 
highly leveraged. We may incur losses in excess of our recorded reserves if the financial condition of our customers were to 
deteriorate or the full amount of any anticipated proceeds from the sale of the collateral supporting our customers’ 
financial obligations is not realized. Our cash flows and overall liquidity may be materially adversely affected if any of the 
financial institutions that finance our customer receivables become unable or unwilling, due to unfavorable economic 
conditions, a weakening of our or their financial position or otherwise, to continue providing such credit.

AAnn  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt  iinn  tthhee  ccaarrrryyiinngg  vvaalluuee  ooff  ggooooddwwiillll  aanndd  ootthheerr  iinnddeeffiinniittee--lliivveedd  iinnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  ccoouulldd  nneeggaattiivveellyy  aaffffeecctt  oouurr  
ooppeerraattiinngg  rreessuullttss..

We have a substantial amount of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets on our balance sheet as a result 
of acquisitions we have completed. At September 30, 2021, approximately 85% of these intangibles were concentrated in 
the Access Equipment segment. We evaluate goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least 
annually, or more frequently if potential interim indicators exist that could result in impairment. Events and conditions that 
could result in impairment include a prolonged period of global economic weakness, a decline in economic conditions or a 
slow, weak economic recovery, a sustained decline in the price of our common stock, adverse changes in the regulatory 
environment, adverse changes in the market share of our products, adverse changes in interest rates, or other factors 
leading to reductions in the long-term sales or profitability that we expect. Determination of the fair value of a reporting 
unit includes developing estimates which are highly subjective and incorporate calculations that are sensitive to minor 
changes in underlying assumptions. Management’s assumptions change as more information becomes available. Changes 
in these events and conditions or other assumptions could result in an impairment charge in the future, which could have a 
significant adverse impact on our reported earnings.

FFiinnaanncciinngg  ccoossttss  aanndd  rreessttrriiccttiivvee  ccoovveennaannttss  iinn  oouurr  ccuurrrreenntt  ddeebbtt  ffaacciilliittiieess  ccoouulldd  lliimmiitt  oouurr  fflleexxiibbiilliittyy  iinn  mmaannaaggiinngg  oouurr  bbuussiinneessss  aanndd  
iinnccrreeaassee  oouurr  vvuullnneerraabbiilliittyy  ttoo  ggeenneerraall  aaddvveerrssee  eeccoonnoommiicc  aanndd  iinndduussttrryy  ccoonnddiittiioonnss..

Our credit agreement contains financial and restrictive covenants which, among other things, require us to satisfy 
quarter-end financial ratios. Our ability to meet the financial ratios in such covenants may be affected by a number of risks 
or events, including the risks described in this Current Report on Form 8-K and events beyond our control. The indenture 
governing our senior notes also contain restrictive covenants. Any failure by us to comply with these restrictive covenants 
or the financial and restrictive covenants in our credit agreement could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations and debt service capability.

Our access to debt financing at competitive risk-based interest rates is partly a function of our credit ratings. A 
downgrade to our credit ratings could increase our interest rates, could limit our access to public debt markets, could limit 
the institutions willing to provide us credit facilities, and could make any future credit facilities or credit facility 
amendments more costly and/or difficult to obtain. In addition, a portion of our debt is subject to variable interest rates. An 
increase in general interest rates would also increase our cost of borrowing under our credit agreement.
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AAddddiittiioonnaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  rreellaattiinngg  ttoo  cchhaannggeess  iinn  ttaaxx  rraatteess  oorr  eexxppoossuurree  ttoo  aaddddiittiioonnaall  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  ccoouulldd  aaddvveerrsseellyy  iimmppaacctt  
oouurr  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ccoonnddiittiioonn  aanndd  ccaasshh  ffllooww..

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various non-U.S. jurisdictions. Our domestic and international tax 
liabilities are dependent upon the location of earnings among these different jurisdictions. Changes in our effective tax rate 
as a result of changes in tax laws or regulations and judicial or regulatory interpretations of those laws or regulations, the 
mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in overall profitability, changes in U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles, or changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets could adversely affect our future results 
of operations. In addition, the amount of income taxes that the Company pays is subject to ongoing audits by U.S. federal, 
state and local tax authorities and by non-U.S. tax authorities. If these audits result in assessments different from amounts 
that the Company has reserved for potential tax liabilities, future financial results may include unfavorable adjustments to 
the Company’s tax liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.

CCyybbeerrsseeccuurriittyy  RRiisskkss

IInnccrreeaasseedd  ccyybbeerrsseeccuurriittyy  tthhrreeaattss  aanndd  mmoorree  ssoopphhiissttiiccaatteedd  ccoommppuutteerr  ccrriimmee  ppoossee  aa  rriisskk  ttoo  oouurr  ssyysstteemmss,,  nneettwwoorrkkss,,  pprroodduuccttss  aanndd  
sseerrvviicceess..  

As a defense contractor, we face many cyber and security threats that can range from attacks common to most 
industries, which could have financial or reputational consequences, to advanced persistent threats on our Defense 
programs, which could involve information that is considered a matter of national security. We rely extensively on 
information technology systems and networks, some of which third parties manage, supporting a variety of business 
activities. Operating these information technology systems and networks and processing and maintaining related data in a 
secure manner, is critical to our business operations and strategy. Information technology security threats -- from user 
error to cybersecurity attacks designed to gain unauthorized access to our systems, networks and data -- are increasing in 
frequency and sophistication. Cybersecurity attacks may range from random attempts to coordinated and targeted attacks, 
including sophisticated computer crime and advanced persistent threats. These threats pose a risk to the security of our 
systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. Cybersecurity attacks could also include 
attacks targeting the security, integrity and/or reliability of the hardware and software that we have installed in our 
products. It is possible that our information technology systems and networks, or those that third parties manage or 
provide, could have vulnerabilities, which could go unnoticed for a period of time. While we have utilized and continue to 
utilize various procedures and controls to mitigate such risks, we cannot assure that the actions and controls we have 
implemented and are implementing, or that we cause or have caused third-party service providers to implement, will be 
sufficient to protect our systems, information or other property. We have experienced cyber security threats and 
vulnerabilities in our systems and those of our third-party providers, and we have experienced viruses and attacks targeting 
our information technology systems and networks. Such prior events, to date, have not had a material impact on our 
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, the potential consequences of a future material 
cybersecurity attack include reputational damage, litigation with third-parties, government enforcement actions, penalties, 
disruption to systems, unauthorized release of confidential or otherwise protected information, corruption of data, 
diminution in the value of our investment in research, development and engineering, and increased cybersecurity 
protection and remediation costs, which in turn could adversely affect our competitiveness, results of operations and 
financial condition.
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LLeeggaall  aanndd  RReegguullaattoorryy  RRiisskkss

OOuurr  iinntteerrnnaattiioonnaall  ssaalleess  aanndd  ooppeerraattiioonnss  ssuubbjjeecctt  uuss  ttoo  rriisskkss  tthhaatt  mmaayy  hhaavvee  aa  mmaatteerriiaall  aaddvveerrssee  eeffffeecctt  oonn  oouurr  bbuussiinneessss..

As a result of our international operations and sales, we are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and 
other laws that prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments and their officials for the 
purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our international activities create the risk of unauthorized payments or offers of 
payments in violation of the FCPA by one of our employees, consultants, sales agents or distributors, because these parties 
are not always subject to our control. Any violations of the FCPA could result in significant fines, criminal sanctions against 
us or our employees, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business, including our business with the U.S. government. We 
are also increasingly subject to export control regulations, including, without limitation, the United States Export 
Administration Regulations and the International Traffic in Arms Regulations. Unfavorable changes in the political, 
regulatory or business climate could have a material adverse effect on our net sales, financial condition, profitability and/or 
cash flows.

WWee  mmaayy  bbee  rreeqquuiirreedd  ttoo  mmaakkee  mmaatteerriiaall  eexxppeennddiittuurreess  ttoo  ccoommppllyy  wwiitthh  eennvviirroonnmmeennttaall  llaawwss  aanndd  cclliimmaattee  cchhaannggee  rreegguullaattiioonnss,,  oorr  
iinnccuurr  aaddddiittiioonnaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  uunnddeerr  tthheessee  llaawwss  aanndd  rreegguullaattiioonnss..

Both our products and the operation of our manufacturing facilities are subject to statutory and regulatory 
requirements. These include environmental requirements applicable to manufacturing and vehicle emissions, government 
contracting regulations, regulations impacting our supply chain and domestic and international trade regulations. A 
significant change to these regulatory requirements could substantially increase manufacturing costs, which could make 
our business results more variable.

Climate change attributed to increased levels of greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, has led to significant 
legislative and regulatory efforts to limit greenhouse gas emissions. These considerations may lead to new international, 
national, regional, or local legislation or regulatory response. The legislation of greenhouse gases could result in 
unfavorable financial impact through various forms including taxation, emission allowances, fines, facilities improvement 
investment and higher energy costs. The impact of any future greenhouse gas legislation, regulatory, or product standard 
requirements is unknown and therefore, we are uncertain of the potential impact that future changes may have.

Our global facilities, operations and products are subject to increasingly stringent environmental laws and regulations, 
including laws and regulations governing air emissions, noise, releases to soil and discharges to water and the generation, 
handling, storage, transportation, treatment, and disposal of non-hazardous and hazardous waste materials. Certain 
environmental laws impose strict, retroactive, and joint and several liability for the release of hazardous substances, even 
for conduct that was lawful at the time it occurred, or for the conduct of, or conditions caused, by prior operators, 
predecessors or other third parties. With respect to acquired properties and businesses, we conduct due diligence into 
potential environmental exposure. However, we cannot be certain that we have identified or will identify all adverse 
environmental conditions. We could be subject to fines, cleanup costs or other costs or damages under environmental laws 
if we are not in compliance with environmental regulations. We may be subject to other more stringent environmental laws 
in the future that could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operation, and financial condition.

IITTEEMM  11BB..        UUNNRREESSOOLLVVEEDD  SSTTAAFFFF  CCOOMMMMEENNTTSS

The Company has no unresolved staff comments regarding its periodic or current reports from the staff of the SEC that 
were issued 180 days or more preceding September 30, 2021.
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IITTEEMM  22..        PPRROOPPEERRTTIIEESS

The Company believes its equipment and buildings are well maintained and adequate for its present and anticipated 
needs. As of September 30, 2021, the Company operated in 28 manufacturing facilities. The locations of the Company’s 
manufacturing facilities are provided in the table below:

SSeeggmmeenntt  LLooccaattiioonn  ((##  ooff  ffaacciilliittiieess))  SSeeggmmeenntt  LLooccaattiioonn  ((##  ooff  ffaacciilliittiieess))
AAcccceessss  EEqquuiippmmeenntt  McConnellsburg, Pennsylvania (3) (a)  FFiirree  &&  EEmmeerrggeennccyy  Appleton, Wisconsin (2)
  Shippensburg, Pennsylvania (1)    Bradenton, Florida (1)
  Greencastle, Pennsylvania (1)    Kewaunee, Wisconsin (1)
  Tianjin, China (2) (c)    Clearwater, Florida (1) (b)

  Tonneins, France (1) (b)    Neenah, Wisconsin (1) (b)

  Port Macquarie, Australia (1)     
  Leicester, United Kingdom (1)  CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  Dodge Center, Minnesota (1)
  Bedford, Pennsylvania (1)    Garner, Iowa (1)
  Leon, Mexico (1)    Riceville, Iowa (1)
      London, Canada (1) (b)

DDeeffeennssee  Oshkosh, Wisconsin (4)     
  Jefferson City, Tennessee (1) (b)      
  Spartanburg, South Carolina (1) (b)     

(a) Two facilities are owned and the other is leased.
(b) These facilities are leased.
(c) One facility is owned and the other is leased.

The Company’s manufacturing facilities generally operate five days per week on one or two shifts, except for seasonal 
shutdowns for one- to three-week periods. The Company believes its manufacturing capacity could be significantly 
increased with limited capital spending by operating an additional shift at each facility.

The Company also performs contract maintenance services out of multiple warehousing and service facilities owned 
and/or operated by the U.S. government and third parties, including locations in the U.S., Japan and multiple other 
countries in Europe and the Middle East.

In addition to sales and service activities at the Company’s manufacturing facilities, the Company maintains a network 
of sales and service centers in the U.S. The Company uses these facilities primarily for sales and service of refuse collection 
vehicles and concrete mixers. The Access Equipment segment also leases a number of small distribution, engineering, 
administration or service facilities throughout the world.

IITTEEMM  33..        LLEEGGAALL  PPRROOCCEEEEDDIINNGGSS

The Company is subject to environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including patent, antitrust, 
product liability, warranty and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
business. Although the final results of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes 
that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Personal injury actions and other. At September 30, 2021, the estimated net liabilities for product and general liability 
claims totaled $49.5 million. Although the final results of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the 
Company believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims, after considering the liabilities accrued with 
respect to all such matters and claims, will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows. Actual results could vary, among other things, due to the uncertainties involved in litigation.
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IITTEEMM  44..        MMIINNEE  SSAAFFEETTYY  DDIISSCCLLOOSSUURREESS

Not applicable.

IINNFFOORRMMAATTIIOONN  AABBOOUUTT  OOUURR  EEXXEECCUUTTIIVVEE  OOFFFFIICCEERRSS

The following table sets forth certain information as of November 16, 2021 concerning the Company’s executive 
officers. All of the Company’s executive officers serve terms of one year and until their successors are elected and qualified.

NNaammee   AAggee   TTiittllee
John C. Pfeifer  56  President and Chief Executive Officer
John J. Bryant  63  Executive Vice President and President, Defense Segment
Ignacio A. Cortina  50  Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
James W. Johnson  57  Executive Vice President and President, Fire & Emergency Segment
Bradley M. Nelson  52  Executive Vice President and President, Commercial Segment
Frank R. Nerenhausen  57  Executive Vice President and President, Access Equipment Segment
Michael E. Pack  47  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Jason P. Baab  47  Senior Vice President, Corporate Development and Strategy
Bryan K. Brandt  53  Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer
Thomas P. Hawkins  56  Senior Vice President, Government Relations
Anupam Khare  57  Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Emma M. McTague  48  Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

John C. Pfeifer. Mr. Pfeifer joined the Company in 2019 as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. In May 
2020, Mr. Pfeifer assumed the position of President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. On November 18, 2020, it 
was announced that Mr. Pfeifer was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer effective on April 2, 2021. Prior to 
joining the Company, he served as Senior Vice President and President - Mercury Marine, of Brunswick Corporation, a 
designer, manufacturer and marketer of marine engines and marine parts and accessories, from 2014 to 2019. Prior to 
that, Mr. Pfeifer served as Vice President and President - Mercury Marine of Brunswick Corporation from 2014 to 2018. Mr. 
Pfeifer is a director of The Manitowoc Company, Inc.

John J. Bryant. Mr. Bryant joined the Company in 2010 as Vice President and General Manager of Marine Corps 
Programs - Defense segment. He served as Vice President of Programs - Defense segment from 2013 to 2016 and as Senior 
Vice President and President, Defense Segment from 2016 until his appointment to his current position of Executive Vice 
President and President, Defense Segment in February 2018. Prior to joining Oshkosh Defense, he served as a Professor of 
Program Management at the Defense Acquisition University. Mr. Bryant retired from the U.S. Marine Corps with the rank of 
Colonel in 2008.

Ignacio A. Cortina. Mr. Cortina joined the Company in 2006 with the acquisition of JLG. He has held various roles of 
increasing responsibility, serving as the Company’s Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from 2011 to 2015 and 
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary from 2015 to 2016. Prior to joining the Company, he spent seven 
years in private practice in the Washington, D.C. area. He was appointed to his current position of Executive Vice President, 
General Counsel and Secretary in 2016.

James W. Johnson. Mr. Johnson joined the Company in 2007 as Director of Dealer Development for Pierce. He was 
appointed to Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing for Pierce in 2009 and was appointed to his current position of 
Executive Vice President and President, Fire & Emergency Segment in 2010.

Bradley M. Nelson. Mr. Nelson joined the Company in 2011 and served as Global Vice President of Marketing for JLG 
from 2011 to 2013. He then served as Senior Vice President and President, Commercial Segment from 2013 to September 
2021 and was appointed to his current position of Executive Vice President and President, Commercial Segment in 
September 2021.
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Frank R. Nerenhausen. Mr. Nerenhausen joined the Company in 1986 and has served in various assignments, including 
Vice President of Concrete & Refuse Sales & Marketing for McNeilus from 2008 to 2010 and Executive Vice President and 
President, Commercial Segment from 2010 to 2012. He was appointed to his current position of Executive Vice President 
and President, Access Equipment Segment in 2012.

Michael E. Pack. Mr. Pack joined the Company in 2006 as Senior Director of Financial Analysis and Controls and has 
served in various assignments in the Commercial, Access Equipment and Fire & Emergency segments, including Vice 
President Finance - Fire & Emergency from 2012 to 2020. He was appointed to his current position of Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in April 2020.

Jason P. Baab. Mr. Baab joined the Company in 2017 as Vice President of Corporate Development and was appointed 
to his current position of Senior Vice President, Corporate Development and Strategy in October 2021. Prior to joining the 
Company, he served as Vice President of Corporate Development for Fortune Brands Home & Security, Inc., a home and 
security products company, from 2013 to 2016.

Bryan K. Brandt. Mr. Brandt joined the Company in 2016 as Vice President, Global Branding and Communications. He 
was appointed to his current position of Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer in September 2018. Prior to 
joining the Company, he spent more than twenty years with Bemis Company, Inc., a global supplier of flexible packaging, in 
numerous positions of increasing responsibility, most recently as Vice President of Marketing and Transformation for Bemis 
North America from 2014 to 2016.

Thomas P. Hawkins. Mr. Hawkins joined the Company in September 2018 as Senior Vice President of Government 
Relations. Mr. Hawkins has 29 years of government service, most recently as the National Security Advisor with the Office 
of the Senate Republican Leader from 2007 to 2018.

Anupam Khare. Mr. Khare joined the Company in April 2018 as Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer. He 
previously served as the Executive Director - Digital Technology at United Technologies Corporation, a global technology 
products and services company that serves the building systems and aerospace industries, from 2015 to April 2018. Prior to 
that, Mr. Khare served in positions of increasing responsibility at Koch Industries, Inc., a manufacturer of a wide variety of 
products.

Emma M. McTague. Ms. McTague joined the Company in 2015 as Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer 
for the Access Equipment segment. She was appointed to her current position of Senior Vice President and Chief Human 
Resources Officer in February 2021.
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PPAARRTT  IIII

IITTEEMM  55..        MMAARRKKEETT  FFOORR  RREEGGIISSTTRRAANNTT’’SS  CCOOMMMMOONN  EEQQUUIITTYY,,  RREELLAATTEEDD  SSTTOOCCKKHHOOLLDDEERR  MMAATTTTEERRSS  AANNDD  IISSSSUUEERR  PPUURRCCHHAASSEESS  OOFF  
EEQQUUIITTYY  SSEECCUURRIITTIIEESS

CCoommmmoonn  SSttoocckk  RReeppuurrcchhaasseess

The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases of Common Stock made by the Company or on the 
Company’s behalf during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021:

PPeerriioodd   

TToottaall  NNuummbbeerr  ooff  
SShhaarreess

PPuurrcchhaasseedd     
AAvveerraaggee  PPrriiccee
PPaaiidd  ppeerr  SShhaarree     

TToottaall  NNuummbbeerr  ooff  
SShhaarreess

PPuurrcchhaasseedd  aass
PPaarrtt  ooff  PPuubblliiccllyy

AAnnnnoouunncceedd  PPllaannss  oorr
PPrrooggrraammss  ((11))    

MMaaxxiimmuumm  NNuummbbeerr  ooff
SShhaarreess  tthhaatt  MMaayy  YYeett  BBee  

PPuurrcchhaasseedd
UUnnddeerr  tthhee  PPllaannss  oorr

PPrrooggrraammss  ((11))  
July 1 - July 31   261,689  $ 120.39   261,689   7,090,501 
August 1 - August 31   286,164  $ 116.25   286,164   6,804,337 
September 1 - September 30   272,943  $ 109.93   272,943   6,531,394 

Total   820,796       820,796   6,531,394  

(1) In May 2019, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase authorization of 10,000,000 shares. At September 30, 
2021, the Company had repurchased 3,468,606 shares under this authorization. As a result, 6,531,394 shares of 
Common Stock remained available for repurchase under the repurchase authorization at September 30, 2021. The 
Company can use this authorization at any time as there is no expiration date associated with the authorization. From 
time to time, the Company may enter into a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan for the purpose of repurchasing shares under this 
authorization.

CCoommmmoonn  SSttoocckk  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol OSK. As of 
November 9, 2021, there were 1,936 holders of record of the Common Stock.

Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain information relating to the Company’s equity 
compensation plans.

The following information in this Item 5 is not deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject 
to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the 
Exchange Act, and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or 
the Exchange Act, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such a filing. The SEC 
requires the Company to include a line graph presentation comparing cumulative five year Common Stock returns with a 
broad-based stock index and either a nationally recognized industry index or an index of peer companies selected by the 
Company. The Company has chosen to use the Standard & Poor’s MidCap 400 market index as the broad-based index and 
the companies currently in the Standard Industry Classification Code 371 Index (motor vehicles and equipment) (the SIC 
Code 371 Index) as a more specific comparison.
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The comparisons assume that $100 was invested on September 30, 2016 in each of: the Company’s Common Stock, 
the Standard & Poor’s MidCap 400 market index and the SIC Code 371 Index. The total return assumes reinvestment of 
dividends and is adjusted for stock splits. The fiscal 2021 return listed in the charts below is based on closing prices per 
share on September 30, 2021. On that date, the closing price for the Company’s Common Stock was $102.37.

* $100 invested on September 30, 2016 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22001177    22001188    22001199    22002200    22002211   

Oshkosh Corporation  $ 149.20  $ 130.38  $ 140.81  $ 138.67  $ 195.66 
S&P MidCap 400 market index   117.52   134.21   130.87   128.04   183.97 
SIC Code 371 Index   129.91   125.37   129.17   234.03   372.18 
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IITTEEMM  66..        RREESSEERRVVEEDD

IITTEEMM  77..        MMAANNAAGGEEMMEENNTT’’SS  DDIISSCCUUSSSSIIOONN  AANNDD  AANNAALLYYSSIISS  OOFF  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  CCOONNDDIITTIIOONN  AANNDD  RREESSUULLTTSS  OOFF  OOPPEERRAATTIIOONNSS

GGEENNEERRAALL

The Company is a leading innovator, manufacturer and marketer of a wide range of essential specialty vehicles and 
vehicle bodies, including access equipment, defense trucks and trailers, fire & emergency vehicles, refuse collection 
vehicles and concrete mixers. The Company is a leading global designer and manufacturer of aerial work platforms under 
the “JLG” brand name. The Company is among the worldwide leaders in the design and manufacturing of telehandlers 
under the “JLG” and “SkyTrak” brand names. Under the “Jerr-Dan” brand name, the Company is a leading domestic 
designer and manufacturer and marketer of towing and recovery equipment. The Company manufactures defense trucks 
under the “Oshkosh” brand name and is a leading designer and manufacturer of severe-duty, tactical wheeled vehicles for 
the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD). The Company also designs and manufactures delivery vehicles for the United States 
Postal Service (USPS) and airport snow removal vehicles under the “Oshkosh” brand name. Under the “Pierce” brand name, 
the Company is among the leading global designers and manufacturers of fire trucks assembled on both custom and 
commercial chassis. Under the “Frontline” brand name, the Company is a leading domestic designer, manufacturer and 
marketer of broadcast and command vehicles. The Company designs and manufactures Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting 
(ARFF) vehicles under the “Oshkosh” brand name. Under the “McNeilus” brand name, the Company designs and 
manufactures a wide range of automated, rear, front, side and top loading refuse collection vehicles. Under the 
“McNeilus,” “Oshkosh,” and “London” brand names, the Company designs and manufactures rear- and front-discharge 
concrete mixers. Under the “IMT” brand name, the Company is a leading domestic designer and manufacturer of field 
service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes.

Major products manufactured and marketed by each of the Company’s business segments are as follows:

Access Equipment — aerial work platforms and telehandlers used in a wide variety of construction, industrial, 
institutional and general maintenance applications to position workers and materials at elevated heights, as well as carriers 
and wreckers. Access Equipment customers include equipment rental companies, construction contractors, manufacturing 
companies, home improvement centers and towing companies.

Defense — tactical vehicles, trailers, weapons system integration and supply parts and services sold to the U.S. military 
and to other militaries around the world, delivery vehicles for the USPS, and snow removal vehicles for military and civilian 
airports.

Fire & Emergency — custom and commercial firefighting vehicles and equipment, ARFF vehicles, simulators, mobile 
command and control vehicles and other emergency vehicles primarily sold to fire departments, airports and other 
governmental units, as well as broadcast vehicles sold to broadcasters and TV stations.

Commercial — refuse collection vehicles sold to commercial and municipal waste haulers, concrete mixers sold to 
ready-mix companies and field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes sold to mining, construction and other 
companies.

All estimates referred to in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” refer to the Company’s estimates as of November 16, 2021.

In October 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from 
September 30 to December 31. Accordingly, the Company will report a transition quarter that runs from October 1, 2021 
through December 31, 2021 (Stub Period). The Company’s next full fiscal year will run from January 1, 2022 through 
December 31, 2022. As a result, all references in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations” to a quarter or year are to the Company’s historical fiscal quarter or fiscal year unless stated 
otherwise.
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OOVVEERRVVIIEEWW

The Company entered fiscal 2021 in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, which negatively impacted its sales in the 
first half of the year, particularly in the Access Equipment segment. As a result of the reduction in demand, the Access 
Equipment segment implemented production shutdowns of two weeks per month in the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and one 
week per month in the second quarter of fiscal 2021. Higher COVID-19 infection rates also resulted in production 
challenges in both the Defense and Fire & Emergency segments in the first half of fiscal 2021. During the second quarter of 
fiscal 2021, positive vaccination progress, and the confidence that brought to the marketplace, caused the U.S. economy to 
begin to rebound. As a result of the improving economy, the Company experienced a strong return in demand for many of 
its products. This rapid rebound has coincided with significant supply chain and logistics disruptions across the globe, which 
in turn have led to labor inefficiencies within the Company’s production facilities and higher freight costs to expedite parts. 
The rapid increase in business activity across the globe has also caused the Company to experience significant inflation in 
materials, freight and labor costs. The Company increased prices multiple times during fiscal 2021 in its non-Defense 
segments in an effort to offset the higher input costs, but the realization of the price increases is delayed due to existing 
backlog at the time the price increases were implemented.

Consolidated net sales in fiscal 2021 increased $880.5 million, or 12.8%, to $7.74 billion compared to fiscal 2020 
primarily as a result of an increase in sales in the Access Equipment segment in the second half of fiscal 2021 as the COVID-
19 pandemic significantly impacted demand in this segment in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020. Higher Joint 
Light Tactical Vehicle (JLTV) production in the Defense segment and increased deliveries in the Fire & Emergency segment, 
including the recognition of several multi-unit international deliveries, also favorably impacted sales in fiscal 2021.

Consolidated operating income was $544.7 million, or 7.0% of sales, in fiscal 2021, an increase of 11.5% compared to 
fiscal 2020. The increase in consolidated operating income was primarily due to the impact of higher gross margin 
associated with higher sales volume, offset in part by higher material & freight costs and higher incentive compensation 
expense.

The increase in operating income, along with a significant tax benefit associated with the carryback of a U.S. net 
operating loss to prior years, resulted in diluted earnings per share of $6.83 in fiscal 2021, up significantly from $4.72 in 
fiscal 2020.

Fiscal 2021 results included a $75.3 million tax benefit associated with the carryback of the U.S. net operating loss to 
prior years and an $11.7 million tax benefit associated with the release of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets in 
Europe, offset in part by after-tax charges of $11.7 million associated with restructuring actions in the Access Equipment 
segment and $0.8 million associated with business acquisition costs in the Defense segment. In the aggregate, these items 
accounted for a net $74.5 million, or $1.08 per share, benefit in fiscal 2021. Fiscal 2020 results included after-tax charges 
related to restructuring actions of $17.9 million, the establishment of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets in 
Europe of $11.4 million, an after-tax charge of $6.5 million associated with debt extinguishment costs incurred in 
connection with the refinancing of the Company’s senior notes, offset in part by a $14.2 million after-tax gain on a property 
and business interruption insurance recovery, an after-tax gain of $3.2 million on an arbitration settlement in the Defense 
segment and an after-tax gain of $2.8 million on the sale of a business in the Commercial segment. In the aggregate, these 
items accounted for a net $15.6 million, or $0.22 per share, charge in fiscal 2020.

In January 2021, the Company acquired Pratt & Miller Engineering & Fabrications, LLC (Pratt Miller), an advanced 
engineering, technology and innovation provider for motorsports and multiple ground vehicle markets, for $111 million.
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In February 2021, the Company was notified that the USPS selected the Company to build its Next Generation Delivery 
Vehicle (NGDV). The indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (IDIQ) contract allows the USPS to purchase between 50,000 
and 165,000 units over 10 years. The NGDV provides the USPS the ability to significantly modernize its delivery fleet with 
improved safety, reliability, sustainability and cost-efficiency while providing a much better working experience for the 
nation’s postal carriers. The Company’s offering provides the USPS with both zero-emission battery electric vehicles (BEV) 
and fuel efficient, low emission internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles. The vehicle design also provides the USPS with 
the flexibility of converting ICE units to BEV in the future. The initial $482 million contract provides for engineering to 
finalize the production vehicle design, and for tooling and factory build-out activities that are necessary prior to vehicle 
production. The Company expects to begin delivering production vehicles in the second half of calendar 2023.

In June 2021, the U.S. Army awarded the Company a 6-year contract worth up to $943 million for the Stryker Medium 
Caliber Weapons System, representing an important new adjacency for the Defense segment. In June 2021, the Company 
also announced that Madison, Wisconsin is operating the Company’s revolutionary new electric fire truck, the Pierce 
Volterra. The Volterra is a significant step forward for electric vehicles and is another milestone in Oshkosh’s two decade-
plus history of electrifying products. 

Demand for the Company’s products has been robust. Backlog is up significantly in all segments, leading to 
consolidated backlog of $8.08 billion at September 30, 2021. However, the current supply chain and logistics disruptions 
are making it difficult to forecast sales volume. While the Company’s backlogs support a 10% to 15% increase in sales in the 
Stub Period compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2021, the Company expects parts availability to constrain its ability to 
deliver higher sales. As a result of this uncertainty, the Company is unable to provide quantitative expectations for the Stub 
Period. The Company expects that Stub Period earnings per share will be significantly lower than the first quarter of fiscal 
2021 and may approach break-even levels.

The Company expects that unfavorable price/cost dynamics will be a $75 million to $85 million headwind in the Stub 
Period versus the first quarter of fiscal 2021. Steel and other component costs have continued to increase. The Company 
has taken multiple pricing actions in its non-Defense businesses over the past several quarters, and in many cases, prices 
are now greater than 10% above early fiscal 2021 levels. The Company expects these price increases to enable it to achieve 
price/cost equilibrium based on the cost escalation that it has seen to date. However, the Company still needs to work 
through large backlogs, so the Company anticipates it will take until the end of the second quarter of calendar 2022 for 
these pricing actions to largely catch up with costs. If costs escalate further, the Company expects to take additional pricing 
actions.

The Company also expects higher spending levels in the Stub Period versus the first quarter of fiscal 2021. COVID-19 
infection rates spiked early in the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and the Company’s spending levels remained low. Since then, 
spending levels have begun to normalize to pre-COVID-19 levels. The Company also expects that parts availability 
constraints will continue to drive labor inefficiencies.

The Company continued to execute its disciplined capital allocation strategy in fiscal 2021. The Company returned 
$198.2 million of cash to shareholders through the repurchase of 927,934 shares of stock and payment of quarterly 
dividends. In addition, the Company recently announced an increase in its quarterly dividend rate of 12%, to $0.37, per 
share beginning in November 2021. This was the Company’s eighth straight year of a double-digit percentage increase in its 
dividend rate.
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RREESSUULLTTSS  OOFF  OOPPEERRAATTIIOONNSS  ––  FFIISSCCAALL  22002211  CCOOMMPPAARREEDD  WWIITTHH  FFIISSCCAALL  22002200

CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  RREESSUULLTTSS

The following table presents consolidated results (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ 7,737.3  $ 6,856.8  $ 880.5   12.8%
Cost of sales   6,516.5   5,736.5   780.0   13.6%
Gross income   1,220.8   1,120.3   100.5   9.0%

% of sales   15.8%  16.3%  -0.5%    
SG&A expenses   666.5   620.6   45.9   7.4%
Amortization   9.6   11.0   (1.4)   -12.7%
Operating income   544.7   488.7   56.0   11.5%

% of sales   7.0%  7.1%  -0.1%    

The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

North America  $ 6,748.5  $ 6,023.7  $ 724.8   12.0%
Europe, Africa and Middle East   504.8   413.7   91.1   22.0%
Rest of the world   484.0   419.4   64.6   15.4%
  $ 7,737.3  $ 6,856.8  $ 880.5   12.8%

Net sales increased as a result of higher Access Equipment segment sales, largely as a result of the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on its markets in fiscal 2020. Additionally, Defense segment sales improved on increased JLTV 
production, and Fire & Emergency segment sales were up on higher deliveries, including higher multi-unit international 
deliveries.

The decrease in gross margin was due to higher material costs (130 basis points), offset in part by improved 
manufacturing absorption as a result of higher production volume (50 basis points) and lower engineering & product 
development costs (40 basis points).

The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was generally a result of higher incentive compensation 
costs.

The increase in operating income was primarily due to the higher gross margin associated with higher consolidated 
sales volume ($180 million), favorable mix ($20 million), improved manufacturing absorption as a result of higher 
production volume ($13 million) and lower restructuring-related costs ($12 million), offset in part by unfavorable material 
costs ($97 million), higher incentive compensation costs ($62 million) and higher product liability activity ($12 million).

The following table presents consolidated non-operating changes (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Interest expense, net of interest income  $ (44.7)  $ (51.8)  $ 7.1   -13.7%
Miscellaneous income (expense)   (2.1)   2.2   (4.3)   -195.5%
                 
Provision for income taxes   25.2   112.8   (87.6)   -77.7%

Effective tax rate   5.1%  25.7%  -20.6%    
                 
Losses of unconsolidated affiliates  $ —   $ (1.8)  $ 1.8   -100.0%
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The decrease in interest expense net of interest income was due to the absence of debt extinguishment costs. Fiscal 
2020 included $8.5 million of debt extinguishment costs incurred in connection with refinancing the Company’s senior 
notes partially offset by $3.3 million of interest income related to a favorable arbitration settlement in the Defense 
segment.

Other miscellaneous income (expense) primarily related to gains and losses on investments, net foreign currency 
transaction gains and losses, and non-service costs of the Company’s pension plans. Fiscal 2020 also included $6.2 million 
of income on an insurance recovery at the Commercial segment.

Income tax expense in fiscal 2021 included discrete tax benefits of $96.0 million, primarily related to the carryback of 
the net operating loss to previous tax years with higher federal statutory tax rates ($75.3 million) and the reversal of a tax 
valuation allowance recorded against certain foreign net deferred tax assets in Europe ($11.7 million). Fiscal 2020 results 
were adversely impacted by discrete tax charges of $8.0 million, including tax valuation reserves recorded against certain 
foreign net deferred tax assets in Europe ($11.4 million). See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a 
reconciliation of the effective tax rate compared to the U.S. statutory tax rate.

Losses of unconsolidated affiliates primarily represented the Company’s equity interest in a commercial entity in 
Mexico.

SSEEGGMMEENNTT  RREESSUULLTTSS

AAcccceessss  EEqquuiippmmeenntt

The following table presents the Access Equipment segment results (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ 3,072.1  $ 2,515.1  $ 557.0   22.1%
Cost of sales   2,599.1   2,090.6   508.5   24.3%
Gross income   473.0   424.5   48.5   11.4%

% of sales   15.4%  16.9%  -1.5%    
Operating expenses   223.9   225.9   (2.0)   -0.9%
Operating income   249.1   198.6   50.5   25.4%

% of sales   8.1%  7.9%  0.2%    

Segment net sales increased as a result of improved market demand, led by North America. The third and fourth 
quarters of fiscal 2020 were impacted by lower market demand due in large part to the economic downturn as a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

The decrease in segment gross margin was due to unfavorable material & logistics costs (190 basis points), unfavorable 
product and customer mix (60 basis points) and product liability activity (50 basis points), offset in part by favorable fixed 
manufacturing absorption as a result of higher production volume (160 basis points).

The increase in segment operating income was primarily due to the impact of higher gross margin associated with 
higher sales volume ($135 million) and favorable fixed manufacturing absorption as a result of higher production volume 
($25 million), offset in part by unfavorable material and logistics costs ($56 million), higher incentive compensation costs 
($34 million) and higher product liability activity ($17 million).
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DDeeffeennssee

The following table presents the Defense segment results (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ 2,525.6  $ 2,311.5  $ 214.1   9.3%
Cost of sales   2,199.1   2,017.5   181.6   9.0%
Gross income   326.5   294.0   32.5   11.1%

% of sales   12.9%  12.7%  0.2%    
Operating expenses   128.7   105.9   22.8   21.5%
Operating income   197.8   188.1   9.7   5.2%

% of sales   7.8%  8.1%  -0.3%    

Segment net sales increased as a result of higher JLTV and Family of Heavy Tactical Vehicles (FHTV) program volumes 
and sales of Pratt Miller ($64 million) after its acquisition in January 2021, offset in part by lower Family of Medium Tactical 
Vehicles (FMTV) program volume. The Company expects domestic JLTV sales will decrease after fiscal 2021.

The increase in segment gross margin was due to lower engineering & product development costs (50 basis points) and 
improved product mix (30 basis points), offset in part by production inefficiencies (60 basis points).

The increase in segment operating income was primarily a result of the impact of higher gross margin associated with 
higher sales volume ($28 million), lower engineering & product development costs ($9 million) and favorable mix 
($9 million), offset by production inefficiencies ($16 million), higher warranty costs ($6 million), higher incentive 
compensation costs ($5 million), higher material costs ($4 million) and the amortization of intangibles associated with the 
Pratt Miller acquisition ($4 million). Changes in estimates on contracts accounted for under the cost-to-cost method 
increased operating income by $19.4 million and $16.2 million in fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively.

FFiirree  &&  EEmmeerrggeennccyy

The following table presents the Fire & Emergency segment results (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ 1,226.6  $ 1,107.0  $ 119.6   10.8%
Cost of sales   959.7   874.3   85.4   9.8%
Gross income   266.9   232.7   34.2   14.7%

% of sales   21.8%  21.0%  0.8%    
Operating expenses   92.7   86.2   6.5   7.5%
Operating income   174.2   146.5   27.7   18.9%

% of sales   14.2%  13.2%  1.0%    

Segment net sales increased due to higher ARFF vehicle volume ($54 million) as a number of multi-unit awards were 
recognized in fiscal 2021, higher fire truck sales volume ($50 million) and improved pricing ($18 million). Fire truck 
deliveries in fiscal 2020 were negatively impacted by workforce availability constraints resulting from the COVID-19 
pandemic and delivery delays resulting from COVID-19 related travel restrictions that prevented customers from inspecting 
and accepting trucks.

The increase in segment gross margin was primarily attributable to improved pricing (90 basis points) and favorable 
product mix (40 basis points), offset in part by higher material costs (60 basis points).

The increase in segment operating income was largely a result of the impact of higher gross margin associated with 
higher sales volume ($27 million), improved pricing ($18 million), offset in part by higher material costs ($9 million) and 
higher incentive compensation costs ($7 million).
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CCoommmmeerrcciiaall

The following table presents the Commercial segment results (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ 937.6  $ 957.8  $ (20.2)   -2.1%
Cost of sales   782.8   788.5   (5.7)   -0.7%
Gross income   154.8   169.3   (14.5)   -8.6%

% of sales   16.5%  17.7%  -1.2%    
Operating expenses   83.8   88.1   (4.3)   -4.9%
Operating income   71.0   81.2   (10.2)   -12.6%

% of sales   7.6%  8.5%  -0.9%    

Segment net sales decreased as a result of the sale of the concrete batch plant business in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2020 ($35 million) and lower package sales, which include both a third-party chassis and a body ($26 million), offset in part 
by improved refuse collection vehicle ($29 million) and concrete mixer ($20 million) sales. Front-discharge concrete mixer 
volume was low in fiscal 2020 as a result of the ramp-up of production to a new model. Fiscal 2020 was also impacted by 
lower market demand due in large part to the economic downturn as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The decrease in gross margin was primarily attributable to unfavorable material & logistics costs (290 basis points) and 
the absence of a business interruption insurance recovery (130 basis points), offset in part by favorable product mix 
(160 basis points), lower product liability costs (40 basis points), lower engineering spending (40 basis points) and the 
absence of restructuring costs (40 basis points).

The decrease in segment operating income was primarily due to unfavorable material costs ($27 million) and the 
absence of the business interruption insurance recovery ($12 million), offset in part by favorable product mix ($8 million), 
the absence of restructuring costs ($6 million), lower engineering costs ($5 million), improved pricing ($5 million) and lower 
product liability costs ($4 million).

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd  IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt  eelliimmiinnaattiioonnss

The following table presents the corporate costs and intersegment eliminations (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     CChhaannggee     %%  CChhaannggee   

Net sales  $ (24.6)  $ (34.6)  $ 10.0   -28.9%
Cost of sales   (24.2)   (34.4)   10.2   -29.7%
Gross income   (0.4)   (0.2)   (0.2)   100.0%
Operating expenses   147.0   125.5   21.5   17.1%
Operating income   (147.4)   (125.7)   (21.7)   17.3%

Corporate operating expenses increased as a result of higher incentive compensation costs ($15 million) and the return 
of spending related to temporary cost reductions in fiscal 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic ($5 million).

FFIISSCCAALL  22002200  CCOOMMPPAARREEDD  WWIITTHH  FFIISSCCAALL  22001199

The comparison of the fiscal 2020 results with the fiscal 2019 results can be found in the “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis” section in the Company’s fiscal 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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LLIIQQUUIIDDIITTYY  AANNDD  CCAAPPIITTAALL  RREESSOOUURRCCEESS

The Company generates significant capital resources from operating activities, which is the expected primary source of 
funding for the Company. In addition to cash generated from operations, the Company had other sources of liquidity 
available at September 30, 2021, including $1.38 billion of cash and cash equivalents and $832.8 million of unused available 
capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined in “Liquidity”). Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility could, 
as discussed below, be limited by the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement (as defined in “Liquidity”). The 
Company was in compliance and expects to remain in compliance with all financial covenants contained in the Credit 
Agreement.

The Company continues to actively monitor its liquidity position and working capital needs and prioritizes capital 
expenditures related to capacity and strategic investments. The Company remains in a stable overall capital resources and 
liquidity position that is adequate to meet its projected needs. In March 2020, the Company suspended its share 
repurchase program in response to business uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. During June 2021, the 
Company reinitiated the share repurchase program and repurchased over $100 million in shares during the remainder of 
fiscal 2021. As of September 30, 2021, the Company had approximately 6.5 million shares of Common Stock remaining 
under the repurchase authorization.

FFiinnaanncciiaall  CCoonnddiittiioonn  aatt  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211

The Company’s capitalization was as follows (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,375.8   $ 582.9 
Total debt   818.8    823.1 
Total shareholders’ equity   3,247.8   2,850.7 
Total capitalization (debt plus equity)   4,066.6   3,673.8 
Debt to total capitalization   20.1%   22.4%

The Company’s ratio of debt to total capitalization of 20.1% at September 30, 2021 remained within its targeted range. 
The Company’s goal is to maintain an investment-grade credit rating. The rating agencies periodically update the 
Company’s credit ratings as events or changes in economic conditions occur. At September 30, 2021, the long-term credit 
ratings assigned to the Company’s senior debt securities by the credit rating agencies engaged by the Company were as 
follows:

RRaattiinngg  AAggeennccyy   RRaattiinngg
Fitch Ratings  BBB-
Moody’s Investor Services, Inc.  Baa3
Standards & Poor’s  BBB

Consolidated days sales outstanding (defined as “Trade Receivables” at quarter end divided by “Net Sales” for the most 
recent quarter multiplied by 90 days) was 42 days at September 30, 2021, up slightly from 41 days at September 30, 2020. 
Days sales outstanding for segments other than the Defense segment was 51 days at September 30, 2021, up slightly from 
50 days at September 30, 2020. Consolidated inventory turns (defined as “Cost of Sales” on an annualized basis, divided by 
the average “Inventory” at the past five quarter end periods) increased from 3.8 times at September 30, 2020 to 4.7 times 
at September 30, 2021 primarily as a result of lower inventory levels in the Access Equipment segment. Inventories in the 
Access Equipment segment were elevated in fiscal 2020 due to the sudden decrease in customer demand as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.
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OOppeerraattiinngg  CCaasshh  FFlloowwss

Operating activities provided $1.22 billion of cash during fiscal 2021 compared to $327.3 million during fiscal 2020. The 
increase in cash provided by operating activities in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020 was due to the timing of year-end 
within the COVID-19 pandemic. Sales declined significantly during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2020, which drove 
up finished goods inventory and reduced accounts receivable outstanding at September 30, 2020. At the same time, the 
Company reduced production at its manufacturing plants, which drove down accounts payable at September 30, 2020. 
Demand increased significantly in the third and fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, which allowed the Company to reduce 
finished goods inventory levels while at the same time increasing production. The higher sales and production resulted in 
an increase in accounts receivable and accounts payable levels at September 30, 2021. Altogether, inventory, accounts 
receivable and accounts payable provided $573 million more cash in fiscal 2021 than in fiscal 2020. Improved results 
coming out of the COVID-19 pandemic also resulted in an increase in consolidated net income of $148 million.

IInnvveessttiinngg  CCaasshh  FFlloowwss

Investing activities used cash of $245.6 million during fiscal 2021 compared to $77.6 million in fiscal 2020. Additions to 
property, plant and equipment of $104.4 million in fiscal 2021 was generally consistent with fiscal 2020. The Company 
anticipates that it will spend $275 million on capital expenditures over the twelve month period ended September 30, 
2021. The expected increase in capital spending over the next twelve months reflects the set-up of the NGDV 
manufacturing plant in Spartanburg, SC, for which the Company will receive customer advances. The Company used 
available cash to fund the acquisition of Pratt Miller in the second quarter of fiscal 2021 and increased its investments in 
affiliates by $38 million in fiscal 2021. In addition, a customer in the Access Equipment segment purchased a large amount 
of equipment in the first quarter of fiscal 2020 that the customer was previously renting. This transaction increased 
proceeds received from the sale of equipment held for rental by $26.8 million in fiscal 2020 as compared to fiscal 2021.

FFiinnaanncciinngg  CCaasshh  FFlloowwss

Financing activities used cash of $180.4 million in fiscal 2021 compared to $115.5 million in fiscal 2020. The increase in 
cash utilized for financing activities was due to an increase in Common Stock repurchases under the authorization approved 
by the Company’s Board of Directors as the Company paused repurchases in fiscal 2020 to preserve liquidity when the 
COVID-19 pandemic struck. In fiscal 2021, the Company repurchased 927,934 shares of its Common Stock at an aggregate 
cost of $107.8 million. In fiscal 2020, the Company repurchased 550,853 shares of its Common Stock at an aggregate cost 
of $40.8 million.

LLiiqquuiiddiittyy

Senior Credit Agreement

In April 2018, the Company entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with various lenders (the 
“Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for (i) an unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit 
Facility”) that matures in April 2023 with an initial maximum aggregate amount of availability of $850 million and (ii) an 
unsecured $325 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) due in quarterly principal installments of $4.1 million commencing as 
of September 30, 2019 with a balloon payment of $264.1 million due at maturity in April 2023. As of September 30, 2021, 
the Company has prepaid all required quarterly principal installments and $39.1 million of the balloon payment on the 
Term Loan. At September 30, 2021, outstanding letters of credit of $17.2 million reduced available capacity under the 
Revolving Credit Facility to $832.8 million.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay (i) an unused commitment fee ranging from 0.125% to 
0.275% per annum of the average daily unused portion of the aggregate revolving credit commitments under the Credit 
Agreement and (ii) a fee ranging from 0.563% to 1.75% per annum of the maximum amount available to be drawn for each 
letter of credit issued and outstanding under the Credit Agreement.
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Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a variable rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus a specified margin, which 
may be adjusted upward or downward depending on whether certain criteria are satisfied, or (ii) for dollar-denominated 
loans only, the base rate (which is the highest of (a) the administrative agent’s prime rate, (b) the federal funds rate plus 
0.50% or (c) the sum of 1% plus one-month LIBOR) plus a specified margin, which may be adjusted upward or downward 
depending on whether certain criteria are satisfied.

Covenant Compliance

The Credit Agreement contains various restrictions and covenants, including requirements that the Company maintain 
certain financial ratios at prescribed levels and restrictions, subject to certain exceptions, on the ability of the Company and 
certain of its subsidiaries to consolidate or merge, create liens, incur additional indebtedness, and dispose of substantially 
all assets. The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement as of 
September 30, 2021 and expects to be able to meet the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement over the 
next twelve months.

Senior Notes

In May 2018, the Company issued $300.0 million of 4.600% unsecured senior notes due May 15, 2028 (the “2028 
Senior Notes”). In February 2020, the Company issued $300.0 million of 3.100% unsecured senior notes due March 1, 2030 
(the “2030 Senior Notes”) at a discount of $1.2 million. The Company recognized an approximately $8.5 million loss 
associated with the issuance of the 2030 Senior Notes in fiscal 2020. The 2028 Senior Notes and the 2030 Senior Notes 
were issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”) between the Company and a trustee. The Indenture contains 
customary affirmative and negative covenants. The Company has the option to redeem the 2028 and 2030 Senior Notes at 
any time for a premium.

Refer to Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Company’s 
debt as of September 30, 2021.
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CCoonnttrraaccttuuaall  OObblliiggaattiioonnss

The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits, including interest, for uncertain tax positions was $52.4 million as 
of September 30, 2021. Payment of these obligations would result from settlements with tax authorities. Due to the 
difficulty in determining the timing of the settlement, these obligations are not included in the summary of the Company’s 
fixed contractual obligations. See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information 
regarding the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2021. Following is a summary of the Company’s 
contractual obligations and payments due by period following September 30, 2021 (in millions):

 PPaayymmeennttss  DDuuee  bbyy  PPeerriioodd   
       LLeessss  TThhaann                 MMoorree  TThhaann   
  TToottaall     11  YYeeaarr     11--33  YYeeaarrss     33--55  YYeeaarrss     55  YYeeaarrss   
Long-term debt (including interest)(1)  $ 1,000.8  $ 26.3  $ 274.2  $ 46.2  $ 654.1 
Lease obligations   249.7   52.1   72.8   41.6   83.2 
Purchase obligations(2)   2,020.5   1,946.7   73.8   —    —  
Other long-term liabilities(3)   734.9   51.0   91.5   58.3   534.1 
  $ 4,005.9  $ 2,076.1  $ 512.3  $ 146.1  $ 1,271.4  

(1) Interest was calculated based upon the interest rate in effect on September 30, 2021.
(2) The amounts for purchase obligations included above represent all obligations to purchase goods or services under 

agreements that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms.
(3) Represents other long-term liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, including the current portion of 

these liabilities. The projected timing of cash flows associated with these obligations is based on management’s 
estimates, which are based largely on historical experience. This amount also includes all liabilities under the 
Company’s pension and other postretirement benefit plans. See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for information regarding these liabilities and the plan assets available to satisfy them.

CCRRIITTIICCAALL  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  PPOOLLIICCIIEESS

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The Company considers the following policy to be the most critical in understanding the judgments that are 
involved in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the uncertainties that could impact the 
Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when control of the goods or services promised under a contract is 
transferred to the customer either at a point in time (e.g., upon delivery) or over time (e.g., as the Company performs 
under the contract) in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange 
for the goods or services. The Company accounts for a contract when it has approval and commitment from both parties, 
the rights and payment terms of the parties are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of 
consideration is probable. If collectability is not probable, the sale is deferred until collection becomes probable or payment 
is received. In fiscal 2021, approximately 38% of the Company’s revenues were recognized under the percentage-of-
completion accounting method.
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Contracts are reviewed to determine whether there is one or multiple performance obligations. A performance 
obligation is a promise to transfer a distinct good or service to a customer and represents the unit of accounting for 
revenue recognition. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the expected consideration (e.g., the transaction 
price) is allocated to each performance obligation identified in the contract based on the relative standalone selling price of 
each performance obligation, which is determinable based on observable standalone selling prices or is estimated using an 
expected cost plus a margin approach. Revenue is then recognized for the transaction price allocated to the performance 
obligation when control of the promised goods or services underlying the performance obligation is transferred. When the 
amount of consideration allocated to a performance obligation through this process differs from the invoiced amount, it 
results in a contract asset or liability. The identification of performance obligations within a contract requires significant 
judgment.

The following is a description of the primary activities from which the Company generates revenue.

Access Equipment, Fire & Emergency and Commercial segments revenue

The Company derives revenue in the Access Equipment, Fire & Emergency and Commercial segments (non-defense 
segments) through the sale of machinery, vehicles and related aftermarket parts and services. Customers include 
distributors and end-users. Contracts with customers generally exist upon the approval of a quote and/or purchase order 
by the Company and customer. Each contract is also assessed at inception to determine whether it is necessary to combine 
the contract with other contracts.

The Company’s non-defense segments offer various customer incentives within contracts, such as sales and marketing 
rebates, volume discounts and interest subsidies, some of which are variable and therefore must be estimated by the 
Company. Transaction prices may also be impacted by rights of return, primarily within the aftermarket parts business, 
which requires the Company to record a liability and asset representing its rights and obligations in the event a return 
occurs. The estimated return liability is based on historical experience rates.

Revenue for performance obligations consisting of machinery, vehicles and aftermarket parts (together, “product”) is 
recognized when the customer obtains control of the product, which typically occurs at a point in time, based on the 
shipping terms within the contract. In the Commercial segment, concrete mixer and refuse collection products are sold on 
both Company owned chassis and customer owned chassis. When performing work on a customer owned chassis, revenue 
is recognized over time based on the cost-to-cost method, as the Company is enhancing a customer owned asset.

All non-defense segments offer aftermarket services related to their respective products such as repair, refurbishment 
and maintenance (together, “services”). The Company generally recognizes revenue on service performance obligations 
over time using the method that results in the most faithful depiction of transfer of control to the customer. Non-defense 
segments also offer extended warranty coverage as an option on most products. The Company considers extended 
warranties to be service-type warranties and therefore a performance obligation. Service-type warranties differ from the 
Company’s standard, or assurance-type warranties, as they are generally separately priced and negotiated as part of the 
contract and/or provide additional coverage beyond what the customer or customer group that purchases the product 
would receive under the Company’s standard assurance-type warranty. The Company has concluded that its extended 
warranties are stand-ready obligations to perform and therefore recognizes revenue ratably over the coverage period.
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Defense segment revenue

The majority of the Company’s Defense segment net sales are derived through long-term contracts with the U.S. 
government to design, develop, manufacture or modify defense products. These contracts, which also include those under 
the U.S. Government-sponsored Foreign Military Sales (FMS) program, accounted for approximately 95% of Defense 
segment revenue in fiscal 2021. Contracts with Defense segment customers are generally fixed-price or cost-
reimbursement type contracts. Under fixed-price contracts, the price paid to the Company is generally not adjusted to 
reflect the Company’s actual costs except for costs incurred as a result of contract modifications. Certain fixed-price 
contracts include an incentive component under which the price paid to the Company is subject to adjustment based on 
the actual costs incurred. Under cost-reimbursement contracts, the price paid to the Company is determined based on the 
allowable costs incurred to perform plus a fee. The fee component of cost-reimbursement contracts can be fixed based on 
negotiations at contract inception or can vary based on performance against target costs established at the time of contract 
inception. The Company also designs, develops, manufactures or modifies defense products for international customers 
through Direct Commercial Sale contracts. The Defense segment supports its products through the sale of aftermarket 
parts and services. Aftermarket contracts can range from long-term supply agreements to ad hoc purchase orders for 
replacement parts.

The Company evaluates the promised goods and services within Defense segment contracts at inception to identify 
performance obligations. The goods and services in Defense segment contracts are typically not distinct from one another 
as they are generally customized and have complex inter-relationships and the Company is responsible for overall 
management of the contract. As a result, Defense segment contracts are typically accounted for as a single performance 
obligation. The Defense segment provides standard warranties for its products for periods that typically range from one to 
two years. These assurance-type warranties typically cannot be purchased separately and do not meet the criteria to be 
considered a performance obligation.

The Company determines the transaction price for each contract at inception based on the consideration that it 
expects to receive for the goods and services promised under the contract. This determination is made based on the 
Company’s current rights, excluding the impact of any subsequent contract modifications (including unexercised options) 
until they become legally enforceable. Contract modifications frequently occur within the Defense segment. The Company 
evaluates each modification to identify changes that impact price or scope of its contracts, which are then assessed to 
determine if the modification should be accounted for as an adjustment to an existing contract or as a separate contract. 
Contract modifications within the Defense segment are generally accounted for as a cumulative effect adjustment to 
existing contracts as they are not distinct from the goods and services within the existing contract.

For Defense segment contracts that include a variable component of the sale price, the Company estimates variable 
consideration. Variable consideration is included within the contract’s transaction price to the extent it is probable that a 
significant reversal of revenue will not occur. The Company evaluates its estimates of variable consideration on an ongoing 
basis and any adjustments are accounted for as changes in estimates in the period identified. Common forms of variable 
consideration within Defense segment contracts include cost reimbursement contracts that contain incentives, customer 
reimbursement rights and regulatory or customer negotiated penalties tied to contract performance.

The Company recognizes revenue on Defense segment contracts as performance obligations are satisfied and control 
of the underlying goods and services is transferred to the customer. In making this evaluation, the Defense segment 
considers contract terms, payment terms and whether there is an alternative future use for the good or service. Through 
this process the Company has concluded that substantially all of the Defense segment’s performance obligations, including 
a majority of performance obligations for aftermarket goods and services, transfer control to the customer over time. For 
U.S. government and FMS program contracts, this determination is supported by the inclusion of clauses within contracts 
that allow the customer to terminate a contract at its convenience. When the clause is present, the Company is entitled to 
compensation for the work performed through the date of notification at a price that reflects actual costs plus a reasonable 
margin in exchange for transferring its work in process to the customer. For contracts that do not contain termination for 
convenience provisions, the Company is generally able to support the over time transfer of control determination as a 
result of the customized nature of its goods and services, which create assets without an alternative use and contractual 
rights. 
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When transfer of control is not determined to be continuous over the term of the contract, the Company initially 
defers contract costs that relate to the contract or anticipated contract, as they generate or enhance assets that will be 
utilized to satisfy performance obligations in the future and are expected to be recovered. Deferred contract costs are 
subsequently amortized on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of transfer of the goods and services to which 
they relate. Unlike the JLTV and FMTV A2 contracts, for which the Company has concluded control of the performance 
obligations transfers continuously over the contract terms, the Company has concluded that control of the performance 
obligation for the USPS contract transfers during the production phase of the contract. As a result, the Company has 
recognized $34.8 million of deferred contract costs related to the USPS contract at September 30, 2021 consisting of 
engineering costs, setup costs and tooling costs. The Company anticipates the production phase of the contract will begin 
in 2023. The USPS contract contains milestone billings provisions, under which the Company billed and received $39.6 
million of advance payments from the customer as of September 30, 2021.

CCRRIITTIICCAALL  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  EESSTTIIMMAATTEESS

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” is based on the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates and updates its estimates. Management employs judgment in making its estimates but they are 
based on historical experience and currently available information and various other assumptions that the Company 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Management believes that its judgment is applied consistently and produces financial information that fairly depicts 
the results of operations for all periods presented.

Estimate-at-Completion (EAC). The Company has concluded that control of substantially all of the Defense segment’s 
performance obligations transfers to the customer continuously and therefore revenue is recognized over time. The 
Defense segment recognizes revenue on its performance obligations that are satisfied over time by measuring progress 
using the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion because it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer. 
Under the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion, the Defense segment measures progress based on the ratio 
of costs incurred to date to total estimated costs for the performance obligations. Due to the size and nature of these 
contracts, the estimation of total revenues and costs is highly complicated and judgmental. The Company must make 
assumptions regarding expected increases in wages and employee benefits, productivity and availability of labor, material 
costs and allocated fixed costs. Each contract is evaluated at contract inception to identify risks and estimate revenue and 
costs. In performing this evaluation, the Defense segment considers risks of contract performance such as technical 
requirements, schedule, duration and key contract dependencies. These considerations are then factored into the 
Company’s estimated revenue and costs. If a loss is expected on a performance obligation, the complete estimated loss is 
recorded in the period in which the loss is identified. Preliminary contract estimates are subject to change throughout the 
duration of the contract as additional information becomes available that impacts risks and estimated revenue and costs. 
Changes to production costs, overhead rates, learning curve and/or supplier performance can also impact these estimates. 
These estimates are highly judgmental, particularly the non-production costs on the JLTV and FMTV A2 contracts. The 
Company recognizes changes in estimated sales or costs and the resulting profit or loss on a cumulative basis. In addition, 
as contract modifications (e.g., new orders) are received, they are evaluated to determine if they represent a separate 
contract or the impact on the existing contract. As of September 30, 2021, the estimated remaining costs on the JLTV and 
FMTV A2 contracts represent the majority of the total estimated costs to complete in the Defense segment.

Changes in estimates on contracts accounted for under the cost-to-cost method on prior year revenues increased 
Defense segment operating income by $19.4 million in fiscal 2021 and $16.2 million in fiscal 2020.
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NNEEWW  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  SSTTAANNDDAARRDDSS

See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the impact of new accounting 
standards on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

CCUUSSTTOOMMEERRSS  AANNDD  BBAACCKKLLOOGG

Sales to the U.S. government comprised approximately 33% of the Company’s net sales in fiscal 2021. No other single 
customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s net sales for this period. A substantial majority of the Company’s 
net sales are derived from the fulfillment of customer orders that are received prior to commencing production.

The Company’s backlog as of September 30, 2021 increased 76.4% to $8.08 billion compared to $4.58 billion at 
September 30, 2020. Access Equipment segment backlog increased 652.1% to $2.76 billion at September 30, 2021 
compared to $366.7 million at September 30, 2020 as demand rebounded following the re-opening of economies and as a 
result of elevated customer fleet ages. The Access Equipment segment also faced significant supply chain disruptions as the 
economy rebounded from the COVID-19 pandemic, which limited production in the second half of fiscal 2021 and 
contributed to the higher backlog. Defense segment backlog increased 18.3% to $3.36 billion at September 30, 2021 
compared to $2.84 billion at September 30, 2020 primarily due to the initial order from the USPS for the NGDV program, 
offset in part by shipments under the JLTV contract. Fire & Emergency segment backlog increased 27.6% to $1.39 billion at 
September 30, 2021 compared to $1.09 billion at September 30, 2020 due to strong demand for fire trucks coming out of 
the COVID-19 pandemic as municipal budgets have been more resilient than the Company previously expected. Although 
Fire & Emergency segment backlog remained strong, orders softened for ARFF vehicles due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on airport budgets. Commercial segment backlog increased 101.1% to $569.4 million at September 30, 2021 
compared to $283.1 million at September 30, 2020 due to high demand for the Company’s new front-discharge concrete 
mixer and improved market demand for refuse collection vehicles and concrete mixers as demand returned coming out of 
the COVID- 19 pandemic.

Reported backlog excludes purchase options and announced orders for which definitive contracts have not been 
executed. Backlog information and comparisons thereof as of different dates may not be accurate indicators of future sales 
or the ratio of the Company’s future sales to the DoD versus its sales to other customers. Approximately 24% of the 
Company’s September 30, 2021 backlog is not expected to be filled in the twelve months ended September 30, 2022.

IITTEEMM  77AA..        QQUUAANNTTIITTAATTIIVVEE  AANNDD  QQUUAALLIITTAATTIIVVEE  DDIISSCCLLOOSSUURREESS  AABBOOUUTT  MMAARRKKEETT  RRIISSKK

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, certain commodity prices and foreign currency 
exchange rates. To reduce the risk from changes in foreign currency exchange and interest rates, the Company selectively 
uses financial instruments. All hedging transactions are authorized and executed pursuant to clearly defined policies and 
procedures, which strictly prohibit the use of financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk. The Company’s earnings exposure related to adverse movements in interest rates is primarily 
derived from outstanding floating rate debt instruments that are indexed to short-term market interest rates. In this 
regard, changes in U.S. and off-shore interest rates affect interest payable on the Company’s borrowings under its Credit 
Agreement. Based on debt outstanding at September 30, 2021, a 100 basis point increase or decrease in the average cost 
of the Company’s variable rate debt would increase or decrease annual pre-tax interest expense by approximately 
$2.3 million.
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The table below provides information about the Company’s debt obligations, which are sensitive to changes in interest 
rates (dollars in millions):

 EExxppeecctteedd  MMaattuurriittyy  DDaattee                   
  22002222     22002233     22002244     22002255     22002266     TThheerreeaafftteerr    TToottaall     FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee  

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess                                  
Long-term debt:                                 

Variable rate ($US)  $ —   $ 225.0  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 225.0  $ 225.0 
Average interest rate   1.4168%  1.7428%  —%  —%  —%  —%  1.5563%    

Fixed rate ($US)  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 600.0  $ 600.0  $ 661.2 
Average interest rate   3.8500%  3.8500%  3.8500%  3.8500%  3.8500%  3.5831%  3.7606%    

Commodity Price Risk. The Company is a purchaser of certain commodities, including steel, aluminum and composites. 
In addition, the Company is a purchaser of components and parts containing various commodities, including steel, 
aluminum, rubber and others which are integrated into the Company’s end products. The Company generally buys these 
commodities and components based upon market prices that are established with the vendor as part of the purchase 
process. The Company does not use commodity financial instruments to hedge commodity prices.

The Company generally obtains firm quotations from its significant components’ suppliers for its orders under firm, 
fixed-price contracts in its Defense segment. In the Company’s Access Equipment, Fire & Emergency and Commercial 
segments, the Company generally attempts to obtain firm pricing from most of its suppliers, consistent with backlog 
requirements and/or forecasted annual sales. To the extent that commodity prices increase and the Company does not 
have firm pricing from its suppliers, or its suppliers are not able to honor such prices, then the Company may experience 
margin declines to the extent it is not able to increase selling prices of its products.

Foreign Currency Risk. The Company’s operations consist of manufacturing in the U.S., Mexico, Canada, France, 
Australia, the United Kingdom and China and sales and limited vehicle body mounting activities on five continents. 
International sales comprised approximately 15% of overall net sales in fiscal 2021, of which approximately 52% involved 
exports from the U.S. The majority of export sales in fiscal 2021 were denominated in U.S. dollars. As a result of the 
manufacture and sale of the Company’s products in foreign markets, the Company’s earnings are affected by fluctuations in 
the value of foreign currencies in which certain of the Company’s transactions are denominated as compared to the value 
of the U.S. dollar. The Company’s operating results are principally exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S. 
dollar and the European currencies, primarily the Euro and the U.K. pound sterling, changes between the U.S. dollar and 
the Australian dollar, changes between the U.S. dollar and the Brazilian real, changes between the U.S. dollar and the 
Mexican peso, changes between the U.S. dollar and the Chinese renminbi and changes between the U.S. dollar and the 
Canadian dollar.
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IITTEEMM  88..        FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS

RREEPPOORRTT  OOFF  IINNDDEEPPEENNDDEENNTT  RREEGGIISSTTEERREEDD  PPUUBBLLIICC  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  FFIIRRMM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Oshkosh Corporation

OOppiinniioonn  oonn  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Oshkosh Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2021, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated November 16, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and 
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those 
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

CCrriittiiccaall  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements 
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex 
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, 
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the 
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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DDeeffeennssee  SSeeggmmeenntt  RReevveennuuee  ––  RReeffeerr  ttoo  NNoottee  33  ttoo  tthhee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s Defense segment recognized revenue on long-term contracts primarily with the U.S. Government for the 
production of goods, the provision of services, or a combination of both totaling $2,482.1 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2021. The Company’s firm-fixed long-term contracts are typically accounted for as a single performance 
obligation because the goods and services are generally customized and have complex inter-relationships and the Company 
is responsible for overall management of the contract. The Company recognizes revenue on Defense segment contracts as 
performance obligations are satisfied and control of the underlying goods and services is transferred to the customer. The 
Company measures progress based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to total estimated costs for the performance 
obligation under the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion. 

The estimated costs to complete for the Joint Light Tactical Vehicles (JLTV) contract represents the majority of the total 
estimated costs to complete in the Defense segment as of September 30, 2021. Given the complexity of this contract and 
the length of the contract term, together with the significant judgments necessary to estimate costs used to measure 
progress on this contract, auditing the estimates of costs for this contract required extensive audit effort and a high degree 
of auditor judgment, especially given the risks of contract performance, such as labor and material costs, schedule, and 
duration.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the estimated costs for the JLTV contract included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over revenue recognized over time, including management’s controls over 
estimated costs.

• We evaluated the appropriateness and consistency of the methods and assumptions used by management to develop 
the estimates of costs to completion.

• We tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s estimates of costs to completion. 

• We evaluated the estimates of costs to completion by performing the following:

o Observed completed vehicles and trailers on a sample basis to evaluate the progress to completion.

o Compared costs incurred to date to the costs management estimated to be incurred to date.

o Evaluated management’s ability to achieve the estimates of costs to completion by performing corroborating 
inquiries with the Company’s project managers and engineers, and comparing the estimates to management’s 
work plans, engineering specifications, and supplier contracts.

• We evaluated management’s ability to accurately estimate costs to completion by comparing actual results to 
management’s historical estimates and actual results on similar completed contracts.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 16, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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RREEPPOORRTT  OOFF  IINNDDEEPPEENNDDEENNTT  RREEGGIISSTTEERREEDD  PPUUBBLLIICC  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  FFIIRRMM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Oshkosh Corporation

OOppiinniioonn  oonn  IInntteerrnnaall  CCoonnttrrooll  oovveerr  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrttiinngg  

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Oshkosh Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as 
of September 30, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in 
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2021, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, of the Company and our 
report dated November 16, 2021, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn    

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained 
in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

DDeeffiinniittiioonn  aanndd  LLiimmiittaattiioonnss  ooff  IInntteerrnnaall  CCoonnttrrooll  oovveerr  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrttiinngg  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 16, 2021
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OOSSHHKKOOSSHH  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  IINNCCOOMMEE

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Net sales  $ 7,737.3  $ 6,856.8  $ 8,382.0 
Cost of sales   6,516.5   5,736.5   6,864.6 

Gross income   1,220.8   1,120.3   1,517.4 
             

Operating expenses:             
Selling, general and administrative   666.5   620.6   683.5 
Amortization of purchased intangibles   9.6   11.0   36.9 

Total operating expenses   676.1   631.6   720.4 
Operating income   544.7   488.7   797.0 
             
Other income (expense):             

Interest expense   (48.2)   (59.3)   (54.4)
Interest income   3.5   7.5   6.8 
Miscellaneous, net   (2.1)   2.2   1.3 

Income before income taxes and losses of unconsolidated affiliates   497.9   439.1   750.7 
Provision for income taxes   25.2   112.8   171.3 
Income before losses of unconsolidated affiliates   472.7   326.3   579.4 
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates   —    (1.8)   —  
Net income  $ 472.7  $ 324.5  $ 579.4 

             
Earnings per share:             

Basic  $ 6.90  $ 4.76  $ 8.30 
Diluted   6.83   4.72   8.21  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OOSSHHKKOOSSHH  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  CCOOMMPPRREEHHEENNSSIIVVEE  IINNCCOOMMEE

(Dollars in millions)

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Net income  $ 472.7  $ 324.5  $ 579.4 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:             

Employee pension and postretirement benefits   61.7   (26.5)   (49.4)
Currency translation adjustments   3.8   30.4   (36.3)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments   1.9   (0.7)   —  

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax   67.4   3.2   (85.7)
Comprehensive income  $ 540.1  $ 327.7  $ 493.7  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OOSSHHKKOOSSHH  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  BBAALLAANNCCEE  SSHHEEEETTSS

(Dollars in millions, except share and per share amounts)

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
AAsssseettss          
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,375.8  $ 582.9 
Receivables, net   1,017.3   857.6 
Unbilled receivables, net   421.1   483.6 
Inventories, net   1,267.4   1,505.4 
Income taxes receivable   278.1   45.4 
Other current assets   58.2   60.9 

Total current assets   4,417.9   3,535.8 
Property, plant and equipment, net   595.9   565.9 
Goodwill   1,052.0   1,009.5 
Purchased intangible assets, net   466.8   418.2 
Other long-term assets   359.0   286.5 
Total assets  $ 6,891.6  $ 5,815.9 

         
LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  aanndd  SShhaarreehhoollddeerrss’  EEqquuiittyy         
Current liabilities:         

Revolving credit facility and current maturities of long-term debt  $ —   $ 5.2 
Accounts payable   860.4   577.8 
Customer advances   654.3   491.4 
Payroll-related obligations   215.1   150.8 
Income taxes payable   64.9   14.7 
Other current liabilities   357.0   345.2 

Total current liabilities   2,151.7   1,585.1 
Long-term debt, less current maturities   818.8   817.9 
Other long-term liabilities   673.3   562.2 
Commitments and contingencies         
Shareholders’ equity:         

Preferred Stock ($.01 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized;
none issued and outstanding)   —    —  
Common Stock ($.01 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized;
75,101,465 shares issued)   0.7   0.7 
Additional paid-in capital   804.6   800.9 
Retained earnings   3,129.3   2,747.7 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (131.0)   (198.4)
Common Stock in treasury, at cost (7,089,782 and 6,950,298 shares, respectively)   (555.8)   (500.2)

Total shareholders’ equity   3,247.8   2,850.7 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 6,891.6  $ 5,815.9 

         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OOSSHHKKOOSSHH  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  SSHHAARREEHHOOLLDDEERRSS’  EEQQUUIITTYY

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

 

 
CCoommmmoonn

SSttoocckk     

AAddddiittiioonnaall
PPaaiidd--IInn
CCaappiittaall     

RReettaaiinneedd
EEaarrnniinnggss     

AAccccuummuullaatteedd
OOtthheerr

CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee
IInnccoommee  ((LLoossss))     

CCoommmmoonn
SSttoocckk  iinn
TTrreeaassuurryy
aatt  CCoosstt     TToottaall   

Balance at September 30, 2018  $ 0.7  $ 814.8  $ 2,007.9  $ (106.8)  $ (203.1)  $ 2,513.5 
Effect of adopting new Accounting Standards Updates (ASU):                         

Revenue recognition (ASU 2014-09)   —    —    (60.4)   —    —    (60.4)
Tax accounting for intra-entity asset transfers (ASU 2016-
16)   —    —    44.5   —    —    44.5 
Tax impact of U.S. tax reform on Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2018-02)   —    —    9.1   (9.1)   —    —  

Balance at October 1, 2018   0.7   814.8   2,001.1   (115.9)   (203.1)   2,497.6 
Net income   —    —    579.4   —    —    579.4 
Employee pension and postretirement benefits, net of
tax of $14.9   —    —    —    (49.4)   —    (49.4)
Currency translation adjustments   —    —    —    (36.3)   —    (36.3)
Cash dividends ($1.08 per share)   —    —    (75.5)   —    —    (75.5)
Repurchases of Common Stock   —    —    —    —    (350.1)   (350.1)
Exercise of stock options   —    (10.4)   —    —    21.7   11.3 
Stock-based compensation expense   —    29.0   —    —    —    29.0 
Payment of stock-based restricted and performance shares   —    (24.6)   —    —    24.6   —  
Shares tendered for taxes on stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    (7.3)   (7.3)
Other   —    (0.3)   —    —    1.4   1.1 
Balance at September 30, 2019   0.7   808.5   2,505.0   (201.6)   (512.8)   2,599.8 
Net income   —    —    324.5   —    —    324.5 
Employee pension and postretirement benefits, net of
tax of $8.6   —    —    —    (26.5)   —    (26.5)
Currency translation adjustments   —    —    —    30.4   —    30.4 
Cash dividends ($1.20 per share)   —    —    (81.8)   —    —    (81.8)
Repurchases of Common Stock   —    —    —    —    (40.8)   (40.8)
Exercise of stock options   —    (11.6)   —    —    37.7   26.1 
Stock-based compensation expense   —    29.3   —    —    —    29.3 
Payment of stock-based restricted and performance shares   —    (23.0)   —    —    23.0   —  
Shares tendered for taxes on stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    (10.7)   (10.7)
Other   —    (2.3)   —    (0.7)   3.4   0.4 
Balance at September 30, 2020   0.7   800.9   2,747.7   (198.4)   (500.2)   2,850.7 
Net income   —    —    472.7   —    —    472.7 
Employee pension and postretirement benefits, net of
tax of $19.4   —    —    —    61.7   —    61.7 
Currency translation adjustments   —    —    —    3.8   —    3.8 
Cash dividends ($1.32 per share)   —    —    (90.4)   —    —    (90.4)
Repurchases of Common Stock   —    —    —    —    (107.8)   (107.8)
Exercise of stock options   —    0.2   —    —    42.6   42.8 
Stock-based compensation expense   —    27.2   —    —    —    27.2 
Payment of stock-based restricted and performance shares   —    (23.3)   —    —    23.3   —  
Shares tendered for taxes on stock-based compensation   —    —    —    —    (14.3)   (14.3)
Other   —    (0.4)   (0.7)   1.9   0.6   1.4 
Balance at September 30, 2021  $ 0.7  $ 804.6  $ 3,129.3  $ (131.0)  $ (555.8)  $ 3,247.8  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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OOSSHHKKOOSSHH  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  CCAASSHH  FFLLOOWWSS

(Dollars in millions)

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
OOppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::             
Net income  $ 472.7  $ 324.5  $ 579.4 
Depreciation and amortization   104.0   104.2   115.2 
Stock-based compensation expense   27.2   29.3   29.0 
Deferred income taxes   88.6   22.4   10.4 
Gain on sale of assets   (3.6)   (11.8)   (3.3)
Debt extinguishment   —    8.5   —  
Other non-cash adjustments   (0.1)   (1.2)   1.1 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             

Receivables, net   (128.3)   266.7   173.2 
Unbilled receivables, net   62.8   65.8   (239.8)
Inventories, net   246.7   (246.7)   (111.0)
Other current assets   8.1   (17.4)   (5.8)
Accounts payable   252.1   (222.5)   12.8 
Customer advances   162.6   112.3   (90.2)
Payroll-related obligations   61.2   (32.3)   (7.6)
Income taxes payable   (156.7)   (52.1)   36.2 
Other current liabilities   6.4   (37.1)   45.6 
Other long-term assets and liabilities   17.9   14.7   23.1 

Total changes in operating assets and liabilities   532.8   (148.6)   (163.5)
Net cash provided by operating activities   1,221.6   327.3   568.3 

IInnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::             
Additions to property, plant and equipment   (104.4)   (112.3)   (147.6)
Additions to equipment held for rental   (10.4)   (17.9)   (26.6)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired   (110.6)   —    —  
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   1.2   2.4   3.1 
Proceeds from sale of equipment held for rental   16.3   38.8   12.0 
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates   (41.0)   (2.9)   0.5 
Other investing activities   3.3   14.3   5.6 

Net cash used by investing activities   (245.6)   (77.6)   (153.0)
FFiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::             
Proceeds from issuance of debt (original maturities greater than three months)   —    303.9   —  
Repayments of debt (original maturities greater than three months)   (5.2)   (300.0)   —  
Debt issuance costs   —    (9.6)   —  
Repurchases of Common Stock   (122.1)   (51.5)   (357.4)
Dividends paid   (90.4)   (81.8)   (75.5)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   42.8   26.1   11.3 
Other financing activities   (5.5)   (2.6)   —  

Net cash used by financing activities   (180.4)   (115.5)   (421.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   (2.7)   0.3   0.1 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   792.9   134.5   (6.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   582.9   448.4   454.6 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 1,375.8  $ 582.9  $ 448.4 

SSuupppplleemmeennttaall  ddiisscclloossuurreess::             
Cash paid for interest  $ 45.2  $ 55.9  $ 53.6 
Cash paid for income taxes   153.9   157.2   117.6 
Proceeds from income tax refunds   26.6         
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities   51.4   55.8     
Operating right-of-use assets obtained   92.5   23.3     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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11..        NNaattuurree  ooff  OOppeerraattiioonnss

Oshkosh Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) are leading designers and manufacturers of a wide variety of 
essential specialty vehicles and vehicle bodies for the Americas and global markets. “Oshkosh” refers to Oshkosh 
Corporation, not including its subsidiaries. The Company sells its products into four principal markets — access equipment, 
defense, fire & emergency and commercial. The Company’s access equipment business is conducted through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, JLG Industries, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (JLG) and JerrDan Corporation (JerrDan). The 
Company’s defense business is conducted principally through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Oshkosh Defense, LLC 
(Oshkosh Defense) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pratt & Miller Engineering & Fabrication, LLC (Pratt Miller). The 
Company’s fire & emergency business is principally conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiaries Pierce Manufacturing 
Inc. (Pierce), Oshkosh Airport Products, LLC (Airport Products) and Kewaunee Fabrications, LLC (Kewaunee). The Company’s 
commercial business is principally conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, McNeilus Companies, Inc. (McNeilus), 
London Machinery Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary (London), Iowa Mold Tooling Co., Inc. (IMT) and Oshkosh 
Commercial Products, LLC (Oshkosh Commercial).

In July 2020, the Company sold its interest in Concrete Equipment Company, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
(CON-E-CO) to Astec, Inc. CON-E-CO had sales of $35.0 million and $32.7 million in fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively.

On October 1, 2020, the Company transferred operational responsibility of the airport snow removal vehicle business 
from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment. As a result, the results of the airport snow removal vehicle 
business have been included within the Defense segment for financial reporting purposes. Historical information has been 
reclassified to include the airport snow removal vehicle business in the Defense segment for all periods presented.

On January 19, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding membership interests of Pratt Miller, which 
specializes in advanced engineering, technology and innovation across the motorsports and multiple ground vehicle 
markets, for $111.4 million, including $110.6 million in cash and contingent cash consideration of $1.4 million, reduced by a 
receivable of $0.6 million for certain post-closing working capital adjustments. The contingent cash consideration is 
required to be paid if the revenue earned by the acquired business exceeds certain targets over a three year future period.

The operating results of Pratt Miller have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income from the 
date of acquisition. Pratt Miller had sales of $64.3 million from the acquisition date to September 30, 2021. Pro forma 
results of operations have not been presented as the effect of the acquisition is not material to any periods presented.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of 
acquisition (in millions):

AAsssseettss  AAccqquuiirreedd::      
Current assets, excluding cash of $4.9  $ 15.4 
Property, plant and equipment   7.8 
Goodwill   44.4 
Purchased intangible assets   57.9 
Other long-term assets   5.8 

Total assets   131.3 
     
LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  AAssssuummeedd::      
Current liabilities   15.1 
Long-term liabilities   4.8 

Total liabilities   19.9 
Net assets acquired  $ 111.4  
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As of September 30, 2021, the valuation of intangible assets consisted of $25.6 million of assets subject to amortization 
with an estimated 5.6 year average life and $32.3 million of assets with an indefinite life. The purchase price, net of cash 
acquired, was allocated based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition with the excess purchase price of $44.4 million recorded as goodwill, representing expected synergies of the 
combined entity, all of which was allocated to the Defense segment. Approximately $43.9 million of the goodwill is 
deductible for income tax purposes. The Company expensed $1.1 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition in 
fiscal 2021.

22..        SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  PPoolliicciieess

Principles of Consolidation and Presentation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Oshkosh 
and all of its majority-owned or controlled subsidiaries and are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition — The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 
Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when control of the goods or 
services promised under a contract are transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services.

The Company has elected to apply the following practical expedients and accounting policy elections when determining 
revenue from contracts with customers and capitalization of related costs:

• Shipping and handling costs incurred after control of the related product has transferred to the customer are 
considered costs to fulfill the related promise and are included in “Cost of sales” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income when incurred or when the related product revenue is recognized, whichever is earlier.

• Except for the Fire & Emergency segment, the Company has elected to not adjust revenue for the effects of a 
significant finance component when the timing difference between receipt of payment and recognition of revenue 
is less than one year.

• Sales and similar taxes that are collected from customers are excluded from the transaction price.
• The Company has elected to expense incremental costs to obtain a contract when the amortization period of the 

related asset is expected to be less than one year.
• The Company has elected to not disclose unsatisfied performance obligations with an original contract duration of 

one year or less.

See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the Company’s revenue 
recognition practices.

Assurance Warranty — Provisions for estimated assurance warranties are recorded in cost of sales at the time of sale 
and are periodically adjusted to reflect actual experience. The amount of warranty liability accrued reflects management’s 
best estimate of the expected future cost of honoring Company obligations under the warranty plans. Historically, the cost 
of fulfilling the Company’s warranty obligations has principally involved replacement parts, labor and sometimes travel for 
any field retrofit campaigns. The Company’s estimates are based on historical experience, the extent of pre-production 
testing, the number of units involved and the extent of features/components included in product models. Also, each 
quarter, the Company reviews actual warranty claims experience to determine if there are systemic defects that would 
require a field campaign.
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Research and Development and Similar Costs — Except for customer sponsored research and development costs 
incurred pursuant to contracts (generally with the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD)), research and development costs are 
expensed as incurred and included in cost of sales. Research and development costs charged to expense totaled 
$103.1 million, $103.9 million and $99.0 million during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Customer sponsored 
research and development costs incurred pursuant to contracts are accounted for as contract costs.

Advertising — Advertising costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense and are expensed as 
incurred. These expenses totaled $17.7 million, $16.0 million and $24.9 million in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation — The Company recognizes stock-based compensation using the fair value provisions 
prescribed by ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. Accordingly, compensation costs for awards of stock-
based compensation settled in shares are determined based on the fair value of the share-based instrument at the time of 
grant and are recognized as expense over the vesting period of the share-based instrument, net of estimated forfeitures. 
See Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the Company’s stock-based 
incentive plans.

Debt Financing Costs — Debt issuance costs on term debt are amortized using the interest method over the term of 
the debt. Deferred financing costs on lines of credit are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related lines 
of credit. Amortization expense was $1.6 million, $3.6 million (including $1.8 million of amortization related to early debt 
retirement) and $1.6 million in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are provided to recognize temporary differences between the financial 
reporting basis and the income tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates and laws. 
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. 
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent 
upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. 
Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning 
strategies in making this assessment.

The Company evaluates uncertain income tax positions in a two-step process. The first step is recognition, where the 
Company evaluates whether an individual tax position has a likelihood of greater than 50% of being sustained upon 
examination based on the technical merits of the position, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation 
processes. For tax positions that are currently estimated to have a less than 50% likelihood of being sustained, zero tax 
benefit is recorded. For tax positions that have met the recognition threshold in the first step, the Company performs the 
second step of measuring the benefit to be recorded. The actual benefits ultimately realized may differ from the Company’s 
estimates. In future periods, changes in facts and circumstances and new information may require the Company to change 
the recognition and measurement estimates with regard to individual tax positions. Changes in recognition and 
measurement estimates are recorded in results of operations and financial position in the period in which such changes 
occur.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — Based on Company estimates, the carrying amounts of cash equivalents, 
receivables, unbilled receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated fair value as of September 30, 2021 
and 2020. See Notes 5, 13, 15, 22 and 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional fair value 
information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or 
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at September 30, 2021 consisted principally of bank deposits 
and money market instruments.
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Receivables — Receivables consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers. The Company extends credit to 
customers in the normal course of business and maintains an allowance for estimated losses resulting from the inability or 
unwillingness of customers to make required payments. The accrual for expected losses is based on an estimate of the 
losses inherent in amounts billed, pools of receivables with similar risk characteristics, existing and future economic 
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecast that affects the collectability of the related receivable and any specific 
customer collection issues the Company has identified. Account balances are charged against the allowance when the 
Company determines it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.

Finance Receivables: Finance receivables represent sales-type leases resulting from the sale of the Company’s products 
and the purchase of finance receivables from lenders pursuant to customer defaults under program agreements with 
finance companies. Finance receivables originated by the Company generally include a residual value component. Residual 
values are determined based on the expectation that the underlying equipment will have a minimum fair market value at 
the end of the lease term. This residual value accrues to the Company at the end of the lease. The Company uses its 
experience and knowledge as an original equipment manufacturer and participant in end markets for the related products 
along with third-party studies to estimate residual values. The Company monitors these values for impairment on a 
continuous basis and reflects any resulting reductions in value in current earnings.

Delinquency is the primary indicator of credit quality of finance receivables. The Company maintains a general 
allowance for finance receivables considered doubtful of future collection based upon individual, and pools of receivables 
with similar risk characteristics, estimates of inherent losses. Additional allowances are established based upon the 
Company’s evaluation of the quality of the finance receivables, including the length of time the receivables are past due, 
past experience of collectability and underlying current and future economic conditions. In circumstances where the 
Company believes collectability is no longer reasonably assured, a specific allowance is recorded to reduce the net 
recognized receivable to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. The terms of the finance agreements generally 
give the Company the ability to take possession of the underlying collateral. The Company may incur losses in excess of 
recorded allowances if the financial condition of its customers were to deteriorate or the full amount of any anticipated 
proceeds from the sale of the collateral supporting its customers’ financial obligations is not realized.

The Company does not accrue interest income on finance receivables in circumstances where the Company believes 
collectability is no longer reasonably assured. Any cash payments received on nonaccrual finance receivables are applied 
first to the principal balances. The Company does not resume accrual of interest income until the customer has shown that 
it is capable of meeting its financial obligations by making timely payments over a sustained period of time. The Company 
determines past due or delinquency status based upon the due date of the receivable.

Unbilled Receivables — Unbilled receivables consist of unbilled costs and accrued profits related to revenues on 
contracts with customers that have been recognized for accounting purposes but not yet billed to customers. In the 
Company’s Defense segment, amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, 
either upon achievement of contractual milestones (e.g. acceptance of the vehicle) or at periodic intervals (e.g., biweekly or 
monthly). Generally, billing occurs subsequent to revenue recognition, resulting in unbilled receivables (contract assets).

Concentration of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations 
of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, unbilled receivables and guarantees of 
certain customers’ obligations under deferred payment contracts and lease purchase agreements.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, and other financial instruments, with various major financial 
institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions and 
limits the amount of credit exposure with any institution.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts and lease receivables is limited due to the large number of 
customers and their dispersion across many geographic areas. However, a significant amount of trade accounts receivable 
are with the U.S. government, with rental companies globally, with companies in the ready-mix concrete industry, with 
municipalities and with several large waste haulers in the United States. The Company continues to monitor credit risk 
associated with its trade receivables.
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Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost has been determined using the last-in, first-
out (LIFO) method for 85% and 83% of the Company’s inventories at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. For the 
remaining inventories, cost has been determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense is 
recognized over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets using straight-line and accelerated methods. The 
estimated useful lives range from ten to forty years for buildings and improvements, from four to twenty-five years for 
machinery and equipment and from three to ten years for software and related costs. The Company capitalizes interest on 
borrowings during the active construction period of major capital projects. All capitalized interest has been added to the 
cost of the underlying assets and is amortized over the useful lives of the assets.

Goodwill — Goodwill reflects the cost of an acquisition in excess of the aggregate fair value assigned to identifiable net 
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized; however, it is assessed for impairment at least annually and as triggering events 
or “indicators of potential impairment” occur. The Company performs its annual impairment test as of July 1 of each fiscal 
year. The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill by estimating the fair value of the businesses to which the 
goodwill relates. Estimated cash flows and related goodwill are grouped at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is an 
operating segment or, under certain circumstances, a component of an operating segment. When the fair value of the 
reporting unit is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit, a further analysis is performed to measure and recognize 
the amount of the impairment loss, if any. Impairment losses, limited to the carrying value of goodwill, represent the excess 
of the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill.

In evaluating the recoverability of goodwill, it is necessary to estimate the fair value of the reporting units. The 
Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill utilizing the income approach and the market approach. The Company 
weighted the income approach more heavily (75%) as the Company believes the income approach more accurately 
considers long-term fluctuations in the U.S. and European construction markets than the market approach. Under the 
income approach, the Company determines fair value based on estimated future cash flows discounted by an estimated 
weighted-average cost of capital, which reflects the overall level of inherent risk of a reporting unit and the rate of return 
an outside investor would expect to earn. Estimated future cash flows are based on the Company’s internal projection 
models, industry projections and other assumptions deemed reasonable by management. Rates used to discount estimated 
cash flows correspond to the Company’s cost of capital, adjusted for risk where appropriate, and are dependent upon 
interest rates at a point in time. There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and management’s judgment in 
applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment. Under the market approach, the Company derives the fair value of its 
reporting units based on revenue and earnings multiples of comparable publicly-traded companies. It is possible that 
assumptions underlying the impairment analysis will change in such a manner that impairment in value may occur in the 
future. See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the Company’s annual 
impairment testing.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use (“ROU”) lease assets and amortizable 
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the 
related asset or group of assets, a loss is recognized for the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the 
asset or group of assets.

Non-amortizable trade names are assessed for impairment at least annually and as triggering events or “indicators of 
potential impairment” occur. The Company performs its annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of its fiscal year. The 
Company evaluates the potential impairment by estimating the fair value of the non-amortizing intangible assets using the 
“relief from royalty” method. When the fair value of the non-amortizable trade name is less than the carrying value of the 
trade name, a further analysis is performed to measure and recognize the amount of the impairment loss, if any. 
Impairment losses, limited to the carrying value of the non-amortizable trade name, represent the excess of the carrying 
amount over the implied fair value of that non-amortizable trade name.

Customer Advances — Customer advances include amounts received in advance of the completion of vehicles in the 
Fire & Emergency, Commercial and Defense segments. Advances with the Fire & Emergency segment bear interest at fixed 
rates that approximate the prime rate at the time of the advance.
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Other Long-Term Liabilities — Other long-term liabilities are comprised principally of the portions of the Company’s 
pension liability, other post-employment benefit liability, tax liability, accrued warranty, accrued product liability, customer 
advances and lease liabilities that are not expected to be settled in the subsequent twelve month period.

Foreign Currency Translation — All balance sheet accounts have been translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange 
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income statement amounts have been translated using the average exchange rate 
during the period in which the transactions occurred. Resulting translation adjustments are included in “Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss.” Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are included in “Miscellaneous, net” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. The Company recorded a net foreign currency transaction gain of $2.7 million in fiscal 2021, a net 
foreign currency transaction loss of $2.7 million in fiscal 2020 and a net foreign currency transaction gain of $2.1 million in 
fiscal 2019.

Derivative Financial Instruments — The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments, such as foreign 
exchange contracts, in the consolidated financial statements at fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding the 
instrument. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are either recognized periodically in income or in 
equity as a component of comprehensive income depending on whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for 
hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge. Generally, changes in fair values 
of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded in income along with the portions of the changes in the fair 
values of the hedged items that relate to the hedged risks. Changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as cash flow 
hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are recorded in other comprehensive income, net of deferred income 
taxes. Changes in fair value of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in income. Cash flows from derivatives that 
are accounted for as cash flow or fair value hedges are included in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the same 
category as the item being hedged.

Reclassifications — Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 2020 and 2019 financial statements to 
conform with the fiscal 2021 presentation. Income taxes receivable, which were previously presented in “Other current 
assets”, are now presented as a separate line within the September 30, 2021 Consolidated Balance Sheet to improve the 
comparability between periods. Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses, which were presented as a separate line item 
within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal 2020 and 2019, are now presented within “Other non-cash 
adjustments”. Investments in unconsolidated affiliates, which were previously presented within changes in “Other investing 
activities” within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscal 2020 and 2019, are now presented as a separate line 
item to improve the comparability between periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements — In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued 
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments. The standard requires a change in the measurement approach for credit losses on financial 
assets measured on an amortized cost basis from an incurred loss method to an expected loss method, thereby eliminating 
the requirement that a credit loss be considered probable to impact the valuation of a financial asset measured on an 
amortized cost basis. The standard requires the measurement of expected credit losses to be based on relevant 
information about past events, including historical experience, current conditions, and a reasonable and supportable 
forecast that affects the collectability of the related financial asset. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on October 1, 2020 
following the modified retrospective method of transition. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not have a material impact on 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment. The standard simplifies the measurement of goodwill impairment by eliminating the requirement 
that an entity compute the implied fair value of goodwill based on the fair values of its assets and liabilities to measure 
impairment. Instead, goodwill impairment will be measured as the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit 
and the carrying value of the reporting unit. The standard also clarifies the treatment of the income tax effect of tax 
deductible goodwill when measuring goodwill impairment loss. The Company adopted ASU 2017-04 on October 1, 2020. 
The adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-
40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service 
Contract. The standard aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement 
that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain 
internal-use software. The Company adopted ASU 2018-15 on October 1, 2020 on a prospective basis. The adoption of 
ASU 2018-15 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Standards not yet adopted

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for Income 
Taxes. The standard simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740 such as recognizing deferred taxes for equity investments, the incremental 
approach to performing intraperiod tax allocation and calculating income taxes in interim periods. The standard also 
simplifies accounting for income taxes under U.S. GAAP by clarifying and amending existing guidance, including the 
recognition of deferred taxes for goodwill, the allocation of taxes to members of a consolidated group and requiring that an 
entity reflect the effect of enacted changes in tax laws or rates in the annual effective tax rate computation in the interim 
period that includes the enactment date. The Company will be required to adopt ASU 2019-12 as of October 1, 2021. The 
Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2019-12 will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

33..        RReevveennuuee  RReeccooggnniittiioonn

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when control of the 
goods or services promised under a contract are transferred to the customer either at a point in time (e.g., upon delivery) 
or over time (e.g., as the Company performs under the contract) in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services. The Company accounts for a contract when it has 
approval and commitment from both parties, the rights and payment terms of the parties are identified, the contract has 
commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. If collectability is not probable, the sale is deferred 
until collection becomes probable or payment is received.

Contracts are reviewed to determine whether there is one or multiple performance obligations. A performance 
obligation is a promise to transfer a distinct good or service to a customer and represents the unit of accounting for 
revenue recognition. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the expected consideration (e.g., the transaction 
price) is allocated to each performance obligation identified in the contract based on the relative standalone selling price of 
each performance obligation, which is determinable based on observable standalone selling prices or is estimated using an 
expected cost plus a margin approach. Revenue is then recognized for the transaction price allocated to the performance 
obligation when control of the promised goods or services underlying the performance obligation is transferred. When the 
amount of consideration allocated to a performance obligation through this process differs from the invoiced amount, it 
results in a contract asset or liability. The identification of performance obligations within a contract requires significant 
judgment.

The following is a description of the primary activities from which the Company generates revenue.

Access Equipment, Fire & Emergency and Commercial segments revenue

The Company derives revenue in the Access Equipment, Fire & Emergency and Commercial segments (non-defense 
segments) through the sale of machinery, vehicles and related aftermarket parts and services. Customers include 
distributors, equipment rental providers and end-users. Contracts with customers generally exist upon the approval of a 
quote and/or purchase order by the Company and customer. Each contract is also assessed at inception to determine 
whether it is necessary to combine the contract with other contracts.
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The Company’s non-defense segments offer various customer incentives within contracts, such as sales and marketing 
rebates, volume discounts and interest subsidies, some of which are variable and therefore must be estimated by the 
Company. Transaction prices may also be impacted by rights of return, primarily within the aftermarket parts business, 
which requires the Company to record a liability and asset representing its rights and obligations in the event a return 
occurs. The estimated return liability is based on historical experience rates.

Revenue for performance obligations consisting of machinery, vehicle and aftermarket parts (together, “product”) is 
recognized when the customer obtains control of the product, which typically occurs at a point in time, based on the 
shipping terms within the contract. In the Commercial segment, refuse collection and concrete mixer products are sold on 
both Company owned chassis and customer owned chassis. When performing work on a customer owned chassis, revenue 
is recognized over time based on the cost-to-cost method, as the Company is enhancing a customer owned asset.

All non-defense segments offer aftermarket services related to their respective products such as repair, refurbishment 
and maintenance (together, “services”). The Company generally recognizes revenue on service performance obligations 
over time using the method that results in the most faithful depiction of transfer of control to the customer. Non-defense 
segments also offer extended warranty coverage as an option on most products. The Company considers extended 
warranties to be service-type warranties and therefore a performance obligation. Service-type warranties differ from the 
Company’s standard, or assurance-type warranties, as they are generally separately priced and negotiated as part of the 
contract and/or provide additional coverage beyond what the customer or customer group that purchases the product 
would receive under an assurance-type warranty. The Company has concluded that its extended warranties are stand-
ready obligations to perform and therefore recognizes revenue ratably over the coverage period. The Company also 
provides a standard warranty on its products and services at no additional cost to its customers in most instances. See 
Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on product assurance warranties.

Defense segment revenue

The majority of the Company’s Defense segment sales are derived through long-term contracts with the U.S. 
government to design, develop, manufacture or modify defense products. These contracts, which also include those under 
the U.S. Government-sponsored Foreign Military Sales (FMS) program, accounted for approximately 95% of Defense 
segment revenue in fiscal 2021. Contracts with Defense segment customers are generally fixed-price or cost-
reimbursement type contracts. Under fixed-price contracts, the price paid to the Company is generally not adjusted to 
reflect the Company’s actual costs except for costs incurred as a result of contract modifications. Certain fixed-price 
contracts include an incentive component under which the price paid to the Company is subject to adjustment based on 
the actual costs incurred. Under cost-reimbursement contracts, the price paid to the Company is determined based on the 
allowable costs incurred to perform plus a fee. The fee component of cost-reimbursement contracts can be fixed based on 
negotiations at contract inception or can vary based on performance against target costs established at the time of contract 
inception. The Company also designs, develops, manufactures or modifies defense products for international customers 
through Direct Commercial Sale contracts. The Defense segment supports its products through the sale of aftermarket 
parts and services. Aftermarket contracts can range from long-term supply agreements to ad hoc purchase orders for 
replacement parts.

The Company evaluates Defense segment contracts at inception to identify performance obligations. The goods and 
services in Defense segment contracts are typically not distinct from one another as they are generally customized and 
have complex inter-relationships and the Company is responsible for overall management of the contract. As a result, 
Defense segment contracts are typically accounted for as a single performance obligation. The Defense segment provides 
standard warranties for its products for periods that typically range from one to two years. These assurance-type 
warranties typically cannot be purchased separately and do not meet the criteria to be considered a performance 
obligation. See Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on product assurance 
warranties.
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The Company determines the transaction price for each contract at inception based on the consideration that it 
expects to receive for the goods and services promised under the contract. This determination is made based on the 
Company’s current rights, excluding the impact of any subsequent contract modifications (including unexercised options) 
until they become legally enforceable. Contract modifications frequently occur within the Defense segment. The Company 
evaluates each modification to identify changes that impact price or scope of its contracts, which are then assessed to 
determine if the modification should be accounted for as an adjustment to an existing contract or as a separate contract. 
Contract modifications within the Defense segment are generally accounted for as a cumulative effect adjustment to 
existing contracts as they are not distinct from the goods and services within the existing contract.

For Defense segment contracts that include a variable component of the sale price, the Company estimates variable 
consideration. Variable consideration is included within the contract’s transaction price to the extent it is probable that a 
significant reversal of revenue will not occur. The Company evaluates its estimates of variable consideration on an ongoing 
basis and any adjustments are accounted for as changes in estimates in the period identified. Common forms of variable 
consideration within Defense segment contracts include cost reimbursement contracts that contain incentives, customer 
reimbursement rights and regulatory or customer negotiated penalties tied to contract performance.

The Company recognizes revenue on Defense segment contracts as performance obligations are satisfied and control 
of the underlying goods and services is transferred to the customer. In making this evaluation, the Defense segment 
considers contract terms, payment terms and whether there is an alternative future use for the good or service. Through 
this process the Company has concluded that substantially all of the Defense segment’s performance obligations, including 
a majority of performance obligations for aftermarket goods and services, transfer control to the customer over time. For 
U.S. government and FMS program contracts, this determination is supported by the inclusion of clauses within contracts 
that allow the customer to terminate a contract at its convenience. When the clause is present, the Company is entitled to 
compensation for the work performed through the date of notification at a price that reflects actual costs plus a reasonable 
margin in exchange for transferring its work in process to the customer. For contracts that do not contain termination for 
convenience provisions, the Company is generally able to support the over time transfer of control determination as a 
result of the customized nature of its goods and services, which create assets without an alternative use and contractual 
rights. When control is not determined to be continuous over the term of the contract, the Company initially defers 
contract costs that relate to the contract or anticipated contract, generate or enhance assets that will be utilized in 
satisfying future performance obligations and are expected to be recovered. Deferred contract costs are subsequently 
amortized on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of the transfer of the goods and services to which it relates.

The Defense segment recognizes revenue on its performance obligations that are satisfied over time by measuring 
progress using the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion because it best depicts the transfer of control to the 
customer. Under the cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-completion, the Defense segment measures progress based on 
the ratio of costs incurred to date to total estimated costs for the performance obligation. The Company recognizes 
changes in estimated sales or costs and the resulting profit or loss on a cumulative basis. Cumulative estimate-at-
completion adjustments represent the cumulative effect of the changes on prior periods. If a loss is expected on a 
performance obligation, the complete estimated loss is recorded in the period in which the loss is identified.

There is significant judgment involved in estimating sales and costs within the Defense segment. Each contract is 
evaluated at contract inception to identify risks and estimate revenue and costs. In performing this evaluation, the Defense 
segment considers risks of contract performance such as technical requirements, schedule, duration and key contract 
dependencies. These considerations are then factored into the Company’s estimated revenue and costs. Preliminary 
contract estimates are subject to change throughout the duration of the contract as additional information becomes 
available that impacts risks and estimated revenue and costs. In addition, as contract modifications (e.g., new orders) are 
received, the additional units are factored into the overall contract estimate of costs and transaction price. 
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Contract adjustments resulted in changes within Defense segment results as follows (in millions, except for per share 
amounts):

 FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Net sales  $ 13.1  $ 31.2  $ 63.9 
Operating income   19.4   16.2   44.7 
Net income   14.9   12.4   34.5 
Diluted earnings per share   0.21   0.18   0.49  

Disaggregation of Revenue

The table below presents consolidated net sales disaggregated by segment and timing of revenue recognition (in 
millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   
 

 
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd
IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt
EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss     TToottaall   

Point in time  $ 3,006.9  $ 43.5  $ 1,205.9  $ 532.8  $ (25.1)  $ 4,764.0 
Over time   65.2   2,482.1   20.7   404.8   0.5   2,973.3 
  $ 3,072.1  $ 2,525.6  $ 1,226.6  $ 937.6  $ (24.6)  $ 7,737.3  

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   
 

 
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee  ((aa))    
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy  ((aa))    CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd
IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt
EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss  ((aa))    TToottaall   

Point in time  $ 2,437.5  $ 34.8  $ 1,085.1  $ 556.7  $ (36.0)  $ 4,078.1 
Over time   77.6   2,276.7   21.9   401.1   1.4   2,778.7 
  $ 2,515.1  $ 2,311.5  $ 1,107.0  $ 957.8  $ (34.6)  $ 6,856.8  

 FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22001199   
 

 
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee  ((aa))    
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy  ((aa))    CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd
IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt
EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss  ((aa))    TToottaall   

Point in time  $ 4,001.6  $ 45.4  $ 1,192.5  $ 591.7  $ (30.1)  $ 5,801.1 
Over time   78.1   2,052.1   18.2   430.5   2.0   2,580.9 
  $ 4,079.7  $ 2,097.5  $ 1,210.7  $ 1,022.2  $ (28.1)  $ 8,382.0  

(a) Results have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business from the Fire & 
Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

See Note 24 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further disaggregated sales information.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

The Company is generally entitled to bill its customers upon satisfaction of its performance obligations, with the 
exception of its long-term contracts in the Defense segment which typically allow for billing upon acceptance of the 
finished good, payments received from customers received in advance of performance and extended warranties that are 
billed in advance of the warranty coverage period. Customer payment is usually received shortly after billing and payment 
terms generally do not exceed one year. See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information on the Company’s receivable balances.
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With the exception of the Fire & Emergency segment, the Company’s contracts typically do not contain a significant 
financing component. In the Fire & Emergency segment, customers earn interest on customer advances at a rate 
determined in a separate financing transaction between the Fire & Emergency segment and the customer at contract 
inception. Interest charges of $17.2 million, $15.6 million and $14.5 million were recorded in “Interest expense” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income for fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The timing of billing does not always match the timing of revenue recognition. In instances where a customer pays 
consideration in advance or when the Company is entitled to bill a customer in advance of recognizing the related revenue, 
the Company records a contract liability within “Customer advances” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company 
reduces contract liabilities when the Company transfers control of promised goods and services. Contract liabilities 
consisted of the following (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Customer advances  $ 654.3  $ 491.4 
Other current liabilities   82.0   59.5 
Other long-term liabilities   175.2   53.7 
Total contract liabilities  $ 911.5  $ 604.6  

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

Beginning liabilities recognized in revenue  $ 521.7  $ 441.0  $ 530.9  

In instances where the Company recognizes revenue prior to having an unconditional right to payment, the Company 
records a contract asset within “Unbilled receivables, net” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company reduces 
contract assets when the Company has an unconditional right to payment. The Company periodically assesses its contract 
assets for impairment. Contract assets and liabilities are determined on a net basis for each contract. The Company did not 
record any impairment losses on contract assets during fiscal 2021, 2020 or 2019.

The Defense segment recognizes an asset for costs incurred on existing and highly probable anticipated contracts prior 
to the transfer of control of goods or services to the customer. Deferred contract related costs of $50.6 million at 
September 30, 2021 are included in “Other long-term assets” within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, of which 
$4.8 million related to costs for anticipated contracts, $42.3 million related to engineering costs, $2.2 million related to 
setup costs and $1.3 million related to tooling.

The Company offers a variety of service-type warranties, including optionally priced extended warranty programs. 
Outstanding balances related to service-type warranties are included within contract liabilities disclosed above. Revenue 
related to service-type warranties is deferred until after the expiration of the standard warranty period. The revenue is then 
recognized in income over the term of the extended warranty period in proportion to the costs that are expected to be 
incurred. Changes in the Company’s service-type warranties were as follows (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Balance at beginning of period  $ 64.4  $ 68.2 
Deferred revenue for new service-type warranties   26.2   23.6 
Amortization of deferred revenue   (25.0)   (27.9)
Foreign currency translation   0.2   0.5 

Balance at end of period  $ 65.8  $ 64.4  



68

Classification of service-type warranties in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
Other current liabilities  $ 21.8  $ 24.7 
Other long-term liabilities   44.0   39.7 
  $ 65.8  $ 64.4  

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of September 30, 2021, the Company had unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original 
duration greater than one year totaling $5.3 billion, of which $3.5 billion is expected to be satisfied and revenue recognized 
in fiscal 2022, $1.6 billion is expected to be satisfied and revenue recognized in fiscal 2023 and $235.3 million is expected to 
be satisfied and revenue recognized beyond fiscal 2023.

44..        SSttoocckk--BBaasseedd  CCoommppeennssaattiioonn

In February 2017, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan (the “2017 Stock 
Plan”). The 2017 Stock Plan replaced the 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan (as amended, the “2009 Stock Plan”). While 
no new awards will be granted under the 2009 Stock Plan, awards previously made under the 2009 Stock Plan that were 
outstanding as of the approval date of the 2017 Stock Plan will remain outstanding and continue to be governed by the 
provisions of that plan. At September 30, 2021, the Company had reserved 4,426,671 shares of Common Stock available for 
issuance to provide for the exercise of outstanding stock options and the issuance of Common Stock under incentive 
compensation awards, including awards issued prior to the effective date of the 2017 Stock Plan.

Under the 2017 Stock Plan, officers, directors, including non-employee directors, and employees of the Company may 
be granted stock options, stock appreciation rights (SAR), performance shares, performance units, shares of Common 
Stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units (RSU) or other stock-based awards. The 2017 Stock Plan provides for the 
granting of options to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock at not less than the fair market value of such 
shares on the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 2017 Stock Plan generally become exercisable in equal 
installments over a three-year period, beginning with the first anniversary of the date of grant of the option, unless a 
shorter or longer duration is established by the Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors at the time of the 
option grant. Stock options terminate not more than ten years from the date of grant. The exercise price of stock options 
and the market value of restricted stock unit awards are determined based on the closing market price of the Company’s 
Common Stock on the date of grant. Except to the extent vesting is accelerated upon early retirement and except for 
performance shares and performance units, vesting is based solely on continued service as an employee of the Company. 
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period for vesting of an award, or to 
an employee’s eligible retirement date, if earlier and applicable.

Information related to the Company’s equity-based compensation plans in effect as of September 30, 2021 was as 
follows:

PPllaann  CCaatteeggoorryy   

NNuummbbeerr  ooff  SSeeccuurriittiieess
ttoo  bbee  IIssssuueedd  UUppoonn

EExxeerrcciissee  ooff  
OOuuttssttaannddiinngg

OOppttiioonnss  oorr  VVeessttiinngg  ooff
SShhaarree  AAwwaarrddss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee  PPrriiccee  ooff

OOuuttssttaannddiinngg  OOppttiioonnss     

NNuummbbeerr  ooff
SSeeccuurriittiieess  RReemmaaiinniinngg
AAvvaaiillaabbllee  ffoorr  FFuuttuurree

IIssssuuaannccee  UUnnddeerr  EEqquuiittyy
CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  PPllaannss   

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   1,115,679  $ 77.96   3,310,992 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   —    —    —  
   1,115,679  $ 77.96   3,310,992  
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Total stock-based compensation expense was as follows (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

Stock options  $ 1.8  $ 6.8  $ 6.9 
Stock awards (shares and units)   19.3   15.8   15.0 
Performance share awards   6.1   6.7   7.1 
Cash-settled stock appreciation rights   1.1   0.2   0.4 
Cash-settled restricted stock unit awards   1.5   0.7   0.6 
Total stock-based compensation cost   29.8   30.2   30.0 
Income tax benefit recognized for stock-based compensation   (4.4)   (3.6)   (4.9)
Stock-based compensation cost, net of tax  $ 25.4  $ 26.6  $ 25.1  

Stock Options — A summary of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows:

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

    OOppttiioonnss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee

PPrriiccee     OOppttiioonnss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee

PPrriiccee     OOppttiioonnss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee

PPrriiccee   
Outstanding, beginning of year   1,083,402  $ 74.38   1,328,390  $ 62.62   1,268,984  $ 57.03 

Granted   —    —    301,025   90.28   372,450   66.09 
Forfeited   (8,065)   81.40   (40,965)   79.00   (24,175)   72.88 
Expired   (3,999)   86.59   (5,869)   84.25   (8,721)   76.92 
Exercised   (599,662)   71.38   (499,179)   52.18   (280,148)   40.62 

Outstanding, end of year   471,676   77.96   1,083,402   74.38   1,328,390   62.62 

Exercisable, end of year   251,049   74.73   537,241   68.16   709,826   55.11  

Stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2021 were as follows (in millions, except share and per 
share amounts):

   OOuuttssttaannddiinngg     EExxeerrcciissaabbllee   

EExxeerrcciissee  PPrriicceess   OOppttiioonnss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd  
AAvveerraaggee

RReemmaaiinniinngg
CCoonnttrraaccttuuaall

LLiiffee  ((iinn  yyeeaarrss))     

WWeeiigghhtteedd
AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee

PPrriiccee     

AAggggrreeggaattee
IInnttrriinnssiicc

VVaalluuee     OOppttiioonnss     

WWeeiigghhtteedd  
AAvveerraaggee

RReemmaaiinniinngg
CCoonnttrraaccttuuaall

LLiiffee  ((iinn  yyeeaarrss))     

WWeeiigghhtteedd
AAvveerraaggee
EExxeerrcciissee

PPrriiccee     

AAggggrreeggaattee
IInnttrriinnssiicc

VVaalluuee   
$40.00 - $60.00   14,838   1.1  $ 41.52  $ 0.9   14,838   1.1  $ 41.52  $ 0.9 
$60.01 - $80.00   201,069   6.0   66.28   7.3   122,137   5.2   66.40   4.4 
$80.01 - $100.00   255,769   7.6   89.25   3.3   114,074   6.9   87.97   1.6 
   471,676   6.7   77.96  $ 11.5   251,049   5.7   74.73  $ 6.9  

The aggregate intrinsic values in the tables above represent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (difference between the 
Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2021 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-
the-money options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on 
September 30, 2021. This amount changes based on the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised for fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $22.6 million, $18.5 million and 
$10.2 million, respectively. The actual income tax benefit realized totaled $3.5 million, $4.3 million and $2.4 million for 
those same periods.
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As of September 30, 2021, total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock options was $0.7 million, 
net of estimated forfeitures, which the Company expects to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to value stock options utilizing the following weighted-average 
assumptions:

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
OOppttiioonnss  GGrraanntteedd  DDuurriinngg   22002200     22001199   

Assumptions:         
Expected term (in years)   5.4   5.4 
Expected volatility   34.10%  33.40%
Risk-free interest rate   1.63%  2.87%
Expected dividend yield   1.37%  1.50%

The expected option term represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding and 
was based on historical experience. The Company used its historical stock prices over the expected term as the basis for the 
Company’s volatility assumption. The assumed risk-free interest rates were based on five-year U.S. Treasury rates in effect 
at the time of grant. The expected dividend yield was based on average actual yield on the ex-dividend date. The weighted-
average per share grant date fair values for stock option grants during fiscal 2020 and 2019 were $26.16 and $20.00, 
respectively.

Stock Awards — A summary of the Company’s stock award activity is as follows:

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

    
NNuummbbeerr  

ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     

NNuummbbeerr  
ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     

NNuummbbeerr  
ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee   

Nonvested, beginning of year   346,808  $ 79.44   411,510  $ 72.66   332,473  $ 69.15 
Granted   307,025   82.80   183,725   87.82   278,175   69.98 
Forfeited   (36,545)   78.81   (27,076)   80.57   (13,610)   71.17 
Vested   (222,400)   80.39   (221,351)   73.64   (185,528)   62.47 

Nonvested, end of year   394,888   81.58   346,808   79.44   411,510   72.66  

The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $21.0 million, $18.6 million and 
$12.3 million, respectively. The actual income tax benefit realized totaled $2.0 million, $3.1 million and $2.1 million for 
those same periods.

As of September 30, 2021, total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock awards was $11.6 million, net of 
estimated forfeitures, which the Company expects to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.

Performance Share Awards — A summary of the Company’s performance share awards activity is as follows:

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

    
NNuummbbeerr  

ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     

NNuummbbeerr  
ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     

NNuummbbeerr  
ooff    SShhaarreess     

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee   

Nonvested, beginning of year   110,450  $ 89.54   124,750  $ 84.10   98,375  $ 89.11 
Granted   86,550   86.09   55,325   109.09   73,950   74.70 
Forfeited   (52,099)   90.03   (16,615)   92.88   (1,600)   93.92 
Performance adjustments   63,843   80.45   33,941   87.44   31,768   71.43 
Vested   (136,269)   80.73   (86,951)   92.73   (77,743)   76.12 

Nonvested, end of year   72,475   93.62   110,450   89.54   124,750   84.10  
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Performance share awards generally vest over a three-year service period following the grant date. Performance 
shares vest under two separate measurement criteria. The first type vest only if the Company’s total shareholder return 
(TSR) over the three year term of the awards compares favorably to that of a comparator group of companies. The second 
type vest only if the Company’s return on invested capital (ROIC) over the vesting period compares favorably to that of a 
comparator group of companies. Potential payouts range from zero to 200% of the target awards and changes from target 
amounts are reflected as performance adjustments. Actual payouts for TSR performance share awards vesting in fiscal 
2021, 2020 and 2019 were 185%, 111% and 126% of target levels, respectively. Actual payout for the ROIC performance 
share award vesting in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 200%, 200%, and 200% of target levels. In October 2021, 55,819 
shares of Common Stock were issued from treasury for unpaid performance shares that vested in fiscal 2021.

The total fair value of performance shares vested during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $15.4 million, $6.9 million and 
$5.8 million, respectively. The actual income tax benefit realized totaled $0.5 million, $0.2 million and $1.4 million for the 
same periods.

As of September 30, 2021, the Company had $5.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to 
performance share awards, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

The grant date fair values of the TSR performance share awards were estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model 
utilizing the following weighted-average assumptions:

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
TToottaall  SShhaarreehhoollddeerr  RReettuurrnn  PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  SShhaarreess  GGrraanntteedd  DDuurriinngg   22002211     22002200     22001199   

Assumptions:             
Expected term (in years)   2.87   2.87   2.86 
Expected volatility   40.33%  31.16%  32.72%
Risk-free interest rate   0.23%  1.59%  2.80%

The Company used its historical stock prices as the basis for the Company’s volatility assumption. The assumed risk-free 
interest rates were based on U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the time of grant. The expected term was based on the vesting 
period. The weighted-average fair value used to record compensation expense for TSR performance share awards granted 
during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $94.86, $137.74 and $85.89 per award, respectively. 

The grant date fair value of the ROIC awards were determined based on the Company’s stock price at the time of the 
grant and the anticipated awards expected to vest. Compensation expense is recorded ratably over the vesting period 
based on the amount of award that is expected to be earned under the plan formula, adjusted each reporting period based 
on current information.

Cash-Settled Stock Appreciation Rights — The Company did not grant employees any cash-settled SARs in fiscal 2021. In 
fiscal 2020 and 2019, the Company granted employees 14,875 and 18,250 cash-settled SARs, respectively. Each SAR award 
represents the right to receive cash equal to the excess of the per share price of the Company’s Common Stock on the date 
that a participant exercises such right over the grant date price of the Company’s Common Stock. Compensation cost for 
SARs is remeasured at each reporting period based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant using the Black Scholes 
option-pricing model, utilizing assumptions similar to stock option awards and is recognized as an expense over the 
requisite service period. The total value of SARs exercised during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $0.5 million, $0.7 million 
and $0.6 million, respectively. 

Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Units — In fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 the Company granted employees 14,550, 7,925 
and 8,350 cash-settled RSUs, respectively. Each RSU award provides recipients the right to receive cash equal to the value 
of a share of the Company’s Common Stock at predetermined vesting dates. Compensation cost for RSUs is remeasured at 
each reporting period and is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period. The total value of RSUs vested 
during fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
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55..        EEmmppllooyyeeee  BBeenneeffiitt  PPllaannss

Defined Benefit Plans — Oshkosh and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor multiple defined benefit pension plans for 
certain employees providing services to Oshkosh, Oshkosh Defense, Airport Products, Oshkosh Commercial and Pierce. The 
benefits provided are based primarily on average compensation, years of service and date of birth. Hourly plans are 
generally based on years of service and a benefit dollar multiplier. The Company periodically amends the plans, including 
changing the benefit dollar multipliers and other revisions. In December 2012, salaried participants in the pension plans no 
longer receive credit, other than for vesting purposes, for eligible earnings. In December 2013, the Pierce pension plan was 
amended to close participation in the plan for new production employees. In October 2016, the Oshkosh Defense hourly 
defined benefit pension plan was closed to new production employees. The Company commenced a plan to terminate its 
defined benefit plan for salaried participants. As a result, the plan is being presented on a liquidation basis in fiscal 2021.

Determination of defined benefit pension and postretirement plan obligations and their associated expenses requires 
the use of actuarial valuations to estimate the benefits that employees earn while working, as well as the present value of 
those benefits. The Company uses the services of independent actuaries to assist with these calculations. The Company 
determines the discount rate used each year based on the rate of return currently available on a portfolio of high-quality 
fixed-income investments with a maturity that is consistent with the projected benefit payout period. The Company’s long-
term rate of return on assets is based on consideration of historical and forward-looking returns and the current asset 
allocation strategy.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans (SERP) — The Company maintains defined benefit and defined contribution 
SERPs for certain executive officers of Oshkosh and its subsidiaries. In fiscal 2013, the Oshkosh defined benefit SERP was 
amended to freeze benefits under the plan and certain executive officers became eligible for the new Oshkosh defined 
contribution SERP. At the same time, the Company established the Trust to fund obligations under the Oshkosh SERPs. As 
of September 30, 2021, the Trust held assets of $21.3 million. The Trust assets are subject to claims of the Company’s 
creditors. The Trust assets are included in “Other current assets” and “Other long-term assets” in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The Company recognized $2.6 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million of expense under the Oshkosh defined 
contribution SERP in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Postretirement Medical Plans — Oshkosh and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor multiple postretirement benefit plans 
for Oshkosh Defense, JLG, and Kewaunee hourly employees, retirees and their spouses. The plans generally provide health 
benefits based on years of service and date of birth. These plans are unfunded.
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Changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, as well as the funded status of the Company’s defined benefit pension 
plans and postretirement benefit plans as of and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, were as follows 
(in millions):

                   PPoossttrreettiirreemmeenntt   
    PPeennssiioonn  BBeenneeffiittss     HHeeaalltthh  aanndd  OOtthheerr   
    22002211     22002200     22002211     22002200   

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  bbeenneeffiitt  oobblliiggaattiioonn  aatt  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300   $ 594.2  $ 601.1  $ 53.3  $ 53.3 

CChhaannggee  iinn  pprroojjeecctteedd  bbeenneeffiitt  oobblliiggaattiioonn                  
Benefit obligation at October 1  $ 613.6  $ 546.5  $ 53.3  $ 51.4 
Service cost   11.5   10.1   2.2   3.5 
Interest cost   16.4   17.1   1.2   1.6 
Actuarial loss (gain)   (22.6)   44.0   (1.1)   5.4 
Plan amendments   —    9.8   —    (6.5)
Benefits paid   (16.4)   (15.8)   (2.3)   (2.1)
Currency translation adjustments   1.7   1.9   —    —  
Benefit obligation at September 30  $ 604.2  $ 613.6  $ 53.3  $ 53.3 

CChhaannggee  iinn  ppllaann  aasssseettss                  
Fair value of plan assets at October 1  $ 437.3  $ 408.9  $ —   $ —  
Actual return on plan assets   71.3   35.4   —    —  
Company contributions   25.2   11.4   2.3   2.1 
Expenses paid   (2.9)   (4.3)   —    —  
Benefits paid   (16.4)   (15.8)   (2.3)   (2.1)
Currency translation adjustments   1.4   1.7   —    —  
Fair value of plan assets at September 30  $ 515.9  $ 437.3  $ —   $ —  

FFuunnddeedd  ssttaattuuss  ooff  ppllaann  --  uunnddeerrffuunnddeedd  aatt  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300   $ (88.3)  $ (176.3)  $ (53.3)  $ (53.3)

                   
RReeccooggnniizzeedd  iinn  ccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  bbaallaannccee  sshheeeett  aatt  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300                  

Prepaid benefit cost (long-term asset)  $ 2.1  $ —   $ —   $ —  
Accrued benefit liability (current liability)   (2.0)   (1.9)   (2.4)   (2.5)
Accrued benefit liability (long-term liability)   (88.4)   (174.4)   (50.9)   (50.8)

    $ (88.3)  $ (176.3)  $ (53.3)  $ (53.3)

RReeccooggnniizzeedd  iinn  aaccccuummuullaatteedd  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  ((lloossss))  aass  ooff  
SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300  ((nneett  ooff  ttaaxxeess))                  

Net actuarial loss  $ (29.0)  $ (89.0)  $ (5.1)  $ (6.1)
Prior service (cost) benefit   (11.6)   (13.4)   11.5   12.6 
  $ (40.6)  $ (102.4)  $ 6.4  $ 6.5  

WWeeiigghhtteedd--aavveerraaggee  aassssuummppttiioonnss  aass  ooff  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300                  
Discount rate   2.91%  2.71%  2.61%  2.36%
Expected return on plan assets   4.46%  4.89% n/a  n/a  

Pension benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets consisted of the following (in 
millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   

Projected benefit obligation  $ 565.7  $ 613.6 
Accumulated benefit obligation   555.7   601.1 
Fair value of plan assets   475.4   437.3  
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The components of net periodic benefit cost for fiscal years ended September 30 were as follows (in millions):

        PPoossttrreettiirreemmeenntt   
  PPeennssiioonn  BBeenneeffiittss     HHeeaalltthh  aanndd  OOtthheerr   
  22002211     22002200     22001199     22002211     22002200     22001199   
CCoommppoonneennttss  ooff  nneett  ppeerriiooddiicc  bbeenneeffiitt  ccoosstt                         

Service cost  $ 11.5  $ 10.1  $ 9.1  $ 2.2  $ 3.5  $ 3.1 
Interest cost   16.4   17.1   18.7   1.2   1.6   1.9 
Expected return on plan assets   (19.8)   (20.6)   (19.9)   —    —    —  
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit)   2.3   1.6   1.7   (1.4)   (0.9)   (1.5)
Curtailment/settlement   —    0.1   1.2   —    —    —  
Amortization of net actuarial loss (gain)   4.9   3.3   0.2   0.3   (0.2)   (0.2)
Expenses paid   3.0   4.0   2.5   —    —    —  
Net periodic benefit cost  $ 18.3  $ 15.6  $ 13.5  $ 2.3  $ 4.0  $ 3.3 

OOtthheerr  cchhaannggeess  iinn  ppllaann  aasssseettss  aanndd  bbeenneeffiitt  oobblliiggaattiioonnss  
rreeccooggnniizzeedd  iinn  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee                         

Net actuarial loss (gain)  $ (74.1)  $ 29.4  $ 63.3  $ (1.1)  $ 5.5  $ 1.4 
Prior service cost (benefit)   —    9.8   0.2   —    (6.5)   —  
Amortization of prior service benefit (cost)   (2.3)   (1.6)   (1.7)   1.4   0.9   1.5 
Amortization of net actuarial (loss) gain   (4.9)   (3.3)   (0.2)   (0.3)   0.2   0.2 

  $ (81.3)  $ 34.3  $ 61.6  $ —   $ 0.1  $ 3.1 

WWeeiigghhtteedd--aavveerraaggee  aassssuummppttiioonnss                         
Discount rate  2.71%  3.17%   4.18% 2.36%  3.10%   4.20%
Expected return on plan assets  4.89%  5.49%   5.50% n/a  n/a  n/a  

Components of net periodic benefit cost other than “Service cost” and “Expenses paid” are included in “Miscellaneous, 
net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Amounts expected to be recognized in pension and supplemental employee retirement plan net periodic benefit costs 
during fiscal 2022 included in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 
2021 are prior service costs of $0.6 million ($0.4 million net of tax) and unrecognized net actuarial losses of $0.2 million 
($0.2 million net of tax).

The Company’s Board of Directors has appointed an Investment Committee (Committee), which consists of members 
of management, to manage the investment of the Company’s pension plan assets. The Committee has established and 
operates under an Investment Policy. The Committee determines the asset allocation and target ranges based upon 
periodic asset/liability studies and capital market projections. The Committee retains external investment managers to 
invest the assets and an adviser to monitor the performance of the investment managers. The Investment Policy prohibits 
certain investment transactions, such as commodity contracts, margin transactions, short selling and investments in 
Company securities, unless the Committee gives prior approval.

The weighted-average of the Company’s pension plan asset allocations and target allocations at September 30, 2021 by 
asset category, were as follows:

  TTaarrggeett  %%   AAccttuuaall   
AAsssseett  CCaatteeggoorryy       

Fixed income  50% - 60%  53%
Large-cap equity  15% - 25%  22%
Mid-cap equity  5% - 15%  11%
Small-cap equity  5% - 10%  8%
Global equity  0% - 5%  1%
Other  0% - 10%  5%

     100%
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The Company’s pension plan investment strategy is based on an expectation that, over time, equity securities will 
provide higher returns than debt securities. The plans primarily minimize the risk of larger losses under this strategy 
through diversification of investments by asset class, by investing in different styles of investment management within the 
classes and using a number of different investment managers. Beginning in fiscal 2016, the Company implemented a 
dynamic liability driven investment strategy for those pension plans with frozen benefits. The objective of this strategy is to 
more closely align the pension plan assets with the pension plan liabilities in terms of how both respond to changes in 
interest rates. Plan assets are allocated to two investment categories, including a category containing high quality fixed 
income securities and another category comprised of traditional securities and alternative asset classes. Assets are 
managed externally according to guidelines approved by the Company. Over time, the Company is reducing assets allocated 
to the return seeking category and correspondingly increasing assets allocated to the high quality fixed income category to 
align assets more closely with the pension plan obligations.

The plans’ expected return on assets is based on management’s and the Committee’s expectations of long-term 
average rates of return to be achieved by the plans’ investments. These expectations are based on the plans’ historical 
returns and expected returns for the asset classes in which the plans are invested.
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The fair value of plan assets by major category and level within the fair value hierarchy was as follows (in millions):

 

 

QQuuootteedd  
PPrriicceess  ffoorr  
IIddeennttiiccaall
AAsssseettss

((LLeevveell  11))    

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt
OOtthheerr

OObbsseerrvvaabbllee
IInnppuuttss

((LLeevveell  22))     

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt
UUnnoobbsseerrvvaabbllee

IInnppuuttss
((LLeevveell  33))     TToottaall   

SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211                 
Common stocks                 

U.S. companies (a)  $ 94.7  $ 7.6  $ —   $ 102.3 
International companies (b)   —    13.9   —    13.9 

Mutual funds (a)   100.4   —    —    100.4 
Government and agency bonds (c)   —    12.7   —    12.7 
Corporate bonds and notes (d)   —    8.9   —    8.9 
Money market funds (e)   24.5   —    —    24.5 
Other   —    —    0.9   0.9 
  $ 219.6  $ 43.1  $ 0.9   263.6 

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) (f)               252.3 
              $ 515.9 

SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200                 
Common stocks                 

U.S. companies (a)  $ 77.4  $ 8.1  $ —   $ 85.5 
International companies (b)   —    13.5   —    13.5 

Mutual funds (a)   81.5   —    —    81.5 
Government and agency bonds (c)   —    7.7   —    7.7 
Corporate bonds and notes (d)   —    8.3   —    8.3 
Money market funds (e)   12.5   —    —    12.5 
Other   —    —    0.8   0.8 
  $ 171.4  $ 37.6  $ 0.8   209.8 

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) (f)               227.5 
              $ 437.3  

(a) Primarily valued using a market approach based on the quoted market prices of identical instruments that are actively 
traded on public exchanges.

(b) Valuation model looks at underlying security “best” price, exchange rate for underlying security’s currency against the 
U.S. dollar and ratio of underlying security to American depository receipt.

(c) These investments consist of debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury, U.S. government agencies and U.S. 
government-sponsored enterprises and have a variety of structures, coupon rates and maturities. These investments 
are considered to have low default risk as they are guaranteed by the U.S. government. Fixed income securities are 
primarily valued using a market approach with inputs that include broker quotes, benchmark yields, base spreads and 
reported trades.

(d) These investments consist of debt obligations issued by a variety of private and public corporations. These are 
investment grade securities which historically have provided a steady stream of income. Fixed income securities are 
primarily valued using a market approach with inputs that include broker quotes, benchmark yields, base spreads and 
reported trades.

(e) These investments largely consist of short-term investment funds and are valued using a market approach based on 
the quoted market prices of identical instruments.

(f) These investments consist of privately placed funds that are valued based on NAV. NAV of the funds is based on the fair 
value of each fund’s underlying investments. In accordance with ASC Subtopic 820-10, certain investments that are 
measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the 
fair value hierarchy.
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The following table sets forth additional disclosures for the fair value measurement of the fair value of pension plans 
assets that calculate fair value based on NAV per share practical expedient as of September 30, 2021 (in millions):

 

 FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     
UUnnffuunnddeedd

CCoommmmiittmmeennttss     

RReeddeemmppttiioonn  
FFrreeqquueennccyy

((iiff  CCuurrrreennttllyy  EElliiggiibbllee))   

RReeddeemmppttiioonn  
NNoottiiccee

PPeerriioodd  ((11))

Common collective trust  $ 252.3  $ —   N/A  15 days

(1) Represents the maximum redemption period. A portion of the investment does not have any redemption period restrictions.

The following table sets forth additional disclosures for the fair value measurement of the fair value of pension plans 
assets that calculate fair value based on NAV per share practical expedient as of September 30, 2020 (in millions):

 

 FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     
UUnnffuunnddeedd  

CCoommmmiittmmeennttss     

RReeddeemmppttiioonn  
FFrreeqquueennccyy

((iiff  CCuurrrreennttllyy  EElliiggiibbllee))   

RReeddeemmppttiioonn  
NNoottiiccee

PPeerriioodd  ((11))

Common collective trust  $ 227.5  $ —   N/A  15 days

(1) Represents the maximum redemption period. A portion of the investment does not have any redemption period restrictions.

The Company’s policy is to fund the pension plans in amounts that comply with contribution limits imposed by law. The 
Company expects to make contributions of approximately $10.0 million to its pension plans in fiscal 2022.

The Company’s estimated future benefit payments under Company sponsored plans were as follows (in millions):

FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddiinngg   PPeennssiioonn  BBeenneeffiittss     PPoossttrreettiirreemmeenntt  HHeeaalltthh  
SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   QQuuaalliiffiieedd     NNoonn--QQuuaalliiffiieedd     aanndd  OOtthheerr   

2022  $ 16.9  $ 2.0  $ 2.4 
2023   18.6   2.0   2.7 
2024   20.2   2.0   3.2 
2025   21.8   1.9   3.6 
2026   23.3   2.0   4.2 

2027-2031   133.8   10.0   21.2  

Multi-Employer Pension Plans — The Company participates in the Boilermaker-Blacksmith National Pension Trust 
(Employer Identification Number 48-6168020), a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan related to collective 
bargaining employees at the Company’s Kewaunee facility. The Company’s contributions and pension benefits payable 
under the plan and the administration of the plan are determined by the terms of the related collective-bargaining 
agreement, which expires on May 1, 2022. The multi-employer plan poses different risks to the Company than single-
employer plans in the following respects:

1. The Company’s contributions to the multi-employer plan may be used to provide benefits to all participating 
employees of the program, including employees of other employers.

2. In the event that another participating employer ceases contributions to the multi-employer plan, the Company 
may be responsible for any unfunded obligations along with the remaining participating employers.

3. If the Company chooses to withdraw from the multi-employer plan, the Company may be required to pay a 
withdrawal liability based on the underfunded status of the plan at that time.

As of March 31, 2021, the plan-certified zone status as defined by the Pension Protection Act of 2006 was Yellow and 
accordingly the plan has implemented a financial improvement plan. The Company’s contributions to the multi-employer 
plan did not exceed 5% of the total plan contributions for fiscal 2021, 2020 or 2019. The Company made contributions to 
the plan of $1.4 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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401(k) and Defined Contribution Pension Replacement Plans — The Company has defined contribution 401(k) plans for 
substantially all domestic employees. The plans allow employees to defer 2% to 100% of their income on a pre-tax basis. 
Each employee who elects to participate is eligible to receive Company matching contributions, which are based on 
employee contributions to the plans, subject to certain limitations. For pension replacement plans, the Company 
contributes between 2% and 6% of an employee’s base pay, depending on age. Amounts expensed for Company matching 
and discretionary contributions were $45.5 million, $39.5 million and $43.3 million in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.

66..        IInnccoommee  TTaaxxeess

Pre-tax income was taxed in the following jurisdictions (in millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   

Domestic  $ 441.6  $ 429.7  $ 697.9 
Foreign   56.3   9.4   52.8 
  $ 497.9  $ 439.1  $ 750.7  

Significant components of the provision for income taxes were as follows (in millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
AAllllooccaatteedd  ttoo  IInnccoommee  BBeeffoorree  LLoosssseess  ooff  UUnnccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  AAffffiilliiaatteess              
Current:             

Federal  $ (94.7)  $ 70.1  $ 140.9 
Foreign   8.5   8.2   (0.2)
State   22.8   12.1   20.2 

Total current   (63.4)   90.4   160.9 
Deferred:             

Federal   108.1   14.3   2.1 
Foreign   (5.6)   9.7   7.3 
State   (13.9)   (1.6)   1.0 

Total deferred   88.6   22.4   10.4 
  $ 25.2  $ 112.8  $ 171.3 

AAllllooccaatteedd  ttoo  OOtthheerr  CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee  IInnccoommee  ((LLoossss))              
Deferred federal, state and foreign  $ (20.0)  $ 8.8  $ (14.9)

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rates to income tax expense was:

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
EEffffeeccttiivvee  RRaattee  RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn              

U.S. federal tax rate   21.0%  21.0%  21.0%
State income taxes, net   2.2%  2.8%  2.5%
Foreign taxes   1.7%  0.8%  -0.2%
Tax audit settlements   -1.0%  —%  —%
Valuation allowance   -1.3%  3.3%  -0.1%
Domestic tax credits   -2.5%  -3.2%  -1.0%
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction   —%  -0.4%  -1.0%
Mandatory repatriation tax - U.S. Tax Reform   —%  —%  0.7%
CARES Act net operating loss carryback   -15.1%  —%  —%
Other, net   0.1%  1.4%  0.9%

   5.1%  25.7%  22.8%
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Under U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS) procedures, a taxpayer can change automatic tax accounting methods 
without explicit prior IRS consent, but they are generally required to maintain the new tax accounting method for five 
years. In 2019, acknowledging that taxpayers may require multiple tax accounting method changes associated with the 
implementation of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (Tax Reform Act), the IRS waived the five-year “eligibility rule” for 
certain tax accounting method changes for the first three years ending on or after November 20, 2018. Citing a need to 
help companies impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) 
allows a taxpayer to carryback net operating losses generated in years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before 
January 1, 2021 for five years.

In fiscal 2021, the Company implemented a plan to make certain tax accounting method changes and change the 
timing of certain deductible payments. The plan generated a fiscal 2021 net operating loss of approximately $800 million. 
The Company was able to carryback the net operating loss to prior tax years with higher federal statutory rates. The 
Company’s effective tax rate for fiscal 2021 reflects a discrete tax benefit of $75.3 million related to this plan. Certain tax 
positions taken to implement the plan are highly complex and subject to judgmental estimates. The Company recorded a 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $13.6 million reflecting the uncertainty of those tax positions, of which $3.7 million 
impacted the Company’s provision for income taxes.

During fiscal 2021, the Company recorded net discrete tax benefits of $96.0 million, which included a discrete tax 
benefit of $75.3 million as a result of the net operating losses (NOL) carrybacks and a discrete benefit of $11.7 million 
related to the release of a valuation allowance against certain foreign net deferred tax assets in Europe. During fiscal 2020, 
the Company recorded net discrete tax charges of $8.0 million, which included a valuation allowance against certain foreign 
net deferred tax assets in Europe of $11.4 million, offset in part by benefits related to excess tax deductions from share-
based compensation. During fiscal 2019, the Company recorded discrete tax charges of $1.9 million, which included 
charges related to new tax legislation in the United States, offset in part by benefits related to excess tax deductions from 
share-based compensation, provision to return adjustments for federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions and tax reserve 
releases due to expiration of statutes of limitations and other resolutions.

The Tax Reform Act contains a provision that requires recognition of revenue for tax purposes no later than when 
recognized in an audited financial statement. The Company determined that revenue from the sale of goods under U.S. 
defense production contracts was not required to be recognized under this provision until customer acceptance. The 
Company filed its fiscal 2019 tax returns on this basis and originally intended to file its fiscal 2020 tax returns on this basis. 
The U.S. Treasury Department released regulations in January 2021 providing for a method to defer a portion of the 
revenue that would otherwise be recognized under the provision of the Tax Reform Act. The Company intends to early 
apply the regulations for purposes of its fiscal 2021 tax returns and adopt this revenue deferral method. In addition, the 
Company changed its position regarding the realization of revenue under U.S. production contracts and filed its fiscal 2020 
tax returns following the provision of the Tax Reform Act and intends to similarly amend its fiscal 2019 tax returns. The 
deferred taxes and noncurrent liabilities on the balance sheet for the position intended to be taken on the fiscal 2020 tax 
returns have been reversed. The Company has recorded an accrual to the income tax payable for tax due with the 
amended fiscal 2019 tax returns including estimated interest charges by the IRS.
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities were comprised of the following (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss::          

Other long-term liabilities  $ 57.3  $ 127.0 
Losses and credits   61.5   34.8 
Accrued warranty   16.3   15.8 
Other current liabilities   24.5   17.7 
Payroll-related obligations   26.2   18.5 
Other   8.9   6.0 

Gross deferred tax assets   194.7   219.8 
Less valuation allowance   (6.2)   (17.4)

Deferred tax assets, net   188.5   202.4 
DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::          

Intangible assets   (51.6)   (42.2)
Property, plant and equipment   (143.9)   (55.9)
Inventories   (18.0)   (18.6)
Other   (40.6)   (7.1)

Deferred tax liabilities   (254.1)   (123.8)
Net deferred tax asset (liability)  $ (65.6)  $ 78.6  

The net deferred tax asset is classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
Long-term net deferred tax asset  $ 8.3  $ 78.6 
Long-term net deferred tax liability   (73.9)   —  
Net deferred tax asset (liability)  $ (65.6)  $ 78.6  

As of September 30, 2021, the Company had $17.7 million of net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce 
future taxable income of certain foreign subsidiaries in countries which allow such losses to be carried forward anywhere 
from seven years to an unlimited period. In addition, the Company had $40.4 billion of state net operating loss 
carryforwards, which can be carried forward anywhere from five years to an unlimited period and state credit 
carryforwards of $28.9 million, which are subject to expiration in 2027 to 2036. Deferred tax assets for foreign net 
operating loss carryforwards, state net operating loss carryforwards, state credit carryforwards and foreign tax credit 
carryforwards were $4.5 million, $30.7 million, $19.8 million and $6.4 million, respectively. Amounts are reviewed for 
recoverability based on historical taxable income, the expected reversals of existing temporary differences, tax-planning 
strategies and projections of future taxable income. The Company maintains a valuation allowance against foreign deferred 
tax assets of $0.8 million and foreign tax credit deferred tax assets of $5.4 million as of September 30, 2021.

At September 30, 2021, the Company had undistributed earnings of $380.4 million from its investment in non-U.S. 
subsidiaries. The Company has not recognized deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences related to the Company’s 
foreign operations as the Company considers that its undistributed earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvested. 
Should the Company’s undistributed earnings from its investment in non-U.S. subsidiaries be distributed in the future in the 
form of dividends or otherwise, the Company may be subject to foreign and domestic income taxes and withholding taxes 
estimated at $22.4 million, including the impact of the regulations discussed below. 

On August 21, 2020, the U.S. Treasury Department and the IRS released final regulations related to the Tax Reform Act 
(the “final tax regulations”) and the foreign dividends received deduction and global intangible low-taxed income. The final 
tax regulations contained language that modified certain provisions of the Tax Reform Act and previously issued guidance 
and are effective retroactively to the Company’s 2018 tax year and purport to cause certain intercompany transactions the 
Company engaged in during 2018 to produce U.S. taxable income upon a subsequent distribution from a controlled foreign 
corporation.
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The Company has analyzed the tax regulations and concluded that the U.S. Treasury Department exceeded regulatory 
authority and that the temporary tax regulations are contrary to the congressional intent of the underlying statute. The 
Company believes it has strong arguments in favor of its position and that it has met the more likely than not recognition 
threshold that its position will be sustained. The Company intends to vigorously defend its position, however, due to the 
uncertainty involved in challenging the validity of regulations as well as a potential litigation process, there can be no 
assurances that the temporary tax regulations will be invalidated, modified or that a court of law will rule in favor of the 
Company. An unfavorable resolution of this issue would result in $18.4 million of tax liability which is included in the 
$22.4 million disclosed withholding tax above. The payment of such liability would only occur if the undistributed earnings 
were distributed.

A reconciliation of gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, was as follows (in millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Balance at beginning of year  $ 79.8  $ 97.3  $ 33.7 

Additions for tax positions related to current year   15.8   46.2   63.3 
Additions for tax positions related to prior years   0.6   1.4   5.4 
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years   (46.0)   (61.8)   (0.8)
Settlements   —    (1.3)   (0.9)
Lapse of statutes of limitations   (4.2)   (2.0)   (3.4)

Balance at end of year  $ 46.0  $ 79.8  $ 97.3  

As of September 30, 2021, net unrecognized tax benefits of $21.9 million would affect the Company’s effective tax rate 
if recognized. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in the 
“Provision for income taxes” in the Consolidated Statements of Income. During fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company 
recognized expense of $0.7 million, $1.3 million and $0.1 million related to interest and penalties, respectively. At 
September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had accruals for the payment of interest and penalties of $6.4 million and $5.7 
million, respectively. During fiscal 2022, it is reasonably possible that federal, state and foreign tax audit resolutions could 
reduce unrecognized tax benefits by approximately $2.8 million, either because the Company’s tax positions are sustained 
on audit, because the Company agrees to their disallowance or the statute of limitations closes. In addition to the interest 
related to uncertain tax positions, the Company recognized net interest income of $1.6 million related to federal income 
tax refunds in fiscal 2021.

The Company files federal income tax returns, as well as multiple state, local and non-U.S. jurisdiction tax returns. The 
Company is regularly audited by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. As of September 30, 2021, tax years open for 
examination under applicable statutes were as follows:

TTaaxx  JJuurriissddiiccttiioonn   OOppeenn  TTaaxx  YYeeaarrss
Australia  2016 - 2021
Belgium  2019 - 2021
Brazil  2016 - 2021
Canada  2017 - 2021
China  2016 - 2021
Mexico  2017 - 2021
Romania  2016 - 2021
Netherlands  2015 - 2021
United Kingdom  2019 - 2021
Other Non-U.S. Countries  2015 - 2021
United States (federal general)  2018 - 2021
United States (state and local)  2007 - 2021
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77..        EEaarrnniinnggss  PPeerr  SShhaarree

The reconciliation of basic weighted-average shares outstanding to diluted weighted-average shares outstanding was 
as follows:

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding   68,482,363   68,149,324   69,819,980 
Dilutive stock options and other equity-based compensation awards   726,388   638,405   738,255 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding   69,208,751   68,787,729   70,558,235  

Options not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders because 
they would have been anti-dilutive were as follows:

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200     22001199   
Stock options   121,274   581,634   506,207  

88..        RReecceeiivvaabblleess

Receivables consisted of the following (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
Trade receivables - U.S. government  $ 133.5  $ 105.8 
Trade receivables - other   849.2   734.0 
Finance receivables   6.4   18.8 
Other receivables   39.3   17.1 
   1,028.4   875.7 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts   (3.6)   (9.6)
  $ 1,024.8  $ 866.1  

Classification of receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
Current receivables  $ 1,017.3  $ 857.6 
Long-term receivables   7.5   8.5 
  $ 1,024.8  $ 866.1  

Finance receivable accrual status consisted of the following (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   
Receivables on nonaccrual status  $ —   $ 0.2 
Receivables past due 90 days or more and still accruing   —    —  
Receivables subject to general reserves   5.9   16.3 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   (0.1)   (0.4)
Receivables subject to specific reserves   0.5   2.5 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   (0.5)   (2.3)
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Receivables subject to specific reserves also include loans that the Company has modified in troubled debt 
restructurings as a concession to customers experiencing financial difficulty. To minimize the economic loss, the Company 
may modify certain finance receivables. Modifications generally consist of restructured payment terms and time-frames in 
which no payments are required. Losses on troubled debt restructurings were not significant during fiscal 2021, 2020 or 
2019, respectively.

Changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts by type of receivable were as follows (in millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   
 

 
FFiinnaannccee

RReecceeiivvaabblleess     
NNootteess

RReecceeiivvaabbllee     

TTrraaddee  aanndd
OOtthheerr

RReecceeiivvaabblleess     TToottaall   
Allowance for doubtful accounts at beginning of year  $ 2.7  $ —   $ 6.9  $ 9.6 

Provision for doubtful accounts, net of recoveries   (2.1)   —    (3.4)   (5.5)
Charge-off of accounts   —    —    (0.5)   (0.5)

Allowance for doubtful accounts at end of year  $ 0.6  $ —   $ 3.0  $ 3.6  

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    
FFiinnaannccee

RReecceeiivvaabblleess     
NNootteess

RReecceeiivvaabbllee     

TTrraaddee  aanndd
OOtthheerr

RReecceeiivvaabblleess     TToottaall   
Allowance for doubtful accounts at beginning of year  $ 2.2  $ 0.4  $ 8.7  $ 11.3 

Provision for doubtful accounts, net of recoveries   0.5   —    (1.1)   (0.6)
Charge-off of accounts   —    (0.4)   (0.7)   (1.1)

Allowance for doubtful accounts at end of year  $ 2.7  $ —   $ 6.9  $ 9.6  

99..        IInnvveennttoorriieess

Inventories consisted of the following (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Raw materials  $ 873.5  $ 745.7 
Partially finished products   276.2   295.2 
Finished products   265.2   565.0 
Inventories at FIFO cost   1,414.9   1,605.9 

Excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost   (147.5)   (100.5)
  $ 1,267.4  $ 1,505.4  

Liquidation of previously established LIFO layers had a favorable impact on net income and diluted earnings per share 
of $9.5 million and $0.14 per share, respectively, in fiscal 2021. There were no material liquidations of previously 
established LIFO layers in fiscal 2020 or 2019.



84

1100..        PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  PPllaanntt  aanndd  EEqquuiippmmeenntt

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Land and land improvements  $ 71.4  $ 63.9 
Buildings   407.3   377.1 
Machinery and equipment   729.5   723.7 
Software and related costs   203.0   175.6 
Equipment on operating lease to others   18.8   21.7 
Construction in progress   37.1   35.0 
   1,467.1   1,397.0 
Less accumulated depreciation   (871.2)   (831.1)
  $ 595.9  $ 565.9  

Depreciation expense was $87.5 million (including $3.6 million of accelerated depreciation related to restructuring 
actions), $89.1 million (including $6.9 million of accelerated depreciation related to restructuring actions) and $76.7 million 
in fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Capitalized interest was insignificant for all reported periods.

Equipment on operating lease to others represents the cost of equipment shipped to customers for whom the 
Company has guaranteed the residual value and equipment on short-term leases. These transactions are accounted for as 
operating leases with the related assets capitalized and depreciated over their estimated economic lives of five to ten 
years. Cost less accumulated depreciation for equipment on operating lease to others at September 30, 2021 and 2020 was 
$15.4 million and $18.9 million, respectively.

1111..        GGooooddwwiillll  aanndd  PPuurrcchhaasseedd  IInnttaannggiibbllee  AAsssseettss

As of July 1, 2021, the Company performed its annual impairment review relative to goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets (principally non-amortizable trade names). To derive the fair value of its reporting units, the Company 
utilized both the income and market approaches. For the annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021, the 
Company used a weighted-average cost of capital, depending on the reporting unit, of 8.5% to 13.0% (8.0% to 13.5% at 
July 1, 2020) and a terminal growth rate of 3.0% (3.0% at July 1, 2020). Under the market approach, the Company derived 
the fair value of its reporting units based on revenue and earnings multiples of comparable publicly-traded companies. As a 
corroborative source of information, the Company reconciles its estimated fair value to within a reasonable range of its 
market capitalization, which includes an assumed control premium (an adjustment reflecting an estimated fair value on a 
control basis), to verify the reasonableness of the fair value of its reporting units obtained through the aforementioned 
methods. The control premium is estimated based upon control premiums observed in comparable market transactions. To 
derive the fair value of its trade names, the Company utilized the “relief from royalty” approach.

At July 1, 2021, approximately 85% of the Company’s recorded goodwill and indefinite-lived purchased intangibles 
were concentrated within the JLG reporting unit in the Access Equipment segment. Assumptions utilized in the impairment 
analysis are highly judgmental. While the Company currently believes that an impairment of intangible assets at JLG is 
unlikely, events and conditions that could result in the impairment of intangibles at JLG include a sharp prolonged decline in 
economic conditions, significantly increased pricing pressure on JLG’s margins or other factors leading to reductions in 
expected long-term sales or profitability at JLG. Based on the Company’s annual impairment review, the Company 
concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets. Changes in estimates or the 
application of alternative assumptions could have produced significantly different results. 

The Company acquired Pratt Miller on January 19, 2021. See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
for additional information.



85

The following table presents changes in goodwill during fiscal 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

   
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     TToottaall   
Net goodwill at September 30, 2019  $ 868.8  $ —   $ 106.1  $ 20.8  $ 995.7 

Foreign currency translation   13.8   —    —    —    13.8 
Net goodwill at September 30, 2020   882.6   —    106.1   20.8   1,009.5 

Foreign currency translation   (2.0)   —    —    0.1   (1.9)
Acquisition   —    44.4   —    —    44.4 

Net goodwill at September 30, 2021  $ 880.6  $ 44.4  $ 106.1  $ 20.9  $ 1,052.0  

The following table presents details of the Company’s goodwill allocated to the reportable segments (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211     SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    GGrroossss     
AAccccuummuullaatteedd
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt     NNeett     GGrroossss     

AAccccuummuullaatteedd
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt     NNeett   

Access Equipment  $ 1,812.7  $ (932.1)  $ 880.6  $ 1,814.7  $ (932.1)  $ 882.6 
Defense   44.4   —    44.4   —    —    —  
Fire & Emergency   108.1   (2.0)   106.1   108.1   (2.0)   106.1 
Commercial   188.5   (167.6)   20.9   196.7   (175.9)   20.8 
  $ 2,153.7  $ (1,101.7)  $ 1,052.0  $ 2,119.5  $ (1,110.0)  $ 1,009.5  

Details of the Company’s total purchased intangible assets were as follows (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   

    

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

LLiiffee     GGrroossss     
AAccccuummuullaatteedd
AAmmoorrttiizzaattiioonn     NNeett   

Amortizable intangible assets:                 
Distribution network   39.1  $ 55.4  $ (35.1)  $ 20.3 
Technology-related   11.9   104.7   (103.9)   0.8 
Customer relationships   12.6   572.6   (550.0)   22.6 
Other   12.1   23.6   (17.6)   6.0 

   14.4   756.3   (706.6)   49.7 
Non-amortizable trade names       417.1   —    417.1 
      $ 1,173.4  $ (706.6)  $ 466.8  

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    

WWeeiigghhtteedd--
AAvveerraaggee

LLiiffee     GGrroossss     
AAccccuummuullaatteedd
AAmmoorrttiizzaattiioonn     NNeett   

Amortizable intangible assets:                 
Distribution network   39.1  $ 55.4  $ (33.8)  $ 21.6 
Technology-related   11.9   104.7   (103.3)   1.4 
Customer relationships   12.8   554.7   (545.6)   9.1 
Other   16.3   16.4   (15.0)   1.4 

   14.7   731.2   (697.7)   33.5 
Non-amortizable trade names       384.7   —    384.7 
      $ 1,115.9  $ (697.7)  $ 418.2  
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When determining the value of customer relationships for purposes of allocating the purchase price of an acquisition, 
the Company looks at existing customer contracts of the acquired business to determine if they represent a reliable future 
source of income and hence, a valuable intangible asset for the Company. The Company determines the fair value of the 
customer relationships based on the estimated future benefits the Company expects from the acquired customer 
contracts. In performing its evaluation and estimation of the useful lives of customer relationships, the Company looks to 
the historical growth rate of revenue of the acquired company’s existing customers as well as the historical attrition rates.

In connection with the valuation of intangible assets, a 40-year life was assigned to the value of the Pierce distribution 
network (net book value of $19.8 million at September 30, 2021). The Company believes Pierce maintains the largest North 
American fire apparatus distribution network. Pierce has exclusive contracts with each distributor related to the fire 
apparatus product offerings manufactured by Pierce. The useful life of the Pierce distribution network was based on a 
historical turnover analysis. Non-compete intangible asset lives are based on the terms of the applicable agreements.

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets for the five years succeeding September 30, 
2021 are as follows: 2022 - $11.0 million; 2023 - $7.2 million; 2024 - $4.3 million; 2025 - $4.2 million and 2026 - $4.2 
million.

1122..        LLeeaasseess

The Company leases certain real estate, information technology equipment, warehouse equipment, vehicles and other 
equipment almost exclusively through operating leases. The Company determines whether an arrangement contains a 
lease at inception. A lease liability and corresponding right of use (ROU) asset are recognized for qualifying leased assets 
based on the present value of fixed and certain index-based lease payments at lease commencement. Variable payments, 
which are generally determined based on the usage rate of the underlying asset, are excluded from the present value of 
lease payments and are recognized in the period in which the payment is made. To determine the present value of lease 
payments, the Company uses the stated interest rate in the lease, when available, or more commonly a secured 
incremental borrowing rate that reflects risk, term and economic environment in which the lease is denominated. The 
incremental borrowing rate is determined using a portfolio approach based on the current rate of interest that the 
Company would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized basis over a similar term. 
The Company has elected not to separate payments for lease components from payments for non-lease components in 
contracts that contain both components. Lease agreements may include options to extend or terminate the lease. Those 
options that are reasonably certain of exercise at lease commencement have been included in the term of the lease used to 
recognize the right of use assets and lease liabilities. The lease terms of the Company’s real estate and equipment leases 
extend up to 29 years and 18 years, respectively. The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities 
for leases with a term of twelve months or less. Expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term for 
operating leases.

The components of lease costs were as follows (in millions):

 FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211     22002200   

Operating lease cost $ 53.3  $ 57.4 
Variable lease cost  34.0   46.1 
Short-term lease cost  9.5   8.4  
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Supplemental information related to leases was as follows (in millions):

      SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   

    
BBaallaannccee  SShheeeett  
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn   FFiinnaannccee  lleeaasseess     

OOppeerraattiinngg  
lleeaasseess     TToottaall   

Lease right of use assets  Other long-term assets  $ 22.2  $ 194.7  $ 216.9 
Current lease liabilities  Other current liabilities   6.9   39.3   46.2 
Long-term lease liabilities  Other long-term liabilities   15.6   160.8   176.4 
               
Weighted average remaining lease term    3.5 years  8 years     
               
Weighted average discount rates     1.9%  2.9%    

      SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    
BBaallaannccee  SShheeeett  
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn   FFiinnaannccee  lleeaasseess     

OOppeerraattiinngg  
lleeaasseess     TToottaall   

Lease right of use assets  Other long-term assets  $ 13.2  $ 149.0  $ 162.2 
Current lease liabilities  Other current liabilities   3.6   43.5   47.1 
Long-term lease liabilities  Other long-term liabilities   9.7   109.1   118.8 
               
Weighted average remaining lease term    4.0 years  5.5 years     
               
Weighted average discount rates     2.4%  2.9%    

The table below presents the right of use asset balance for operating leases disaggregated by segment and type of 
lease (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   

    
AAcccceessss  

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd
iinntteerrsseeggmmeenntt
eelliimmiinnaattiioonnss     TToottaall   

Real estate leases  $ 84.3  $ 55.6  $ 6.2  $ 15.9  $ 12.2  $ 174.2 
Equipment leases   5.5   2.0   1.7   2.5   8.8   20.5 
  $ 89.8  $ 57.6  $ 7.9  $ 18.4  $ 21.0  $ 194.7  

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    
AAcccceessss  

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     

CCoorrppoorraattee  aanndd
iinntteerrsseeggmmeenntt
eelliimmiinnaattiioonnss     TToottaall   

Real estate leases  $ 61.4  $ 28.2  $ 6.5  $ 17.9  $ 7.0  $ 121.0 
Equipment leases   7.3   4.2   2.2   1.9   12.4   28.0 
  $ 68.7  $ 32.4  $ 8.7  $ 19.8  $ 19.4  $ 149.0  
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities at September 30, 2021 and minimum payments for operating leases having 
initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year were as follows (in millions):

AAmmoouunnttss  dduuee  iinn     
2022  $ 44.8 
2023   35.0 
2024   25.7 
2025   20.9 
2026   16.8 
Thereafter   83.2 

Total lease payments   226.4 
Less: imputed interest   (26.3)
Present value of lease liability  $ 200.1  

1133..        IInnvveessttmmeennttss  iinn  UUnnccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  AAffffiilliiaatteess

Equity method investments — Investments in equity securities where the Company’s ownership interest exceeds 20% 
and the Company does not have a controlling interest or where the ownership is less than 20% and for which the Company 
has a significant influence are accounted for by the equity method. 

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method consisted of the following (in millions):

          SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    OOwwnneerrsshhiipp  %%     22002211     22002200   

Mezcladores Trailers de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.   49% $ 8.3  $ 7.9 
BME Fire Trucks LLC   25%  5.1   —  
Construction Robotics, LLC   10%  2.9   1.8 
AutoTech Fund II, L.P.   7%  6.5   2.9 
Carnegie Foundry LLC   7%  5.0   —  
Westly Capital Partners Fund IV, L.P.   7%  1.1   —  
      $ 28.9  $ 12.6  

Recorded investments generally represent the Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of the Company’s 
ownership interest. Earnings or losses are reflected in “Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Due to the timing and availability of information, earnings or losses from unconsolidated affiliates 
accounted for using the equity method are recorded on a three-month lag. 

The Company and an unaffiliated third party are joint venture partners in Mezcladores Trailers de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 
(Mezcladoras). Mezcladoras is a manufacturer and distributor of industrial and commercial machinery with primary 
operations in Mexico. The Company recognized sales to Mezcladoras of $3.4 million, $3.3 million and $3.6 million in fiscal 
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company recognizes income on sales to Mezcladoras at the time of shipment in 
proportion to the outside third-party interest in Mezcladoras and recognizes the remaining income upon the joint venture's 
sale of inventory to an unaffiliated customer. The Company earns a service fee for certain operational support services 
provided to Mezcladoras. The Company recognized service fees of $0.8 million, $1.1 million and $1.4 million in fiscal 2021, 
2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company holds an equity interest in BME Fire Trucks LLC (Boise Mobile). Boise Mobile is a manufacturer and 
distributor of custom fire apparatus specializing in challenging environments, such as wild fires. There were no material 
transactions between the Company and Boise Mobile in fiscal 2021.
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Investments in equity securities — Investments in equity securities where the Company does not have a controlling 
interest or significant influence are recorded at fair value to the extent it is readily determinable. Investments in equity 
securities without a readily determinable fair value are recorded at cost and adjusted for any impairments and any 
observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer should they 
occur. Gains or losses are reflected in “Miscellaneous, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates not accounted for under the equity method consisted of the following (in 
millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211     SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    CCoosstt  BBaassiiss     
UUnnrreeaalliizzeedd  
GGaaiinn  ((LLoossss))     FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee     CCoosstt  BBaassiiss     

UUnnrreeaalliizzeedd  
GGaaiinn  ((LLoossss))     FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee   

Equity investments with readily 
determinable fair value  $ 25.0  $ (4.4)  $ 20.6  $ —   $ —   $ —  

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211     SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    CCoosstt  BBaassiiss     

AAccccuummuullaatteedd
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  

aanndd  
AAddjjuussttmmeennttss     

CCaarrrryyiinngg  
VVaalluuee     CCoosstt  BBaassiiss     

AAccccuummuullaatteedd
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  

aanndd  
AAddjjuussttmmeennttss     

CCaarrrryyiinngg  
VVaalluuee   

Equity investments without readily 
determinable fair value  $ 1.7  $ —   $ 1.7  $ —   $ —   $ —  

1144..        OOtthheerr  LLoonngg--TTeerrmm  AAsssseettss

Other long-term assets consisted of the following (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Lease right of use asset (See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)  $ 216.9  $ 162.2 
Investments in affiliates (See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)   51.2   12.6 
Deferred contract costs (See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)   50.6   —  
Rabbi trust, less current portion   15.4   17.9 
Deferred income taxes, net (See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)   8.3   78.6 
Customer finance receivables   2.4   5.6 
Other   14.3   10.1 
   359.1   287.0 
Less allowance for doubtful receivables   (0.1)   (0.5)
  $ 359.0  $ 286.5  

The rabbi trust (the “Trust”) holds investments to fund certain of the Company’s obligations under its nonqualified 
SERP. Trust investments include money market and mutual funds. The Trust assets are subject to claims of the Company’s 
creditors.
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1155..        CCrreeddiitt  AAggrreeeemmeennttss

The Company was obligated under the following debt instruments (in millions):

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   
    PPrriinncciippaall     DDeebbtt  IIssssuuaannccee  CCoossttss     DDeebbtt,,  NNeett   

Senior Term Loan  $ 225.0  $ (0.2)  $ 224.8 
4.600% Senior notes due May 2028   300.0   (2.6)   297.4 
3.100% Senior notes due March 2030   300.0   (3.4)   296.6 
  $ 825.0  $ (6.2)  $ 818.8  

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   
    PPrriinncciippaall     DDeebbtt  IIssssuuaannccee  CCoossttss     DDeebbtt,,  NNeett   

Senior Term Loan  $ 225.0  $ (0.3)  $ 224.7 
4.600% Senior notes due May 2028   300.0   (3.0)   297.0 
3.100% Senior notes due March 2030   300.0   (3.8)   296.2 
  $ 825.0  $ (7.1)  $ 817.9 

             
Other short-term debt          $ 5.2  

On April 3, 2018, the Company entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with various lenders 
(the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for (i) an unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit 
Facility”) that matures in April 2023 with an initial maximum aggregate amount of availability of $850 million and (ii) an 
unsecured $325 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) due in quarterly principal installments of $4.1 million commencing 
September 30, 2019 with a balloon payment of $264.1 million due at maturity in April 2023. The Company has prepaid all 
required quarterly principal installments and $39.1 million of the balloon payment on the Term Loan.

At September 30, 2021, outstanding letters of credit of $17.2 million reduced the available capacity under the 
Revolving Credit Facility to $832.8 million.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay (i) an unused commitment fee ranging from 0.125% to 
0.275% per annum of the average daily unused portion of the aggregate revolving credit commitments under the Credit 
Agreement and (ii) a fee ranging from 0.563% to 1.75% per annum of the maximum amount available to be drawn for each 
letter of credit issued and outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a variable rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus a specified margin, which 
may be adjusted upward or downward depending on whether certain criteria are satisfied, or (ii) for dollar-denominated 
loans only, the base rate (which is the highest of (a) the administrative agent’s prime rate, (b) the federal funds rate plus 
0.50% or (c) the sum of 1% plus one-month LIBOR) plus a specified margin, which may be adjusted upward or downward 
depending on whether certain criteria are satisfied. At September 30, 2021, the interest spread on the Revolving Credit 
Facility and Term Loan was 125 basis points. The weighted-average interest rate on borrowings outstanding under the 
Term Loan at September 30, 2021 was 1.33%.

The Credit Agreement contains various restrictions and covenants, including requirements that the Company maintain 
certain financial ratios at prescribed levels and restrictions, subject to certain exceptions, on the ability of the Company and 
certain of its subsidiaries to consolidate or merge, create liens, incur additional indebtedness, and dispose of substantially 
all assets.
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The Credit Agreement contains the following financial covenants:

• Leverage Ratio: A maximum leverage ratio (defined as, with certain adjustments, the ratio of the Company’s 
consolidated indebtedness to consolidated net income for the previous four quarters before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, amortization, non-cash charges and certain other items (EBITDA)) as of the last day of any fiscal 
quarter of 3.75 to 1.00.

• Interest Coverage Ratio: A minimum interest coverage ratio (defined as, with certain adjustments, the ratio of the 
Company’s consolidated EBITDA to the Company’s consolidated cash interest expense for the previous four 
quarters) as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of 2.50 to 1.00.

The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement as of September 30, 
2021.

In May 2018, the Company issued $300.0 million of 4.600% unsecured senior notes due May 15, 2028 (the 
“2028 Senior Notes”). The Company used the net proceeds from the sale of the 2028 Senior Notes to repay certain 
outstanding notes of the Company and to pre-pay $49.2 million of quarterly principal installment payments under the Term 
Loan. In February 2020, the Company issued $300.0 million of 3.100% unsecured senior notes due March 1, 2030 (the 
“2030 Senior Notes”) at a discount of $1.2 million. The Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the 
2030 Senior Notes to redeem certain outstanding notes of the Company. The Company used the remaining net proceeds to 
pre-pay all outstanding future quarterly principal installments, as well as pay down a portion of the balloon payment due at 
maturity on the Term Loan. The Company recognized approximately $8.5 million of expense associated with the 2030 
Senior Notes transaction, comprised of unamortized debt issuance costs and call premium costs on the 2025 Senior Notes. 
Expenses related to the transaction are included in interest expense. Additionally, approximately $2.9 million of debt 
issuance costs were capitalized to long-term debt in connection with the transaction. The 2028 Senior Notes and the 2030 
Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”) between the Company and a trustee. The indenture 
contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. The Company has the option to redeem the 2028 and 2030 Senior 
Notes at any time for a premium.

In September 2019, the Company entered into a 220.0 million Chinese renminbi uncommitted line of credit to provide 
short-term finance support to operations in China. At September 30, 2021, there were no outstanding borrowings on the 
uncommitted line of credit. There was 35.0 million Chinese renminbi ($5.2 million) outstanding on the uncommitted line of 
credit at September 30, 2020. The line of credit carries a variable interest rate that is set by the lender, which was 3.5% at 
both September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020.

The fair value of the long-term debt is estimated based upon Level 2 inputs to reflect market rate of the Company’s 
debt. At September 30, 2021, the fair value of the 2028 Senior Notes and the 2030 Senior Notes was estimated to be $344 
million ($342 million at September 30, 2020) and $317 million ($316 million at September 30, 2020), respectively. The fair 
value of the Term Loan approximated book value at both September 30, 2021 and 2020. See Note 23 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the definition of a Level 2 input.

1166..        WWaarrrraannttiieess

The Company’s products generally carry explicit warranties that extend from six months to five years, based on terms 
that are generally accepted in the marketplace. Selected components (such as engines, transmissions, tires, etc.) included 
in the Company’s end products may include manufacturers’ warranties. These manufacturers’ warranties are generally 
passed on to the end customer of the Company’s products, and the customer would generally deal directly with the 
component manufacturer. Warranty costs recorded were $66.3 million, $57.9 million and $54.9 million in fiscal 2021, 2020 
and 2019, respectively.
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Provisions for estimated warranty and other related costs are recorded at the time of sale and are periodically adjusted 
to reflect actual experience. Certain warranty and other related claims involve matters of dispute that ultimately are 
resolved by negotiation, arbitration or litigation. At times, warranty issues arise that are beyond the scope of the 
Company’s historical experience. It is reasonably possible that additional warranty and other related claims could arise from 
disputes or other matters in excess of amounts accrued; however, the Company does not expect that any such amounts, 
while not determinable, would have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows.

Changes in the Company’s assurance-type warranty liability were as follows (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Balance at beginning of year  $ 67.4  $ 65.1 
Warranty provisions   50.1   43.1 
Settlements made   (65.0)   (55.9)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties, net   16.2   14.8 
Foreign currency translation   —    0.3 
Acquisition   0.3   —  

Balance at end of year  $ 69.0  $ 67.4  

Changes in the liability for pre-existing warranties in fiscal 2021 and 2020 of $16.9 million and $12.3 million, 
respectively, within the Defense segment primarily relate to additional warranty costs on the Joint Light Tactical Vehicle 
(JLTV) program. The liabilities associated with service-type warranties are disclosed in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

1177..        GGuuaarraanntteeee  AArrrraannggeemmeennttss

Customers of the Company, from time to time, may fund purchases of the Company’s equipment through third-party 
finance companies. In certain instances, the Company may be requested to provide support for these arrangements 
through credit or residual value guarantees, by which the Company agrees to make payments to the finance companies in 
certain circumstances as further described below.

Credit Guarantees: The Company is party to multiple agreements whereby at September 30, 2021 the Company 
guaranteed an aggregate of $846.6 million in indebtedness of customers. The Company estimated that its maximum loss 
exposure under these contracts at September 30, 2021 was $167.0 million. Terms of these guarantees coincide with the 
financing arranged by the customer and generally do not exceed five years. Under the terms of these agreements and upon 
the occurrence of certain events, the Company generally has the ability to, among other things, take possession of the 
underlying collateral. If the financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate and result in their inability to make 
payments, then loss provisions in excess of amounts provided for at inception may be required. Given the Company’s 
position as original equipment manufacturer and its knowledge of end markets, the Company, when called upon to fulfill a 
guarantee, generally has been able to liquidate the financed equipment at a minimal loss, if any, to the Company. While the 
Company does not expect to experience losses under these agreements that are materially in excess of the amounts 
reserved, it cannot provide any assurance that the financial condition of the third parties will not deteriorate resulting in 
the third parties’ inability to meet their obligations. In the event that this occurs, the Company cannot guarantee that the 
collateral underlying the agreements will be sufficient to avoid losses materially in excess of the amounts reserved. Any 
losses under these guarantees would generally be mitigated by the value of any underlying collateral, including financed 
equipment. During periods of economic weakness, collateral values generally decline and can contribute to higher exposure 
to losses.
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Residual Value Guarantees: The Company is party to multiple agreements whereby at September 30, 2021 the 
Company guaranteed to support an aggregate of $94.1 million of customer equipment value. The Company estimated that 
its maximum loss exposure under these contracts at September 30, 2021 was $10.9 million. Terms of these guarantees 
coincide with the financing arranged by the customer and generally do not exceed five years. Under the terms of these 
agreements, the Company guarantees that a piece of equipment will have a minimum residual value at a future date. If the 
counterparty is not able to recover the agreed upon residual value through sale, or alternative disposition, the Company is 
responsible for a portion of the shortfall. The Company is generally able to mitigate a portion of the risk associated with 
these guarantees by staggering the maturity terms of the guarantees, diversification of the portfolio and leveraging 
knowledge gained through the Company’s own experience in the used equipment markets. There can be no assurance the 
Company’s historical experience in used equipment markets will be indicative of future results. The Company’s ability to 
recover losses experienced from its guarantees may be affected by economic conditions in used equipment markets at the 
time of loss. During periods of economic weakness, residual values generally decline and can contribute to higher exposure 
to losses.

Changes in the Company’s guarantee liability were as follows (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

Balance at beginning of year  $ 15.5  $ 15.8 
Adoption of ASC 326   (0.6)   —  
Provision for new credit guarantees   2.4   4.9 
Changes for pre-existing guarantees, net   (0.5)   (0.5)
Amortization of previous guarantees   (2.8)   (5.0)
Foreign currency translation   0.1   0.3 

Balance at end of year  $ 14.1  $ 15.5  

Due to the adoption of ASC 326, the portion of the guarantee liabilities that relates to current expected credit losses is 
now recognized separately and is recorded within “Other current liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities” in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

1188..        RReessttrruuccttuurriinngg  aanndd  OOtthheerr  CChhaarrggeess

In June 2020, the Access Equipment segment announced that it would close its Medias, Romania manufacturing facility 
and relocate the production to factories in the United States, Mexico and China. The Company also announced that it 
would close its service center in Riverside, California. Both facilities were closed to simplify and better align operations to 
support customers and enable sustainable growth. The Company ceased all operations in Medias as of June 30, 2021 and in 
Riverside as of December 31, 2020. The Access Equipment segment also initiated targeted reductions in its salaried 
workforce in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The Company incurred restructuring charges of $3.1 million and 
$10.4 million during fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively, for severance, other post-employment-related benefits, lease 
impairments, long-lived asset impairments and lease termination costs. The Access Equipment segment incurred additional 
charges of $7.4 million related to these restructuring actions during fiscal 2021, consisting of $2.8 million of accelerated 
depreciation, $4.1 million of inventory obsolescence and $0.5 million of other operational costs. The Access Equipment 
segment incurred additional charges of $4.7 million related to these restructuring actions during fiscal 2020, consisting of 
$2.8 million of accelerated depreciation, $1.6 million in inventory obsolescence and $0.3 million of other operational costs.

In July 2020, the Commercial segment announced that it will cease production of rear discharge concrete mixers at its 
Dodge Center, Minnesota, facility and relocate it to London, Ontario and the Dodge Center factory would be dedicated to 
refuse collection vehicle manufacturing. Both product lines benefit from the focused facilities. The Commercial segment 
incurred restructuring charges of $1.5 million during fiscal 2020, consisting of severance costs and other post-employment-
related benefits. In addition, the Commercial segment experienced $4.1 million of accelerated depreciation as a result of 
this action during fiscal 2020.
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Pre-tax restructuring charges were as follows (in millions):

  FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
  22002211    22002200   
 

 
CCoosstt  ooff  
SSaalleess     

SSeelllliinngg,,  GGeenneerraall  aanndd
AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee

EExxppeennsseess     TToottaall    
CCoosstt  ooff  
SSaalleess     

SSeelllliinngg,,  GGeenneerraall  aanndd
AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee

EExxppeennsseess     TToottaall   
Access Equipment  $ 4.6  $ (1.5)  $ 3.1  $ 2.9  $ 7.5  $ 10.4 
Commercial   0.1   —    0.1   0.7   0.8   1.5 
Fire & Emergency   —    —    —    0.3   1.1   1.4 
Corporate   —    (0.4)   (0.4)   —    1.1   1.1 
Total  $ 4.7  $ (1.9)  $ 2.8  $ 3.9  $ 10.5  $ 14.4  

Changes in the Company’s restructuring reserves, included within “Other current liabilities” in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, were as follows (in millions):

   

EEmmppllooyyeeee  SSeevveerraannccee
aanndd  TTeerrmmiinnaattiioonn

BBeenneeffiittss     

PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  PPllaanntt  aanndd
EEqquuiippmmeenntt
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt     OOtthheerr  CCoossttss     TToottaall   

Balance at September 30, 2019  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —  
Restructuring provision   13.3   0.8   0.3   14.4 
Utilized - cash   (3.5)   —    —    (3.5)
Utilized - noncash   —    (0.8)   —    (0.8)
Foreign currency translation   (0.1)   —    —    (0.1)

Balance at September 30, 2020   9.7   —    0.3   10.0 
Restructuring provision   —    2.3   0.5   2.8 
Utilized - cash   (9.3)   —    (2.3)   (11.6)
Utilized - noncash   —    (2.3)   1.6   (0.7)

Balance at September 30, 2021  $ 0.4  $ —   $ 0.1  $ 0.5  

1199..        CCoonnttiinnggeenncciieess,,  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  EEssttiimmaatteess  aanndd  CCoonncceennttrraattiioonnss

Personal Injury Actions and Other — Product and general liability claims are made against the Company from time to 
time in the ordinary course of business. The Company is generally self-insured for future claims up to $5.0 million per claim. 
Accordingly, a reserve is maintained for the estimated costs of such claims. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the estimated 
net liabilities for product and general liability claims totaled $49.5 million and $33.8 million, respectively. There is inherent 
uncertainty as to the eventual resolution of unsettled claims. Management, however, believes that any losses in excess of 
established reserves will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash 
flows.

Market Risks — The Company was contingently liable under bid, performance and specialty bonds totaling $1.13 billion 
and $721.1 million at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Open standby letters of credit issued by the Company’s 
banks in favor of third parties totaled $22.3 million and $64.4 million at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Other Matters — The Company is subject to other environmental matters and legal proceedings and claims, including 
patent, antitrust, product liability, warranty and state dealership regulation compliance proceedings that arise in the 
ordinary course of business. Although the final results of all such matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, 
management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such matters and claims will not have a material effect on the 
Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Actual results could vary, among other things, due to the 
uncertainties involved in litigation.

At September 30, 2021, approximately 19% of the Company’s workforce was covered under collective bargaining 
agreements.
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The Company derived a significant portion of its revenue from the DoD, as follows (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

DoD  $ 2,395.1  $ 2,300.4  $ 2,006.9 
Foreign military sales   139.2   71.2   27.7 

Total DoD sales  $ 2,534.3  $ 2,371.6  $ 2,034.6  

No other customer represented more than 10% of sales for fiscal 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Certain risks are inherent in doing business with the DoD, including technological changes and changes in levels of 
defense spending. All DoD contracts contain a provision that they may be terminated at any time at the convenience of the 
U.S. government. In such an event, the Company is entitled to recover allowable costs plus a reasonable profit earned to 
the date of termination. Major contracts for military systems are performed over extended periods of time and are subject 
to changes in scope of work and delivery schedules. Pricing negotiations on changes and settlement of claims often extend 
over prolonged periods of time. The Company’s ultimate profitability on such contracts may depend on the eventual 
outcome of an equitable settlement of contractual issues with the Company’s customers.

Because the Company is a relatively large defense contractor, the Company’s U.S. government contract operations are 
subject to extensive annual audit processes and to U.S. government investigations of business practices and cost 
classifications from which legal or administrative proceedings can result. Based on U.S. government procurement 
regulations, under certain circumstances the Company could be fined, as well as suspended or debarred from U.S. 
government contracting. During a suspension or debarment, the Company would also be prohibited from selling equipment 
or services to customers that depend on loans or financial commitments from the Export-Import Bank, Overseas Private 
Investment Corporation and similar U.S. government agencies.

The Company recognized an $18.5 million gain during fiscal 2020 upon receipt of proceeds for a claim under its 
property and business interruption insurance. The claim was primarily for property damage and lost profits due to a 
weather-related roof collapse that occurred at one of the Commercial segment’s facilities in February 2019. The gain was 
recognized as a reduction of cost of sales ($10.8 million), a reduction of selling, general and administrative expense 
($1.5 million) and miscellaneous income ($6.2 million).

2200..        SShhaarreehhoollddeerrss’’  EEqquuiittyy

In May 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a Common Stock repurchase authorization of 10,000,000 
shares. The Company repurchased 927,934 shares of its Common Stock under this authorization in fiscal 2021 at a cost of 
$107.8 million. The Company repurchased 550,853 shares of Common Stock under this authorization in fiscal 2020 at a cost 
of $40.8 million. The Company repurchased 4,866,532 shares of Common Stock under this authorization in fiscal 2019 at a 
cost of $350.1 million. The Company has remaining authority to repurchase 6,531,394 shares of Common Stock as of 
September 30, 2021.
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2211..        AAccccuummuullaatteedd  OOtthheerr  CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee  IInnccoommee  ((LLoossss))

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component were as follows (in millions):

   

EEmmppllooyyeeee  
PPeennssiioonn  aanndd

PPoossttrreettiirreemmeenntt
BBeenneeffiittss,,  NNeett  ooff  

TTaaxx     

CCuummuullaattiivvee
TTrraannssllaattiioonn

AAddjjuussttmmeennttss     

DDeerriivvaattiivvee  
IInnssttrruummeennttss,,

NNeett  ooff  TTaaxx     

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  
OOtthheerr

CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee
IInnccoommee  ((LLoossss))   

Balance at September 30, 2018  $ (10.9)  $ (96.2)  $ 0.3  $ (106.8)
Tax impact of U.S. tax reform on Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2018-02)   (9.1)   —    —    (9.1)

Balance at October 1, 2018   (20.0)   (96.2)   0.3   (115.9)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications   (49.5)   (36.3)   —    (85.8)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)   0.1   —    —    0.1 
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)   (49.4)   (36.3)   —    (85.7)

Balance at September 30, 2019   (69.4)   (132.5)   0.3   (201.6)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications   (29.3)   30.4   (0.5)   0.6 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)   2.8   —    (0.2)   2.6 
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)   (26.5)   30.4   (0.7)   3.2 

Balance at September 30, 2020   (95.9)   (102.1)   (0.4)   (198.4)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications   57.1   3.8   1.5   62.4 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)   4.6   —    0.4   5.0 
Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)   61.7   3.8   1.9   67.4 

Balance at September 30, 2021  $ (34.2)  $ (98.3)  $ 1.5  $ (131.0)

Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) included in the computation of net periodic 
pension and postretirement benefit cost (See Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
details regarding employee benefit plans) were as follows (in millions):

   CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    iinnccoommee  ((eexxppeennssee))   22002211     22002200     22001199   

AAmmoorrttiizzaattiioonn  ooff  eemmppllooyyeeee  ppeennssiioonn  aanndd  ppoossttrreettiirreemmeenntt  
bbeenneeffiittss  iitteemmss                 

Prior service costs  Miscellaneous, net  $ 0.9  $ 0.7  $ 0.2 
Actuarial (gains) losses  Miscellaneous, net   5.2   3.1   —  
Total before tax     6.1   3.8   0.2 
Tax benefit     (1.5)   (1.0)   (0.1)
Net of tax    $ 4.6  $ 2.8  $ 0.1  

2222..        DDeerriivvaattiivvee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  IInnssttrruummeennttss  aanndd  HHeeddggiinngg  AAccttiivviittiieess

The Company uses forward foreign currency exchange contracts (derivatives) to reduce the exchange rate risk of 
specific foreign currency denominated transactions. These derivatives typically require the exchange of a foreign currency 
for U.S. dollars at a fixed rate at a future date. At times, the Company has designated these hedges as either cash flow 
hedges or fair value hedges under FASB ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, as follows:
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Fair Value Hedging Strategy: The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge firm commitments 
denominated in foreign currencies. The purpose of the Company’s foreign currency hedging activities is to protect the 
Company from risk that the eventual U.S. dollar-equivalent cash flows from the sale of products to international customers 
will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy: To protect against the impact of movements in foreign exchange rates on forecasted 
purchases or sales transactions denominated in foreign currency, the Company has a foreign currency cash flow hedging 
program. The Company hedges portions of its forecasted transactions denominated in foreign currency with forward 
contracts.

At September 30, 2021, the total notional U.S. dollar equivalent of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts 
designated as hedges in accordance with ASC Topic 815 was $113.5 million. Net gains or losses related to these contracts 
are recorded within the same line item in the Consolidated Statements of Income impacted by the hedged item. The 
maximum length of time the Company is hedging its exposure to the variability in future cash flows is two years.

The Company enters into forward foreign currency exchange contracts to create economic hedges to manage foreign 
exchange risk exposure associated with non-functional currency denominated receivables and payables resulting from 
global sales and sourcing activities. The Company has not designated these derivative contracts as hedge transactions 
under FASB ASC Topic 815, and accordingly, the mark-to-market impact of these derivatives is recorded each period in 
current earnings within “Miscellaneous, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair value of foreign currency 
related derivatives is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in “Other current assets” and “Other current liabilities.” 
At September 30, 2021, the U.S. dollar equivalent of these outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts totaled $64.0 
million in notional amounts covering a variety of foreign currency exposures.

The fair values of all open derivative instruments were as follows (in millions):

  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211     SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    

OOtthheerr                  
CCuurrrreenntt                
AAsssseettss     

OOtthheerr
LLoonngg  
TTeerrmm
AAsssseettss     

OOtthheerr                  
CCuurrrreenntt                

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess     

OOtthheerr
LLoonngg  
TTeerrmm

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess     

OOtthheerr                  
CCuurrrreenntt                
AAsssseettss     

OOtthheerr
LLoonngg  
TTeerrmm
AAsssseettss     

OOtthheerr                  
CCuurrrreenntt                

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess     

OOtthheerr
LLoonngg  
TTeerrmm

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess   
CCaasshh  ffllooww  hheeddggeess::                                 

Foreign exchange contracts  $ 0.5  $ 1.8  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 0.5  $ —  
                                 
NNoott  ddeessiiggnnaatteedd  aass  hheeddggiinngg  
iinnssttrruummeennttss::                                 

Foreign exchange contracts   0.2   0.1   1.5   0.2   —    —    2.0   —  
  $ 0.7  $ 1.9  $ 1.5  $ 0.2  $ —   $ —   $ 2.5  $ —  

The pre-tax effects of derivative instruments consisted of the following (in millions):

    FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   

    
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff
GGaaiinnss  ((LLoosssseess))   22002211     22002200     22001199   

CCaasshh  ffllooww  hheeddggeess::               
Foreign exchange contracts  Cost of sales  $ (0.7)  $ 0.6  $ 1.3 

               
NNoott  ddeessiiggnnaatteedd  aass  hheeddggiinngg  iinnssttrruummeennttss::               

Foreign exchange contracts  Miscellaneous, net   0.2   1.7   (1.7)
    $ (0.5)  $ 2.3  $ (0.4)
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2233..        FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee  MMeeaassuurreemmeenntt

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. FASB ASC Topic 820 requires disclosures that categorize assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
into one of three different levels depending on the assumptions (i.e., inputs) used in the valuation. Level 1 provides the 
most reliable measure of fair value, while Level 3 generally requires significant management judgment.

The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, such as quoted 
prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
inactive markets.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing the asset or 
liability.

The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities were as follows (in millions):

   LLeevveell  11     LLeevveell  22     LLeevveell  33     TToottaall   
SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211                 
AAsssseettss::                 

SERP plan assets (a)  $ 21.3  $ —   $ —   $ 21.3 
Investment in equity securities (b)   20.6   —    —    20.6 
Foreign currency exchange derivatives (c)   —    2.6   —    2.6 

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess::                 
Foreign currency exchange derivatives (c)  $ —   $ 1.7  $ —   $ 1.7  

   LLeevveell  11     LLeevveell  22     LLeevveell  33     TToottaall   
SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200                  
AAsssseettss::                  

SERP plan assets (a)  $ 21.4  $ —   $ —   $ 21.4 
LLiiaabbiilliittiieess::                  

Foreign currency exchange derivatives (c)  $ —   $ 2.5  $ —   $ 2.5  

(a) Represents investments in a rabbi trust for the Company’s non-qualified SERP. The fair values of these investments are 
determined using a market approach. Investments include mutual funds for which quoted prices in active markets are 
available. The Company records changes in the fair value of investments in “Miscellaneous, net” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income.

(b) Represents investments in equity securities for which quoted prices in active markets are available. The Company records 
changes in the fair value of investments in “Miscellaneous, net” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(c) Based on observable market transactions of forward currency prices.

See Notes 5, 13 and 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for fair value information related to pension 
assets, investments and debt.
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Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis — In addition to items that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis, the Company also has assets and liabilities in its balance sheet that are measured at fair value on a 
nonrecurring basis. As these assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, they are not included 
in the tables above. Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include long-lived assets 
(See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed through 
acquisition, Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for impairments of long-lived assets, Note 11 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for impairment valuation analysis of intangible assets and Note 12 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements for impairments of right of use assets). The Company has determined that the fair 
value measurements related to each of these assets rely primarily on Company-specific inputs and the Company’s 
assumptions about the use of the assets, as observable inputs are not available. As such, the Company has determined that 
each of these fair value measurements reside within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

2244..        BBuussiinneessss  SSeeggmmeenntt  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn

The Company is organized into four reportable segments based on the internal organization used by the Chief 
Executive Officer for making operating decisions and measuring performance and based on the similarity of customers 
served, common management, common use of facilities and economic results attained. The Company’s segments are as 
follows:

AAcccceessss  EEqquuiippmmeenntt: This segment consists of JLG and JerrDan. JLG designs and manufactures aerial work platforms and 
telehandlers that are sold worldwide for use in a wide variety of construction, industrial, institutional and general 
maintenance applications to position workers and materials at elevated heights. Access Equipment customers include 
equipment rental companies, construction contractors, manufacturing companies and home improvement centers. JerrDan 
designs, manufactures and markets towing and recovery equipment in the U.S. and abroad.

DDeeffeennssee: This segment consists of Oshkosh Defense, Pratt Miller and snow removal vehicles for military and civilian 
airports. These business units design and manufacture tactical wheeled vehicles and supply parts and services for the U.S. 
military and for other militaries around the world, as well as offer engineering and product development services primarily 
to customers in the motorsports and multiple ground vehicle markets. Sales to the DoD accounted for 95%, 96% and 94% 
of the segment’s sales for fiscal 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

FFiirree  &&  EEmmeerrggeennccyy: This segment includes Pierce, Airport Products and Kewaunee. These business units design, 
manufacture and market commercial and custom fire vehicles, simulators and emergency vehicles primarily for fire 
departments, airports and other governmental units, and broadcast vehicles for broadcasters and TV stations in the U.S. 
and abroad.

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall: This segment includes McNeilus, London, IMT and Oshkosh Commercial. McNeilus and London design, 
manufacture, market and distribute refuse collection vehicles and components. McNeilus, London and Oshkosh 
Commercial also design, manufacture, market and distribute concrete mixer vehicles and components. IMT is a designer 
and manufacturer of field service vehicles and truck-mounted cranes for niche markets. Sales are made primarily to 
commercial and municipal customers in the Americas.

In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, for purposes of business segment performance 
measurement, the Company does not allocate to individual business segments costs or items that are of a non-operating 
nature or organizational or functional expenses of a corporate nature. The caption “Corporate” includes corporate office 
expenses, share-based compensation, costs of certain business initiatives and shared services or operations benefiting 
multiple segments, and results of insignificant operations. Identifiable assets of the business segments exclude general 
corporate assets, which principally consist of cash and cash equivalents, certain property, plant and equipment, and certain 
other assets pertaining to corporate activities. Intersegment sales generally include amounts invoiced by a segment for 
work performed for another segment. Amounts are based on actual work performed and agreed-upon pricing, which is 
intended to be reflective of the contribution made by the supplying business segment. The accounting policies of the 
reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Selected financial information concerning the Company’s reportable segments and product lines is as follows (in 
millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

    
EExxtteerrnnaall

CCuussttoommeerrss    
IInntteerr--

sseeggmmeenntt     
NNeett

SSaalleess     
EExxtteerrnnaall

CCuussttoommeerrss    
IInntteerr--

sseeggmmeenntt     
NNeett

SSaalleess     
EExxtteerrnnaall

CCuussttoommeerrss    
IInntteerr--

sseeggmmeenntt     
NNeett

SSaalleess   
AAcccceessss  EEqquuiippmmeenntt                                     

Aerial work platforms  $ 1,471.4  $ —   $ 1,471.4  $ 1,101.7  $ —   $ 1,101.7  $ 1,944.4  $ —   $ 1,944.4 
Telehandlers   769.4   —    769.4   680.4   —    680.4   1,254.9   —    1,254.9 
Other   826.5   4.8   831.3   723.6   9.4   733.0   880.4   —    880.4 

Total Access 
Equipment   3,067.3   4.8   3,072.1   2,505.7   9.4   2,515.1   4,079.7   —    4,079.7 
                                     

DDeeffeennssee  ((aa))   2,524.1   1.5   2,525.6   2,300.4   11.1   2,311.5   2,085.7   11.8   2,097.5 
                                      
FFiirree  &&  EEmmeerrggeennccyy  ((aa))   1,211.6   15.0   1,226.6   1,098.0   9.0   1,107.0   1,194.4   16.3   1,210.7 
                                      
CCoommmmeerrcciiaall                                     

Refuse collection   465.9   —    465.9   437.2   —    437.2   451.9   —    451.9 
Concrete   364.8   —    364.8   403.5   —    403.5   439.9   —    439.9 
Other   102.9   4.0   106.9   110.6   6.5   117.1   128.3   2.1   130.4 

Total Commercial   933.6   4.0   937.6   951.3   6.5   957.8   1,020.1   2.1   1,022.2 
Corporate and intersegment 
eliminations (a)   0.7   (25.3)   (24.6)   1.4   (36.0)   (34.6)   2.1   (30.2)   (28.1)

Consolidated  $ 7,737.3  $ —   $ 7,737.3  $ 6,856.8  $ —   $ 6,856.8  $ 8,382.0  $ —   $ 8,382.0  

(a) Results for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business 
from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.
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   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

OOppeerraattiinngg  iinnccoommee  ((lloossss))::              
Access Equipment (a)  $ 249.1  $ 198.6  $ 502.6 
Defense (b) (c)   197.8   188.1   207.8 
Fire & Emergency (b) (d)   174.2   146.5   172.0 
Commercial (e)   71.0   81.2   66.8 
Corporate (f)   (147.4)   (125.7)   (152.2)

Consolidated   544.7   488.7   797.0 
IInntteerreesstt  eexxppeennssee,,  nneett  ooff  iinntteerreesstt  iinnccoommee  ((gg))    (44.7)   (51.8)   (47.6)
MMiisscceellllaanneeoouuss  ootthheerr  ((eexxppeennssee))  iinnccoommee  ((hh))    (2.1)   2.2   1.3 
IInnccoommee  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxxeess  aanndd  lloosssseess  ooff  uunnccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aaffffiilliiaatteess   $ 497.9  $ 439.1  $ 750.7  

(a) Fiscal 2021 results include $3.1 million of restructuring costs and $7.4 million operating expenses related to restructuring 
plans. Fiscal 2020 results include $10.4 million of restructuring costs and $4.7 million operating expenses related to 
restructuring plans. 

(b) Results for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business 
from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

(c) Fiscal 2021 results include $1.0 million of acquisition related costs. Fiscal 2020 results include reimbursement of $0.9 million 
of legal costs associated with an arbitration settlement.

(d) Fiscal 2020 includes $1.4 million of restructuring costs. 
(e) Fiscal 2020 results include $1.5 million of restructuring costs, $4.1 million of accelerated depreciation related to restructuring 

actions, a gain of $12.3 million arising from a business interruption insurance recovery and a gain on the sale of a business of 
$3.1 million.

(f) Fiscal 2021 includes a $0.4 million benefit from restructuring activities. Fiscal 2020 includes $1.1 million of restructuring 
costs.

(g) Fiscal 2020 results include $8.5 million in debt extinguishment costs and $3.3 million of interest income from an arbitration 
settlement in the Defense segment.

(h) Fiscal 2020 results include a $6.2 million gain from insurance proceeds in excess of property loss in the Commercial segment.
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   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200     22001199   

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  aammoorrttiizzaattiioonn::              
Access Equipment (a)  $ 37.9  $ 42.1  $ 58.2 
Defense (b)   27.8   20.1   17.8 
Fire & Emergency (b)   10.0   10.0   9.0 
Commercial (c)   13.1   17.1   12.4 
Corporate   15.2   14.9   17.8 

Consolidated  $ 104.0  $ 104.2  $ 115.2 

CCaappiittaall  eexxppeennddiittuurreess::              
Access Equipment (d)  $ 55.8  $ 56.5  $ 61.4 
Defense (b)   23.8   32.4   32.0 
Fire & Emergency (b)   8.1   6.7   12.2 
Commercial (d)   21.3   18.9   18.1 
Corporate (e)   5.8   15.7   50.5 

Consolidated  $ 114.8  $ 130.2  $ 174.2  

(a) Includes $3.6 million and $2.8 million of accelerated depreciation associated with restructuring actions in fiscal 2021 and 
fiscal 2020, respectively.

(b) Results for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business 
from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

(c) Includes $4.1 million of accelerated depreciation associated with restructuring actions in fiscal 2020.
(d) Capital expenditures include both the purchase of property, plant and equipment and equipment held for rental.
(e) Capital expenditures include capital spending for the construction of the Company’s new global headquarters in fiscal 2019.

   SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,   
    22002211     22002200   

IIddeennttiiffiiaabbllee  aasssseettss::         
Access Equipment:         

U.S.  $ 2,191.3  $ 2,151.4 
Europe, Africa and Middle East   470.9   383.4 
Rest of the world   371.4   359.0 

Total Access Equipment   3,033.6   2,893.8 
Defense: (a)         

U.S.   1,151.1   1,078.7 
Rest of the world   7.2   7.2 

Total Defense   1,158.3   1,085.9 
Fire & Emergency - U.S. (a)   536.3   563.6 
Commercial:         

U.S.   377.8   370.7 
Rest of the world   54.8   47.5 

Total Commercial   432.6   418.2 
Corporate - U.S. (b)   1,730.8   854.4 

Consolidated  $ 6,891.6  $ 5,815.9  

(a) Results for September 30, 2020 have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business from 
the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

(b) Primarily includes cash and short-term investments and the Company’s global headquarters.
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The following table presents net sales by geographic region based on product shipment destination (in millions):

   FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002211   

    
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss     TToottaall   
NNeett  ssaalleess::                         

North America  $ 2,358.9  $ 2,337.8  $ 1,147.4  $ 929.0  $ (24.6)  $ 6,748.5 
Europe, Africa and Middle East   273.4   183.2   46.7   1.5   —    504.8 
Rest of the World   439.8   4.6   32.5   7.1   —    484.0 

Consolidated  $ 3,072.1  $ 2,525.6  $ 1,226.6  $ 937.6  $ (24.6)  $ 7,737.3 

                         
    FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22002200   

    
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee  ((aa))     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy  ((aa))     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss  ((aa))     TToottaall   
NNeett  ssaalleess::                         

North America  $ 1,881.6  $ 2,200.4  $ 1,029.3  $ 947.0  $ (34.6)  $ 6,023.7 
Europe, Africa and Middle East   275.3   107.0   29.8   1.6   —    413.7 
Rest of the World   358.2   4.1   47.9   9.2   —    419.4 

Consolidated  $ 2,515.1  $ 2,311.5  $ 1,107.0  $ 957.8  $ (34.6)  $ 6,856.8 

                         
    FFiissccaall  YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  3300,,  22001199   

    
AAcccceessss

EEqquuiippmmeenntt     DDeeffeennssee  ((aa))     
FFiirree  &&

EEmmeerrggeennccyy  ((aa))     CCoommmmeerrcciiaall     EElliimmiinnaattiioonnss  ((aa))     TToottaall   
NNeett  ssaalleess::                         

North America  $ 3,147.9  $ 2,012.1  $ 1,086.9  $ 997.8  $ (28.1)  $ 7,216.6 
Europe, Africa and Middle East   548.6   84.0   27.7   3.9   —    664.2 
Rest of the World   383.2   1.4   96.1   20.5   —    501.2 

Consolidated  $ 4,079.7  $ 2,097.5  $ 1,210.7  $ 1,022.2  $ (28.1)  $ 8,382.0  

(a) Results for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 have been reclassified to reflect the move of the airport snow removal vehicle business 
from the Fire & Emergency segment to the Defense segment.

2255..        SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  EEvveenntt

On October 6, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from 
September 30 to December 31. Accordingly, the Company will have an abbreviated fiscal year that runs from October 1, 
2021 through December 31, 2021. The Company’s next full fiscal year will begin on January 1, 2022.
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IITTEEMM  99..        CCHHAANNGGEESS  IINN  AANNDD  DDIISSAAGGRREEEEMMEENNTTSS  WWIITTHH  AACCCCOOUUNNTTAANNTTSS  OONN  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  AANNDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  DDIISSCCLLOOSSUURREE

None.

IITTEEMM  99AA..        CCOONNTTRROOLLSS  AANNDD  PPRROOCCEEDDUURREESS

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, the 
Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of September 30, 2021. Based 
upon their evaluation of these disclosure controls and procedures, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective 
as of September 30, 2021 to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or 
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time period specified in the 
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the 
Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s 
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. The Company’s management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of 
the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of published financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, the Company’s management has 
concluded that, as of September 30, 2021, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective based on 
that framework.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, issued an attestation report on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2021, which is included 
herein.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. The attestation report required under this 
Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Report of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm.”

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting, with the exception of those changes related to the implementation of a new Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) system within the Fire & Emergency segment, which occurred during the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.
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IITTEEMM  99BB..        OOTTHHEERR  IINNFFOORRMMAATTIIOONN

The Company has no information to report pursuant to Item 9B.

IITTEEMM  99CC..        DDIISSCCLLOOSSUURREE  RREEGGAARRDDIINNGG  FFOORREEIIGGNN  JJUURRIISSDDIICCTTIIOONNSS  TTHHAATT  PPRREEVVEENNTT  IINNSSPPEECCTTIIOONNSS

Not applicable.
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PPAARRTT  IIIIII

IITTEEMM  1100..        DDIIRREECCTTOORRSS,,  EEXXEECCUUTTIIVVEE  OOFFFFIICCEERRSS  AANNDD  CCOORRPPOORRAATTEE  GGOOVVEERRNNAANNCCEE

The information to be included under the captions “Proposal 1: Elections of Directors,” “Governance of the Company 
— Audit Committee” and “Stock Ownership — Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,” if applicable, in the Company’s definitive 
proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting of shareholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is 
hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item. Reference is also made to the information under the heading 
“Information about our Executive Officers” included under Part I of this report.

The Company has adopted the Oshkosh Corporation Code of Ethics Applicable to Directors and Senior Executives, 
including, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, the Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer, the Company’s Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, the Company’s Senior Vice President 
Finance and Controller and the Presidents, Vice Presidents of Finance and Controllers of the Company’s business units, or 
persons holding positions with similar responsibilities at business units, and other officers elected by the Company’s Board 
of Directors at the vice president level or higher. The Company has posted a copy of the Oshkosh Corporation Code of 
Ethics Applicable to Directors and Senior Executives on the Company’s website at www.oshkoshcorp.com, and any such 
Code of Ethics is available in print to any shareholder who requests it from the Company’s Secretary. The Company intends 
to satisfy the disclosure requirements under Item 10 of Form 10-K regarding amendments to, or waivers from, the Oshkosh 
Corporation Code of Ethics Applicable to Directors and Senior Executives by posting such information on its website at 
www.oshkoshcorp.com.

The Company is not including the information contained on its website as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, 
this report.

IITTEEMM  1111..        EEXXEECCUUTTIIVVEE  CCOOMMPPEENNSSAATTIIOONN

The information to be included under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Tables,” 
“Compensation Agreements” and “Director Compensation” contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 
2022 annual meeting of shareholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by 
reference in answer to this item.
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IITTEEMM  1122..        SSEECCUURRIITTYY  OOWWNNEERRSSHHIIPP  OOFF  CCEERRTTAAIINN  BBEENNEEFFIICCIIAALL  OOWWNNEERRSS  AANNDD  MMAANNAAGGEEMMEENNTT  AANNDD  RREELLAATTEEDD  SSTTOOCCKKHHOOLLDDEERR  
MMAATTTTEERRSS

The information to be included under the caption “Stock Ownership — Stock Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers 
and Other Large Shareholders” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting of shareholders, 
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.

EEqquuiittyy  CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  PPllaann  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn

The following table provides information about the Company’s equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2021.

PPllaann  CCaatteeggoorryy   

NNuummbbeerr  ooff  
SSeeccuurriittiieess  ttoo  bbee  

IIssssuueedd  UUppoonn  
EExxeerrcciissee  ooff  

OOuuttssttaannddiinngg  
OOppttiioonnss  oorr  VVeessttiinngg  
ooff  SShhaarree  AAwwaarrddss((11))    

WWeeiigghhtteedd--AAvveerraaggee  
EExxeerrcciissee  PPrriiccee  ooff  

OOuuttssttaannddiinngg  
OOppttiioonnss     

NNuummbbeerr  ooff  
SSeeccuurriittiieess  
RReemmaaiinniinngg  

AAvvaaiillaabbllee  ffoorr  
FFuuttuurree  IIssssuuaannccee  

UUnnddeerr  EEqquuiittyy  
CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  

PPllaannss   
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   1,115,679  $ 77.96   3,310,992 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   —    —    —  
   1,115,679  $ 77.96   3,310,992  

(1) Represents options to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock granted under the 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards 
Plan, as amended and restated, and 2017 Incentive Stock and Award Plan, both of which were approved by the Company’s 
shareholders.

IITTEEMM  1133..        CCEERRTTAAIINN  RREELLAATTIIOONNSSHHIIPPSS  AANNDD  RREELLAATTEEDD  TTRRAANNSSAACCTTIIOONNSS  AANNDD  DDIIRREECCTTOORR  IINNDDEEPPEENNDDEENNCCEE

The information to be included under the caption “Governance of the Company — Board of Directors Independence,” 
“Governance of the Company — Audit Committee,” “Governance of the Company — Governance Committee,” 
“Governance of the Company — Human Resources Committee” and “Governance of the Company — Policies and 
Procedures Regarding Related Person Transactions” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2022 annual 
meeting of shareholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in 
answer to this item.

IITTEEMM  1144..        PPRRIINNCCIIPPAALL  AACCCCOOUUNNTTAANNTT  FFEEEESS  AANNDD  SSEERRVVIICCEESS

The information to be included under the caption “Proposal 2: Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Auditor 
for Fiscal 2022 — Audit and Non-Audit Fees” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting of 
shareholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to 
this item.
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PPAARRTT  IIVV

IITTEEMM  1155..        EEXXHHIIBBIITTSS  AANNDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTT  SSCCHHEEDDUULLEESS

(a) 1.     Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and the report of the Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm included in the Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, are 
contained in Item 8:

Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.    Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is included in the consolidated 
financial statements or notes thereto.

3.    Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Each management 
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this report is identified in the 
Exhibit Index by an asterisk following the Exhibit Number.

EXHIBIT INDEX

    3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Oshkosh Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2014 (File No. 1-31371)).

    3.2 By-Laws of Oshkosh Corporation, as amended effective October 6, 2021.

    4.1 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated April 3, 2018, among Oshkosh Corporation, various 
subsidiaries of Oshkosh Corporation party thereto as borrowers and various lenders and agents party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 9, 2018 (File No. 
1-31371)).

    4.2 Indenture, dated as of May 17, 2018, between Oshkosh Corporation and Computershare Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee (as successor to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association) (incorporated by reference to the 
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 21, 2018 (File No. 1-31371)).

    4.3 Supplemental Indenture, dated May 17, 2018, between Oshkosh Corporation and Computershare Trust Company, 
National Association, as trustee (as successor to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association) (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 21, 2018 (File No. 1-31371)).

    4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated February 26, 2020, between Oshkosh Corporation and Computershare 
Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (as successor to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association) 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 2020 
(File No. 1-31371)).
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    4.5 Description of Registrants Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 (File No. 1-31371)).

  10.1 Oshkosh Corporation Executive Retirement Plan, amended and restated effective December 31, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
September 30, 2008 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.2 Form of Key Executive Employment and Severance Agreement between Oshkosh Corporation and each of Bryan 
K. Brandt, Ignacio A. Cortina, Thomas P. Hawkins, James W. Johnson, Bradley M. Nelson, Frank R. Nerenhausen, 
Anupam Khare, John C. Pfeifer, Michael E. Pack, Emma M. McTague and Jason P. Babb (each of the persons 
identified has signed this form or a substantially similar) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.3 Summary of Cash Compensation for Non-Employee Directors.*

  10.4 Oshkosh Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Executive Officers (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 (File 
No. 1-31371)).*

  10.5 Oshkosh Corporation 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan as Amended and Restated, as amended January 18, 
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2012 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.6 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Stock Option Award Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 18, 
2009 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.7 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement 
for awards granted on or after September 19, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2011 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.8 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2009 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Non-Employee Director Stock Option Award 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.9 Oshkosh Corporation KEESA Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2013, between Oshkosh Corporation 
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.10 Oshkosh Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plans Rabbi Trust Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2013, 
between Oshkosh Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 (File No. 
1-31371)).*

  10.11 Oshkosh Corporation Defined Contribution Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective June 1, 
2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2014 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.12 Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan (incorporated by reference to Attachment B to 
Oshkosh Corporation’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A for the Oshkosh Corporation Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders held on February 7, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.13 Framework for Awards of Performance Share based on Total Shareholder Return under the Oshkosh Corporation 
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2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.14 Framework for Awards of Performance Shares based on Return on Invested Capital under the Oshkosh 
Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock Awards Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.15 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Stock Options Award Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.16 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.17 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreements 
(Retirement Vesting) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.18 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 
(International) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  10.19 Form of Oshkosh Corporation 2017 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 
(Stock Settled on Vesting - General) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 1-31371)).*

  21 Subsidiaries of Registrant.

  23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

  31.1 Certification by the President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 
dated November 16, 2021.

  31.2 Certification by the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, dated November 16, 2021.

  32.1 Written Statement of the President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, dated 
November 16, 2021.

  32.2 Written Statement of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, 
dated November 16, 2021.

101.INS The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL (Extensible Business 
Reporting Language) tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculations Linkbase Document.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
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101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentations Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

*    Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

IITTEEMM  1166..        FFOORRMM  1100--KK  SSUUMMMMAARRYY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

OSHKOSH CORPORATION

November 16, 2021 By /s/ John C. Pfeifer
John C. Pfeifer, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.

November 16, 2021 By /s/ John C. Pfeifer

  
John C. Pfeifer, President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Michael E. Pack

  
Michael E. Pack, Executive Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ James C. Freeders

  
James C. Freeders, Senior Vice President Finance and 
Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Keith J. Allman
  Keith J. Allman, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Douglas L. Davis
  Douglas L. Davis, Director

November 16, 2021 By /s/ Tyrone M. Jordan
  Tyrone M. Jordan, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Kimberley Metcalf-Kupres
  Kimberley Metcalf-Kupres, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Stephen D. Newlin
  Stephen D. Newlin, Chairman of Board
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Craig P. Omtvedt
  Craig P Omtvedt, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Duncan J. Palmer
  Duncan J. Palmer, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ Sandra E. Rowland
  Sandra E. Rowland, Director
   
November 16, 2021 By /s/ John S. Shiely

 
John S. Shiely, Director



Stephen D. Newlin (1)

Retired Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive Officer, 
Univar Solutions Inc.

Keith J. Allman (4)

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Masco Corporation

Douglas L. Davis (2, 4)

Retired Senior Vice President,  
Intel Corporation

Tyrone M. Jordan (2, 3)

Former President and Chief Operating Officer,
Dura Automotive Systems, Inc.

Kimberley Metcalf-Kupres (3, 4)

Retired Vice President and 
Chief Marketing Officer,
Johnson Controls, Inc.

Craig P. Omtvedt (3, 4)

Retired Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer, 
Fortune Brands, Inc.

Duncan J. Palmer (2)

Retired Global Chief Financial Officer,
Cushman and Wakefield

John C. Pfeifer
President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Oshkosh Corporation

Sandra E. Rowland (2, 4)

Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Xylem, Inc.

John S. Shiely (3)

Retired Chairman,
Briggs & Stratton Corporation

(1 )  Chairman of the Board of Directors and alternate 
member of the Audit, Governance and Human 
Resources Committees.

(2) Member of the Audit Committee, of which 
Mr. Palmer is the Chair.

(3) Member of the Governance Committee, of which 
Mr. Shiely is the Chair.

(4) Member of the Human Resources Committee, of which 
Mr. Allman is the Chair.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John C. Pfeifer 
President and Chief Executive Officer

John J. Bryant
Executive Vice President and President, 
Oshkosh Defense

Ignacio A. Cortina
Executive Vice President, 
General Counsel and Secretary 

James W. Johnson
Executive Vice President and President, 
Fire & Emergency

Bradley M. Nelson
Executive Vice President and President, 
Commercial

Frank R. Nerenhausen
Executive Vice President and President, 
Access Equipment

Michael E. Pack
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

Jason P. Baab
Senior Vice President,  
Corporate Development and Strategy

Bryan K. Brandt
Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer

J. Chris Freeders
Senior Vice President, Finance and Controller 

R. Scott Grennier
Senior Vice President, Treasurer

Thomas P. Hawkins
Senior Vice President, Government Relations

Anupam Khare
Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer

Emma M. McTague
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Human Resources  Officer  

OFFICERS

Stock Listing
Oshkosh Corporation Common Stock is listed  
on the New York Stock Exchange under the  
symbol: OSK

Form 10-K
Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K as filed  
with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
are available free of charge by visiting the 
Company’s website, or by contacting:

Investor Relations
Oshkosh Corporation
1917 Four Wheel Drive 
Oshkosh, WI 54902
920.502.3059 

Dividend Reinvestment &  
Stock Purchase Plan
To obtain information on the Company’s 
Dividend Reinvestment and Computershare 
Investment Plan, please contact 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.

Transfer Agent & Registrar
Computershare Investor Services, LLC

Mail:
P.O. Box 505000
Louisville, KY 40233

Shipment:
462 South 4th Street, Suite 1600
Louisville, KY 40202
www.computershare.com

866.222.4059
(within the U.S. and Canada)

+1.781.575.4223
(outside the U.S. and Canada)*

Shareholder website 
www.computershare.com/investor

Shareholder online inquiries 
https://www-us.computershare.com/ 
investor/Contact

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
555 E. Wells Street, Suite 1400 
Milwaukee, WI 53202

Corporate Headquarters
1917 Four Wheel Drive 
Oshkosh, WI 54902

Mailing Address & Telephone
Oshkosh Corporation 
1917 Four Wheel Drive 
Oshkosh, WI 54902 
920.502.3009

Internet Address
For Company facts, corporate governance 
information including the Company’s code of 
conduct, news releases, earnings conference call 
webcasts, webcast archives, presentations and 
product information, visit Oshkosh Corporation on 
the internet at:

www.oshkoshcorp.com

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Corporate Information
A

nn
ua

l R
e

po
rt

 D
e

si
gn

 b
y 

C
ur

ra
n 

&
 C

o
nn

o
rs

, I
nc

. /
 w

w
w

.c
ur

ra
n-

co
nn

o
rs

.c
o

m

4



Oshkosh Corporation

1917 Four Wheel Drive

Oshkosh, WI 54902

920.502.3009 

www.oshkoshcorp.com
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